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VoLuME 1. Parr I
PROCEEDINGS
OF THE

AMERICAN SOCIETY

FOR

PSYCHICAL RESEARCH

HISTORY OF THE AMERICAN INSTITUTE FOR
SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH.
By James Hervey Hyswop, PH. D, LL. D.

In inaugurating an Institute which its founders hope will
be one of the most important institutions of the age it is
desirable, if not imperative, to give some account of the
motives and incidents which originated it. They of course
obtained their initial impulse in the work of the Society for
Psychical Research and of the Salpétriére under.Charcot and
Janet. But these have had their history told elsewhere,
while the present undertaking which is to unite the aims of
both of these institutions is a new one for this country and
hopes to initiate and effect most important work for science
and humanity.

As the writer of this account has been one of the movers
in the undertaking it will be necessary to make the history
of the American Institute’s founding a somewhat personal
matter. Many of the incidents are so closely associated with
his personality that they will have to be stated in the first
person, and that connection with the matter will be his
apology for so speaking of it.

It was in 1900 that the writer made the first step in the
effort to secure an endowment for the work of Abnormal
Psychology and Psychic Research. Knowing at that time
the poverty of the American Branch of the Society for
Psyvchical Research and the importance of aiding this work
commensurately with its needs, I wrote and published an
article in the “ Arena” for December of that year. It was
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entitled * The Wants of Psychical Research.” In that paper
I explained briefly the two fields of research which a number
of us in this country wished to see properly undertaken and
endowed, namely that of alleged. supernormal phenomena
and the psychological study of morbid mental states with a
view to the institution and extension of suggestive and other
therapeutics. The main object of the article was to give
expression to the need of $1,000.000 for endowment of the
work as representing a labor equal to such a sum or a larger
one. I had hoped by the article to begin the task by crystal-
izing public sentiment, such as favored it, about some definite
plan to achieve the desired end. But the appeal met with
no such response as would enable us to proceed with any
undertaking in a practical manner. ‘There was apparently
no such sentiment among either the scientific men or the
general public as would exert any influence upon persons to
induce them to take up the matter seriously. ‘The work of
the Salpétriére and of the I.ondon Society was apparently
either not well enough known to affect the intelligent classes
in this country or they were too indifferent to its importance
to turn their attention to it. Other matters, social and scien-
tific, occupied their interests. ‘

In the meantime [ made three unsuccessful appeals to the
Carnegie Institution for financial assistance for the work. It
was hoped that an Institution, founded for the express pur-
pose of aiding independent investigations, would be able to
furnish at least $5.000 a year to this work. But it had no
appreciation of the importance of the work, and its action is
mentioned here as a matter of record and illustration of the
conservative prejudices which, tho associated with the clam-
orous cry of science, cannot see an opportunity to vindicate
the very aims they pretend to worship. The cause was
left to its own resources and hopes now to effect a triumph
which may be worthy of the struggle it has experienced.

The interval between 1900 and 1905 was not fertile of any
important results. The work done during this period was
purely personal. A part of it was devoted to the recovery of
the writer’s health which had broken down in 1gor. The
incident is mentioned because the result was his resignation
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from his university duties and his recovery gave him leisure
to pursue the work of organizing what now becomes a fait
accompli. 'The period was one of reflection and conceiving
p'ans until he could give his attention to its practical accom-
plishment. :

Early in 1904 I conceived the plan of actually chartering
an Institute as the best means of making clear to the public
just what was contemplated and of establishing confidence in
the movement. I had a conference with Dr. Richard Hodg-
son, Secretary of the American Branch of the Society for
Psychical Research and recently deceased. We agreed upon
the plan to be followed, which was that I should organize an
independent Society and when it had secured adequate funds
for its work some arrangement was to be made by which the
American Branch could be consolidated with the new organ-
ization and the two would become one. It was necessary
to take this course because I did not wish to embarrass Dr.
Hodgson in his work in case my plans met with failure. I
could make no public statement of my plans at the time, as
everything was contingent upon their success.

Consequently I drew up a charter after the model of the
Carnegie Institution and with several friends had the
American Institute for Scientific Research incorporated. It
was signed on June 29th, 1904, and immediately afterward
sent to Albany, N. Y., for the action of the State authorities.
The charter was granted a few weeks afterward. 'The names
of the incorporators were Mr. Charles N. Jones, of New
York; Mr. William S. Crandall, of New York; Mr. Miles
Menander Dawson, of New York; Mr. Charles L. Bogle, of
New York; and Mr. James H. Hyslop, of New York.
Nothing more could be done at that time and the work of
interesting the public in the plans of the Institute was post-
poned until the next fall.

In the meantime I spent the summer in correspondence
regarding the plan and made it known to various interested
parties. It was deemed necessary, however, to take some
more practical measures for reaching the public in regard to
the whole matter. The primary object was an endowment
or at least funds to initiate the work intended. My plan was
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gestion as a means of alleviating human suffering and the
Christian Faith.

The second meeting.was held on January sth, 19o4. It
was addressed by Dr. R. Heber Newton on the subject of
“The Dogmatism of Science and the Undiscovered Coun-
try,” and by Dr. James H. Hyslop, who merely explained the
nature and objects of the Institute. The following is a sum-
mary of Dr. Newton's address:

THE DOGMATISM OF SCIENCE AND THE UNDIS-
COVERED COUNTRY.

At the beginning of our generation there was a veritable
dark continent. Africa was an unexplored land—a terra
incognita. It has been opened up and proves in many
respects a land of marvels—full of fascination, and full also
of commercial value. Curiously enough it vindicates the
stories told of it by ancient travellers from as far back as the
age of Herodotus. \What were supposed to be travelers’
tales and the superstitions of the credulous turn out to be
bona fide facts.

The incoming generation stands before a still vaster,
darker continent. The realm of psychical science is fast
being opened by discoveries. The realm of psychical science
remains yet an undiscovered country. Casual explorations
have been made in times past and strange and fascinating
tales have been brought to us; but no scientific exploration
has been made before our own day. Of all the fields for dis-
covery open to the new century, none is more full of promise
than this.

People who have not studied carefully in the line of
psychics have no idea of the marvelousness of the finds which
are being made in this realm. How strange that the old dog-
matism of scientists which confronted every new discovery
of the past with a credulity as absurd and preposterous as its
opposite extreme of credulity should again stand before this
marvelous region of psychics refusing all credence to the
stories of the explorers, insisting that it is a desert land with
nothing to find there, pouring contempt and ridicule upon
every report of travelers.
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The President of a Western university said lately that there
was not a shadow of evidence for telepathy,—which only
proves that a university president may be a Philistine.

I know a woman of fine culture and high character who
will not trade her gift for commercial purposes, but who has
that most remarkable power known as psychometry—the
power of holding a sealed letter in her hand and giving a
diagnosis of the physical condition of the writer and a picture
of his character; of taking a bit of stone from an ancient villa
of Cicero, for example, the nature of which is entirely
unknown to her, and calling up a vision of the villa as it
existed in Cicero’s time, and of its owner. She is incapable
of fraud. Her case is but one of many others of which I
know.

Mesmerism was duly laughed out of court at the opening
of our century and lo, it is back again, in good standing under
the alias of Hypnotism.

So one may run on through a long list of strange, unac-
countable, mysterious and most unbelievable powers of man,
leading up to that nightmare of the dogmatic scientist,
spiritism.  The belief in the existence of unseen spirits and
of their power of communication with us in the flesh is one
of the oldest, most widespread and most insistent beliefs of
man. It has revived strangely in our day. Any one who
walks with his eyes open, ready to hear what men have to
tell. will find stories pouring in upon him from men whom he
cannot mistrust as liars and whom he knows to be sane and
sensible, which will stagger him. These experiences are not
all confined to the seance and the medium. Their most im-
pressive forms occur in the privacy of the home without a
professional medium present. For the first time in the
history of man these powers have been scientifically investi-
gated in our day. Already the result is that a considerable
number of eminent men of science have had the courage to
avow that, after allowing for illusion, fraud, and every pos-
sible hypothesis of interpretation, they have been driven up
to the ultimate solution of the problem—the belief in the
actual communication of the spirits of those whom we call
the dead, with the living.
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Now here is’a dark continent demanding exploration,
promising the richest finds. There is no such magnificent
promise of yields to discovery anywhere else as here.
Already we find a new therapeutic agent at work in our
midst—not new but newly realized and working a revolution-
izing influence in modern medicine. The possibilities of
mental medicine are only being opened as yet. Its appli-
cation to the most distressing form of human malady, insan-
ity, is full of beneficent promise. Its potency in character
reform, the cure of drunkenness, etc., seem vast and benign.
For the first time in the history of man, scientific psychology
is looming up as a possibility. Mr. Myers’ book, “ Human
Personality,” appears to have laid the foundation for such a
science.  Philosophic idealism is receiving a vindication
such as it never had before. = Religious faith is finding its
true foundations, in the recognition of man as a spiritual
being—a being who has had dominion over nature given to
him, as a child of a vaster Spiritual Being, Lord of all life.
The one belief absolutely essential to ethics—immortality—is
coming within the ken of scientific demonstration.

I make bold to say that there is no field for human inves-
tigation half so promising as this—none which should appeal
so well to educated, intelligent philanthropic men to support
and conduct.

The third meeting was addressed by Dr. Weston D. Bay-
ley, of Philadelphia, on the subject of “ Some Facts in Mes-
merism,” and by Dr. Minot J. Savage on “ The Importance
of Psychic Research.” Dr. Savage’s address was extempore
and no notes of it were preserved. The following is the
" paper read by Dr. Bayley:

SOME FACTS IN MESMERISM.

By Weston D. Bayley, M. D., Professor of Neurology Hahnemann Medical
College, Philadeiphia, Pa.; Semior Neurologist Hahnemann Hospital;
Consulting Physician St. Luke’s Hospital, Etc.

Doubtless many of you, before coming to the severe
dietary of scientific literature, were fed upon a lighter literary
food-stuff, which may have included the myths of the
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ancients. You will perhaps recall the sad fate of Palinurus
the Pilot,’ whom Neptune sent Somnus to destroy. Com-
pletely disguised, Somnus approached Palinurus on ship-
board and said “ The breeze is fair, the water smooth, the
ship sails steadily on her course. Lie down and take needed
rest; I will stand at the helm in your place.” This the pilot
flatly refused to do, and continued to grasp the helm, keeping
his eyes fixed on the stars. Somnus then waved over him a
branch moistened with Lethean dew. His victim’s eyes
closed in spite of all effort to keep them open, and he fell into
a deep slumber. Somnus then pushed Palinurus overboard.

This strange power, wielded long ago by Somnus, and
now with us a matter of daily use, has not lost much of its
mystery. It is true, we have accumulated and studied the
data of what is now called hypnotism, but as to the inner
significance of these phenomena, we seem in spite of a large
and growing literature, to be but blindly groping in the dark.
Theories which at first appear to shed some light upon our
pathway, prove upon close inspection to be mere glimmer-
ings of an ignus fatuus, which flicker out when approached,
and leave us in the gloom of ignorance, as before. In fact,
when we are inspecting the subject of hypnotism, we have as
it were, but raised up in our hands a single bunch of tangled
thread which is found to be continuous by numerous strands
with many other knotted collateral subjects. Yet from the
character of some of the current literature, the casual reader
might be led to believe the question to be already settled.
Not infrequently has the speaker heard it said “ \WWhy hyp-
notism is easy enough, all you have to do is to get the subject
to stare at a bright button, and he will go to sleep, and ‘ sug-
gestion’ on the part of the operator will do the rest.” For
these people this seems a sufficient explanation of the whole
subject, and with this, the question is usually dismissed as
settled. This is not true of those who have made a study of
the literature of Mesmerism and kindred phenomena; for to
these, it appears that the more one actually knows of these
subjects, the more difficult becomes the attempt to explain
them.

We will not discuss the conditions of the mesmeric or
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it, because it was surely a manifestation of the devil! Scien-
tists would have nothing to do with it because it was cer-
tainly all a fraud, and its practitioners, disreputable knaves!

So the infant born in times prehistoric, nurtured by the
learned oiru man of Egypt; the magi of Mesopotamia; the
prophets of the Hebrews, the oracles of the Greeks and Ro-
mans, the seers of India, and every tribe and race of prehis-
toric America, as well as by the inspired founders of every
great religious system, almost came to grief in the hands of
the modern wiseacres of both science and theology.

About the year 1770, Frederick Anthony Mesmer, a tal-
ented Viennese physician and philosopher, became deeply
interested in the study of astrology. He had already written
upon the “ Influence of the Planets upon the Human Body.”
This influence he deemed magnetic. His next endeavor was
to cure diseases by means of magnets passed over affected
portions of the body, or by means of slow passes with the
magnets, from the head to the feet. Surprising results fol-
lowed these procedures. Later he met a priest by the name
of Gassner who had made cures by means of his hands alone.
Upon learning this, Mesmer concluded that the healing
power resided in the individual and not in the magnets, so he
discarded these, and by what to him appeared to be a logical
step, he called his phenomena “Animal Magnetism.”

His work and theories provoked a furore of excitement,
and instigated a torrent of abuse from scientific sources in
both Vienna and Paris.

DePuysegur, a pupil of Mesmer, extended the observa-
tions of his teacher. The phenomena he induced appeared
to be less convulsive and more somnambulistic than Mes-
mer’s. His writings mention curious instances of the su-
perior intelligence manifested by the mesmerized subject
over his ordinary waking state; and some of his subjects
appeared able to obtain information of things other than
through the usual channels of sense—a faculty which in these
days we might call telepathic. He claimed that some of his
patients could, under influence. diagnose the nature of their
illness and indicate the proper treatment; and also that some
could foresee future events. His line of experimentation was






History of the American Institute for Scientific Research. 13

of the nervous system—in short that it was a neurosis. He
ignored “suggestion”’; using the method of Braid, varying
it however by means of sudden or “ massive ” impressions—
the flashing of strong light into the patient’s eyes, or the un-
expected striking of a loud gong near the patient’s ears, or
else the use of some peripheral excitation, as rubbing the
scalp, etc. We thus have the three schools of thought; the
older mesmeric one postulating a fluid emanation; the school
of Nancy, insisting on “suggestion” as the complete ex-
planation; and the school of Paris, maintaining that it is a
nervous affection or neurosis.

It must be noted that the two modern schools differ in
their results, just as they differ in their methods and explan-
ations; and neither appear to obtain the same kind of results
claimed by the older mesmerists.

From Charcot’s school Binet and Féré write “ it is strange
that at Nancy they have not been able to produce in the
sleeping subject contractions by stimulating the nerves and
muscles.” Likewise we might not impertinently add “it is
strange that at both Paris and Nancy they have not been able
to produce in the sleeping subject the phenomena of lucidity
and thought transference which were claimed so uniformly
by the older and some of the modern mesmerists.

Perhaps the Parisian school was in error when it assumed
that hypnosis is the expression of a morbid state, and that
results are obtainable only in neurotic individuals. It has
been conclusively shown that weak minded and hysterical
subjects are less amenable to hypnosis than those in good
mental health. Again, while ignoring “ suggestion” they
unconsciously made use of it in most of their manipulations.
The very surroundings and previous knowledge on the part
of the patients, as to what was about to happen, induced a
state of receptivity to even slight impressions, and this is
certainly suggestion. Furthermore the assumption of this
school that the whole phenomena of hypnotism are explain-
able on a physical basis and are simply due to “ hyperexcita-
bility of nerves and muscles,” seems unwarrantable; we have
any amount of “ hyperexcitability of nerves and muscles ” in
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dividual differences of opinion as to detail among the observ-
ers, so that for the brevity demanded in this presentation, we
must simply state the generalizations. This theory predi-
cated the existence of a ““ subtle fluid or ether ” in its nature
unknown, but which flows from the operator to the subject,
directly or indirectly through certain media as ‘ magnet-
ized ” water, etc. .

Let us briefly examine this theory of a subtle fluid, which
may be modified by the nervous system so that it can be
passed with effect to a subject, in obedience to the will of an
operator. Just what this transmission is, its advocates do
not pretend to know, but that does not invalidate the claim,
for we do not as yet know what electricity is. We know
electricity only by its manifestations. Many subjects have
claimed that as the passes are made they feel a soothing im-
pingement which is very agreeable, and in the end, brings
about their mesmeric sleep. Others declared that they saw
the emanations from the fingers of the operator. Now this
may be, but it is by no means evidential.

Baron Reichenbach’'s experiments with alleged luminous
emanations from magnets, crystals and sometimes the hands,
were severely attacked by scientific men of the day, notably
by Carpenter and Tyndall. These were denounced as being
subjective or purely imaginary, and it was asserted that the
observers saw the lights by ‘‘suggestion.” These experi-
ments, discredited but never disproven, are now curiously
revived in the mysterious x-rays. If these be accepted as
authentic, they would be regarded as data favoring this
hypothesis of a magnetic fluid.

The theory of emanation harmonizes with the apparently
established cases of unpremeditated mesmerism at a distance,
for here the “ neurosis ” theory and the ““ suggestion " theory
are both inadequate. Again the theory of a fluid—a some-
thing emanating from the operator—is in keeping with ob-
servations on the mesmerization of lower animals. Now
certainly a horse, for instance, is not hypnotized by * sugges-
tion ”’ nor yet by “ fatigue of eye muscles.” Furthermore it
may be argued that the “fluidic” or “ether” theory will
account for instances of thought transference by furnishing
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a medium through which the ideas either active or latent «
one individual may be echoed in the brain of another.

There is a curious psychical occurrence narrated in tt
New Testament, which seems to illustrate the theory unde
consideration; and, on the other hand, the modern view ¢
these emanations tends to confirm the validity of this narr:
tive from what we are so accustomed to call a pre-histor
and superstitious age.

“ And a woman which had an issue of blood twelve year
and had suffered many things of many physicians, and ha
spent all that she had, and was nothing bettered, but rathe
grew worse, having heard the things concerning Jesus, cam
in the crowd behind and touched His garment. For she sai
if I touch his garments I shall be made whole. And straigh
way the fountain of her blood was dried up, and she felt i
her body that she was healed of her plague. And straigh
way Jesus, perceiving in himself that the power proceedin
from him had gone forth, turned him about in the crowd an
said “ \Who touched my garments?” And his disciples sai
unto him, Thou seest the multitude thronging thee and saj
est thou, \Who touched me? And he looked round about t
see her that had done this thing. But the woman fearin
and trembling, knowing what had been done to her, cam
and fell down before him, and told him all the truth. An
he said unto her, Daughter, thy faith hath made thee whole
go in.peace, and be whole of thy plague.”

The objections to this “ fluid hvpothesis ”’ may be briefl
summarized:

(1)  Any transmission through ether must be on direc
lines.

(2) It is not conceivable that a_“fluid” could manifes
intelligence at a distance: a mere projected fluid. howeve
sensitive cannot bear cognitions and bring them back. be
cause it is necessarily undifferentiated.

(3) Transmission manifests a power of intelligent se
lection. which is unlikely to be the case with a ** fluid.”

(4) A fluid emanation to account for the facts woul
have to be able to induce memory.

(3) Fluid projected from an individual at a given poin
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on the earth, must require a previous projection in all direc-
tions in order to determine where the recipient is located

(6) Projection frequently records phenomena and facts
which do not exist at the time but which existed at some pre-
ceding time.

(7) It would appear also that in some cases records of
future occurrences are projected, the ground of which form
no possible subject of cognition at the time.

(8) This apparent projection, if we accept that which in
other matters would be considered evidence, in some in-
stances at least seems to come from organisms which have
ceased to exist in a physical form, and which have therefore
presumably lost the power of physical projection.

It will thus be seen that however familiar we may be with
the ordinary physical and mental phenomena of hypnotism,
we are far from having a satisfactory explanation for any of
them, for such explanation to be valid must also take into
account the collateral and associated data accumulated by
the Society for Psychical Research.

The contemplation of these perplexities has had a strong
fascination for me, and I have wished that I could be one of
those who would finally, knot by knot, unravel the tangled
threads; but I know full well that this will never be done by
anyone subjected to the taxing demands of active practice of
medicine. The problems are of a character to require the
sheltered calm of a laboratory, where patient and continuous
investigation may be carried on, undisturbed by the exigen-
cies of a busy professional life.

There are institutions of this kind for almost every other
field and branch of science; but for this, which is certainly
of vast importance and may indeed be of transcendant mo-
ment to the whole human race, to wit, to the enlarging of the
boundaries of the human intellect, and of tracing our facul-
ties to whatever point they may extend, there is alas! none.

May I not hope that among the members of this intelli-
gent audience, there may be some who will join hands in en-
deavoring to remove, what future generations will certainly
look upon as the créwning stigma of the present age?
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By this time the interest in the meetings had so increased
that it was not possible to accommodate those who wished to
be present in the apartments of Mr. and Mrs. Bourne. The
consequence was that arrangements were made to hold two
meetings in the public rooms of the \Waldorf-Astoria Hotel.
Accommodations were provided for four hundred guests who
were present by invitation. The first of the two meetings,
the fourth in the entire series. was held on March gth, 1905,
and was addressed by Dr. James H. Hyslop and Dr. Minot
J. Savage, the latter closing the evening by some extempore
remarks. A\ summary of the address by Dr. Hyslop is given
below.

Dr. Hyslop began with an explanation of the plan of
campaign which was to create an intelligent interest in the
scientific aspect and needs of research in the fields named and
to show the possibility of a large philanthropic work in one of
them. The constitution of the Institute was explained to
be that of a Board of Trustees who should act as custodians
of endowment funds and as directors of the work done with
them. This Board will serve without any remuneration, and-
will subsidize or aid any qualified man or body of men in the
work of investigation proper to the Institute.

/ The field of abnormal psychology was explained to be the
study and cure of certain forms of insanity, hallucination and
functional mental troubles which are studied on the physio-
logical side by Psychiatry and which need study-on the men-
tal side in regard to both the influence of the mind on the
body and the influence of one mental state on another with
the hope of discovering ways and means for applying sug-
gestive therapeutics more effectively and usefully than has
been the case in this country. The practical work of the
Institute would involve the establishment of a clinic like that
of the Salpétriére, or of Berillon in Paris, and of Bernheim
at Nancy, where all sorts of functional cases could be studied
as well as treated. Hypnotic phenomena should also be the
subject of psychological investigation as well as of practical
use.

A number of cases were mentioned as examples of what
might be effected in this field. They comprised cases of
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neurasthenia, insanity, alternating personality and amnesia,
hallucination, and dipsomania, which had been cured by sug-
gestion and the use of methods involving psychological anal-
vsis. Baron Von Schrenk-Notzing, for instance, had quoted
228 cases of neurasthenia of which thirty-two per cent. had
been cured and thirty-seven per cent. improved by this
method. Bramwell reports nearly the same result in seventy-
six cases of dipsomania. Dr. Hyslop added that such facts
were not new and were not designed to suggest that any
revolutionary scientific effort was to be inaugurated, but
that they showed the necessity of better organization and in-
vestigation in the field, a work that could be undertaken only
by means of a large endowment. .
Dr. Hyslop introduced the subject of psychic research by

a reference to the influence of the Report of the Seybert
Commission and the Proceedings of the Society for Psychic
Research. The former had diminished interest in the study
of certain alleged phenomena, but had not seriously studied
any really important facts. It had, however, a wholesome
effect upon fraud. But the more thorough and scientific work
of the Society for Psychic Research has affected interest in
the subject of the supernormal to such an extent that it has a
tendency to revive the practice of fraud on a large scale and
has in fact actually produced this effect. T'here is no escape
from the most thorough scientific investigation for the sake
- of distinguishing between the genuine and false claims to
supernormal phenomena and the education of the public
against illusion, to say nothing of the possibility that genuine
facts of the highest importance to science and morality are
most probably determinable. The first distinction which the
scientific man must draw in the investigation and discussion
of alleged supernormal phenomena is that between the
physical and the psychical phenomena alleged to have a
supernormal character. The physical phenomena have no
relevancy to the theory which usually tries to explain them in
favor of “ spirits.” In addition to their relation to the exist-
ing body of physical knowledge which cannot be easily con-
tradicted, they are so amenable to explanation by fraud or
illusion that it only increases unnecessary mystery to give
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time which, with this larger amount, placed the Institute in a
position which assured its commencing work.

The death of Dr. Richard Hodgson almost wrecked its
plans. An understanding had been reached between him and
myself in regard to the organization of the work in this
country. In fact we had for several years desired that some
means should be obtained for the more systematic prosecu-
tion of the investigations in this country and the publication
of the results accumulated in his office. We were expecting
immediately on the assurance of success in founding the In-
stitute to start publications, and indeed Dr. Hodgson had
already promised certain specific articles for publication.
His sudden death interrupted all these plans, and nothing
more could be done until it was decided what should become
of the American Branch of the English Society. It re-
quired some months to determine this matfer. At last the
dissolution of the American Branch left the field clear for in-
dependent organization without rivalry and this has been
effected with the good will of the older body. It is hoped
that some arrangement may be made later by which their
work can be adjusted so as to be of mutual service to each
other and the common cause. Any expectation, however, of
that issue will depend on circumstances which cannot now
be forecast. The expression of the hope is a surety of the
spirit with which the work is undertaken.

When it comes to the honors for founding the Institute
they must be shared by all who have contributed so liberally
to its preliminary fund. Most of them have stipulated for
privacy in the matter and cannot be mentioned publicly. The
Board of the American Institute for Scientific Research, how-
ever, takes this opportunity to express its proper thanks and
appreciation for the generosity which has enabled us to put
on its feet a long needed investigation and the hope is that
the future will supply its larger wants as generously as its
founders have done for the initial organization of the work.
The plea for an adequate endowment must be urged until the
necessary amount has been obtained and when it does come
we may be permitted to make public acknowledgment of the
timely aid which has been given by its founders.
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The service, however, for which we have to make ac-
knowledgments was not all financial. The good will and
defensive attitude of the many persons, known and unknown
to any of us, deserves and in this statement receives due
recognition, with regrets that it cannot be more personal.
The Institute owes a deep debt of gratitude to all whose sym-
pathy with its aims helped to educate the public and to dis-
seminate an intelligent view of the subjects which it desires
to investigate. \Whatever triumphs may be marked out for
it may be shared by all of them as a vindication of their judg-
ment and foresight. :

There is a special obligation, -however, which I think I
am entitled to make public without even asking the consent
of the parties concerned. The service which the interest,
sympathy and practical aid of Mr. and Mrs. Charles Griswold
Bourne have rendered the cause of the Institute cannot be
overestimated. It was the critical point in the work of the
Institute at which they opened their apartments to the task
of correcting the general misunderstanding as to the nature
of the investigations proposed and of imparting an intelligent
conception of them to the public. This is the more especially
to be appreciated when realizing-the sacrifices made to initi-
ate the Institute's plans. It requires much more than finan-
cial services to establish a work of this kind, and those who
have had to withstand the calumny and ridicule which psychic
research has brought on many of its devotees will understand
what I mean when I minimize the financial services of its
friends to exalt, for the moment at least, the sacrifices of
good will and respect which are often entailed in a disagree-
ment with the public. Mr. and Mrs. Bourne made these,
and it will ‘be only a slight compensation to them for that
service to name them as honorary founders of the American
Institute for Scientific Research.
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PROSPECTUS OF THE AMERICAN INSTITUTE FOR
SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH.

PREFACE.

The present pamphlet is issued as an appeal for an endow-
ment in behalf of the American Institute for Scientific Re-
search. It contains an explanation of the general fields
which it is the object of the Institute to investigate, a copy
of the Institute’s Charter, granted by the State of New York
and intended to operate as a national corporation, and the
letters of indorsement which have been given the Institute
by various men of high standing. The most notable of these
letters is that of Dr. Pierre Janet, Professor of Psychology in
the College of France, Paris. It is a long and elaborate
defence of the object of the Institute and is here published in
the original. The translation is published in the February
number of the Journal.

There are also letters of indorsement from Professor Wil-
liam James, of Harvard University; Dr. James J. Putnam, of
Harvard University: Dr. Cyrus Edson, of New York; Pro-
fessor Max Dessoir, of the University of Berlin: Professor
W. Romaine Newbold, of the University of Pennsylvania;
Professor H. Norman Gardiner, of Smith College, North-
ampton, Mass.; Professor James Mark Baldwin, of Johns
Hopkins University: Professor W. R. Benedict, of the Uni-
versity of Cincinnati; Professor E. C. Sanford, of Clarke Uni-
versity; Professor E. H. Lindley, Indiana State University;
Camille Flammarion, and many others of similar standing in
this country.

To these I also append the statements of Mr. Gladstone,
Sir Oliver Lodge, Sir William Crookes, Right Honorable
Arthur Balfour, Mr. Huxley, Professor Stout, St. Andrews
University, Professor Muirhead, Mr. .Andrew Lang and Mr.
Goldwin Smith.

The names which appear as signers of the Charter do not
represent the permanent Board of Trustees, but only those
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of the incorporators. The permanent board is in process of
selection, but will not be completed until an endowment is
secured. This is in deference to the possible interest of
those who may furnish the endowment. It is intended that
this permanent board shall consist of men who have a
national repute. When the time comes to complete the
board the incorporators will resign in its favor.

It is intended that this prospectus shall supply the desired
information to those who may be disposed to endow the
Institute which will require a large fund to carry out its
plans. Means for its preliminary organization will not be so
large an amount. Any further information desired can be
had by communication with Dr. James H. Hyslop, 519 West
149th St., New York.
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GENERAL PLAN.

519 West 149th St., New York.
My Dear Sir:

I wish here to present for consideration a plan of investi-
gation that is much in need of an endowment, and a part of
which leads into philanthropic work. It may be said to cover
the whole field of abnormal psychology which comprehends
everything between functional insanity and the allegations in
favor of the supernormal. The nature of the work is such
that colleges and universities cannot easily undertake it, since
they are mainly teaching and not investigating bodies, while
the general subject has a technical interest only for the
physician and the psychologist. It should therefore be
organized for investigation in a manner both to meet the
demands of scientific method and to apply results without
invoking any of the spirit or objects of propagandism. Some-
thing has already been done in the work but not in any form
thoroughly systematic and co-operative, except as the So-
ciety for Psychical Research has organized one branch of it.

The work to which I refer divides itself into two related
but distinct fields of inquiry. They are what has been called
Psychopathology, on the one hand, and what has been called
Psychical Research, on the other. They require to be
studied together and treated separately under the same
general supervision, partly for tactical and partly for scien-
tific reasons. The two fields consist of the study psycho-
logically and the cure of certain types of insanity, at least so
diagnosed, and the investigation of certain psychological
phenomena at least simulating and probably often realizing
the supernormal acquisition of knowledge. It is not im-
portant to give any technical name to this research, and it
might even be difficult to decide upon a name for it between
the quackery that flourishes under terms trying to escape the
associations of conservative science and the normal psychol-
ogy which should not be confused with the abnormal field.
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The important object is the investigation and we may leave
to diplomatic consideration the choice of a name for the
work. I shall define the two fields a little more fully and
refer to some historical incidents that will exhibit what has
already been accomplished and what still needs to be done.
The first type of phenomena, known as psychopatho-
logical, consists of such cases as the loss of the sense of per-
sonal identity, secondary personality, persistent hallucination
purely functional, amnesia or loss of memory, which might
be mistaken for a deeper insanity, psychic epilepsy, certain
cases of apparent melancholia and paranoia, and all func-
tional mental difficulties which may require treatment sup-
plementary to that of the ordinary medical methods. I mean
also to include the scientific study and therapeutic application
of hypnosis, especially in its psychological aspects which have™
not been an object of scientific investigation, psychologically,
hitherto in this country, but only a method of therapeutic
utility in less systematic and scientific ways than are neces-
sary. This field of study has been prosecuted most carefully
in France and to some extent in Germany. The Salpétriére
under Charcot and Pierre Janet is an example of what we
should have in this country both as a scientific investigation
and a method of philanthropy. Brought into notice a century
ago, repudiated at first by science, and then accepted under
compulsion, hypnotism and the study of abnormal mental
phenomena have reached a stage of importance that requires
as much attention to them as to the problems of physiology.
To indicate the economies with which such work can be
prosecuted I may say that no part of the funds will be imme-
diately needed for putting up buildings. It is a work that
can be partly carried on by the rental of a suitable building
until results can attract funds for a suitable edifice, and
partly by the use of hospitals and asylums already in exist-
ence. It is probable that some time in the future a large
building will be required. but this is not a part of the plan at
present contemplated. \What is mainly required is the men
to do the work and the means to give the results scientific
form and influence, and this cannot be done by the adminis-
trative type of man or mere medical practitioner. We must
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have the scientific investigator besides the practitioner at the
work.

The work which I wish to articulate with this investiga-
tion and treatment of insanity in certain forms, though not
organically related to it, but only in its psychological aspects,
is the work of psychical research, as the usual name for it.
This field comprehends such alleged phenomena as telepathy,
clairvoyance, phantasms of the living and the dead or appari-
tions of dying persons, mediumistic phenomena that have a
fair claim to serious attention, whether they are more than
secondary personality, imitative of so-called spiritistic phe- .
nomena or not, and all claims to the supernormal acquisition
of knowledge. The fraudulent side of the subject requires
no further attention on the part of scientific men except to
educate still more a gullible public and to protect legitimate
inquiry. The ordinary frauds have been fairly well exposed
and the phenomena actually deserving consideration clearly
marked off from those that are illegitimate. The facilities
ior studying the genuine phenomena claiming to represent
supernormal powers for the human mind, and possibly the
survival of bodily death, have been too few to give the work
its necessary scientific form. It was organized rather im-
perfectly some twenty vears ago but at no time has it pos-
sessed the funds to deal with its investigations and results as
scientifically as the subject demands. Only a few men with
their own personal means to sacrifice have been able to do
such respectable work as has actually been done. The mem-
bership of the organization has not sufficed, by its fees, to
more than pay office expenses, while the data demanding
record and investigation have multiplied beyond all possi-
bility of scientifically handling it with the means and men at
command. It is now absolutely necessary to have the work
put upon a secure basis. and this for more reasons than one.
The results already achieved have had an effect upon the
public that makes it imperative to be in a position to direct
its intellectual tendencies wisely and to protect it from the
illusions that so quickly and easily attach themselves to this
subject. Whether an investigation of this kind succeeds in °
supporting what the natural interests of men incline them to
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with which the work deals and the portion of good wheat
amid the chaff, are such that the investigations are especially
expensive, until scientific men are convinced that the phe-
nomena are genuine, and hence it will be necessary to have
a considerable fund for the prosecution of the work.

There are two reasons for thus articulating the two fields
of investigation. Firstly, the study of pathological mental
phenomena is important in the prosecution of psychical re-
search, because it helps to resolve the perplexities of phe-
romena which are neither supernormal nor fraudulent and
whose superficial character scandalizes the man of average
intelligence.

Secondly, it enables us, if further developments show an
attainable limit to psychical research, which may not be
reached for centuries, to appropriate the funds without legal
difficulties to philanthropic work in psychopathology which
will always be needed.

CHARTER OF THE AMERICAN INSTITUTE FOR
SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH.

Certificate of Incorporation.

County of New York, ss.
State of New York.

We. the undersigned, all being persons of full age, citi-
zens of the United States and four of us being residents of
the State of New York, and all of us being desirous to estab-
lish and maintain an Institute for promoting original re-
search in the fields of psychology, normal and abnormal, and
for promoting philanthropic treatment of mental diseases
and desiring to form a membership corporation pursuant to
the provisions of membership corporation law of the State of
New York, with a view to accomplish the desires aforesaid,
«do hereby make, sign, acknowledge and file this certificate in
duplicate for that purpose as follows:

First :—The name of the proposed corporation is to be:
“American Institute for Scientific Research.”

Second :—The object and purpose for which said corpora-
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tion is to be formed are the promotion of study and research
with power

(a) To acquire, hold and convey real estate or other
property and to erect a building or buildings necessary for
the purpose of the Institute as herein stated, and to establish
general and special funds. '

(b) To conduct, endow and assist investigation into the
phenomena of hypnosis, with practical therapeutics in this
field; special attention to be given to their psychological
aspects.

(¢) To conduct, endow and assist investigation into the
phenomena of hallucinations and illusions, functional and
other forms of insanity, secondary personality and all psy-
chopathic phenomena requiring special study and investiga-
tion. : '

(d) To conduct, endow and assist investigation of all
alleged telepathy, apparitions of the dead, mediumistic phe-
nomena, alleged clairvoyance, and all facts claiming to rep-
resent supernatural acquisition of knowledge or the super-
normal production of physical effects.

(e) To publish and to aid in the publication of documents
and reports representing the work of the Institute or of such
persons as are approved by said Institute, whose work can-
not obtain the acceptance of ordinary publishers.

(f) To appoint committees to direct special lines of re-
search within the fields.prescribed by the above subdivisions.

(g) In general to do and perform all things necessary to
promote the object of said Institute provided they be not
repugnant to the laws of the State of New York nor the laws
of the United States. .

Third:—The location of the principal office of the pro-
posed corporation shall be the City of New York.

Fourth:—The duration of the proposed corporation shall
be perpetual.

Fifth:—The territory in which its operations are to be
principally conducted is the City of New York and the vicin-
ity thereof.

Sixth:—The number of trustees of the proposed corpora-
tion shall not be less than five nor more than fifteen.
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Seventh:—The names and places of residence of the per-
sons to be trustees of the proposed corporation until its first
annual meeting are:

Charles N. Jones, 452 West 152nd St., New York City.
William S. Crandall, 221 St. John Place, Brooklyn, N. Y.
Miles Menander Dawson, 11 Broadway, New York City.
James Hervey Hyslop, 519 West 149th St.. New York
City. .
Charles L. Bogle, 146 West 104th St.,, New York City.

Eighth:—The time for holding the annual meeting of the
proposed corporation shall be the first Tuesday in December
of each year.

Ninth:—The Board of Trustees of said Institute shall ap-
point a person to act as Director of said Institute and who
shall exercise or perform the functions of an administrative
and executive officer and shall be an ex-officio member of the
Board of Trustees, with the right of being present at its de-
liberations, but without the right of voting at the same.

In witness whereof we have made, signed and acknowl-
edged this certificate in duplicate this twenty-ninth day of
June, nineteen hundred and four.

CHARLES N. JONES (L.S.).
WILLIAM S. CRANDALL (L.S.),
MILES MENANDER DAWSON (L.S.),
JAMES H. HYSLOP (L.S.),
CHARLES L. BOGLE (L.S.).*
County of New York, ss.
State of New York.

On the 29th of June, 1904, before me personally came:

CHARLES N. JONES, JAMES H. HYSLOP,
WILLIAM S. CRANDALL, CHARLES L. BOGLE.
MILES MENANDER DAWSON,

to me personally known to be individuals described in and
who executed the foregoing certificate and severally duly
acknowledged to me that they executed the same.

ANTHONY J. MANFRED,
Notary Public,
New York City.

*The names §lppearing as signers of the Charter do not represent the per-
manent Board of Trustees. They are only the incorporators of the Institute.
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in a proportionately large amount, the material that ought to
be investigated. We in Germany have decidedly fewer cases
of so-called telepathy and mediumistic phenomena, and on
the other the admirable readiness of the wealthy to supply
financial assistance, upon which your undertaking is indeed
dependent. There is thus good reason for hope that your
endeavor will be successful.

As far as the investigation of pathological conditions of
mind is concerned, that, of course, will need to be conducted
regardful of the patient and employed in the interest of the
afflicted. Scientific curiosity is here restricted within certain
limits.

Likewise the inquiry into abnormal manifestations which
is the object of psychical research can be made profitable to
knowledge. If it is possible to open to the understanding
what seem to be miracles by the proof of their natural condi-
tions—which may, moreover, also contain new causes and
relations—then superstitions will be more effectively con-
tested than by means of the insolent indifference with which
these things are so often dismissed. As laudable as your
intention is to avoid the publicity of the press, it will yet be
desirable, on this account, upon occasion to popularize the
results of the investigation.

I wish with all my heart that your appeal may have a

noble and general success. Sincerely yours,
. MAX DESSOIR, Ph.D, M.D,
University of Berlin.

* 95 Irving Street,
Cambridge, October 25, 1903.
Dear Professor Hyslop: _

My opinion regarding the scheme of raising a fund for the
endlowment of research into mediumship, alternate person-
ality, sub-conscious states in general, and the borderland
between abnormal (or supernormal) and normal psychology
is that it is wise. The S. P. R. doesn’t cover quite the whole
ground, though it might also be helped by the fund.

In my opinion the most fruitful work will lie in the direc-
tion of thorough description of the phenomena presented by
certain rare individuals. Some of Janet’s patients, Prince's
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patient, Flournoy's medium, and Mrs. Piper, are examples of
the sort of study I mean. Needless to,say, this has hardly
ever been done, for both the investigator and the person in-
vestigated have to devote an endless amount of time, and
time means money, which has seldom been forthcoming.

I feel strongly the need of an extensive sifting over of the
mediums now available, and the selection of a very few for
thoroughgoing study. Our “cases” are so far almost
scandalously few. But to keep the investigator going, and to
isolate the medium into satisfactory conditions, inevitably
involves expense. I imagine that few scientific inquiries
would give more valuable returns, if well carried out.

Sincerely yours,
WILLIAM JAMES.

James J. Putnam, M. D,,
106 Marlborough St.,
Professor James Hyslop, Back Bay, Boston.
519 West 149th St., New York.
My Dear Professor Hyslop:

In my opinion the two fields of research mentioned in
your letter are of the very highest practical and theoretical
importance. The reason that they are not usually regarded
so. is, in my opinion, because hitherto so few persons have
devoted themselves to investigations of such sorts. More-
over, the investigators of the future will, for the most part, be
men who do not have to support themselves by private prac-
tice, since the investigations themselves are so engrossing
and time-taking as to leave little leisure for income getting.
For this reason it is important that suitable endowments
should be made in order that good facilities may be offered
to men of genius in these directions. Many of the disorders
of the nervous system are not susceptible of very satisfactory
treatment, but these psychopathic affections can often be
cured if the physician has the requisite skill and knowledge.
On that account also the plan of which you.speak should com-
mend itself to practical persons.

Yours very truly,
JAMES J. PUTNAM.
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Dr. Cyrus Edson,
56 West soth Street,
New York.
Dear Mr. Hyslop:

[ would have written you in answer to your inquiry before
but lost your address. Your letter of yesterday Dbrings it
to me.

I believe the work you are endeavoring to inaugurate will,
if you succeed in your plans, be productive of the greatest
results and I approve fully of the scheme as outlined by you.

It goes without saying that the field is the most important
one open to man and that it has been too long left to char-
latans and fakirs who have left it in a condition most unat-
tractive to scientific men.

Any honest scientist who is willing to undertake its in-
vestigation should have the co-operation of all and I feel sure
that the result of his work will prove of inestimable value to
the human race.

Sincerely yours,
CYRUS EDSON.
To Mr. J. H. Hyslop,
October 30, 1903.

New York, December 10, 1904.
Professor James H. Hyslop,
519 West 149th St., City.
My Dear Professor:

I return herewith the general plan and the other papers
you were good enough to leave with me for perusal. \While,
as you know, my main work lies in combating tuberculosis, a
disease which, as to frequency, morbidity and mortality is
scarcely less important than the various mental and nervous
afflictions, I am nevertheless deeply interested in psychopath-
ology and all other psychic phenomena. The work you are
about to undertake is unquestionably most timely and im-
portant, and deserves the encouragement of all true scientists
and philanthropists. I am willing to confess that I fear we
physicians as a whole have heretofore underestimated the
importance of the study of psychopathology and psychic phe-
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unable myself to do further work, having been forced by cir-
cumstances into other lines. But I am absolutely convinced °
from the results which attended my rather desultory personal -
investigations that there lies here, awaiting competent ob-
servers a field as rich as is presented in any other department -
of science. It presents, however, difficulties greater than :
those of any other field. The student is required to enter -
debatable ground between two bitterly hostile camps, those
of popular credulity on the one side and of “scientific” in-
credulity on the other. He is exposed to most malicious
attacks from both sides. Not only is he unable to earn a
livelihood in connection with his work,—that may be said of
many other branches of science,—but also he is often even
prevented by the odium attaching to the work itself from
earning a livelihood by other means. Under these circum-
stances it is practically impossible to continue the work
unless it be endowed.. I would be only too glad to see such
an endowment provided.

Very sincerely yours,
W. ROMAINE NEWBOLD.

Department of Philosophy,
Smith College,
Northampton, Massachusetts.
October 9, 1903.
My Dear Hyslop:

I am much interested in your efforts to secure an endow-
ment for “ psychical research ” and other kindred investiga-
tions, I hope they will be successful. There is no doubt in
my mind of the importance of the enquiries referred to or of
the value which an endowment such as you speak of, if prop-
erly administered, might have as well for the increase of
knowledge as for the benefit of society at large. I have lately
been reading Pierre Janet’s recently published study of obses-
sions (Les Obsessions et la Psychasthenie). It is, as you
know, one of a series of elaborate studies which the eminent
French psychologist has published, all of them dealing with
the pathology of the mental life. This last book of his shows,
if possible, even more conspicuously than the others Janet’s
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The case seems to be this: In all ages and among all peoples
there has been a belief that informations are received and
effects communicated through other than the ordinarily rec-
ognized channels, and the question for “ psychical research,”
broadly stated, is, what basis is there for this belief? To say
that it has no basis is to prejudge the results of an enquiry
which has never yet been undertaken except in a tentative
and incomplete manner, and which so far as it has been car-
ried on seems to offer evidence contrary to so sweeping a
conclusion ; to say that an investigation into it cannot be con-
ducted in a scientific spirit, is to arbitrarily exclude from intel-
ligent investigation a large and most interesting department
of human experience. For, if it should be shown that this
_belief rests on no other foundation than sophistry and illu-
sion, it would surely be of no small value to know this; if, on
the other hand, it should be shown that it is in certain
respects supported by indubitable facts, the conclusion would
affect our whole view of the relation of man to the universe.
Thus the nature and limits of physical science, our philos-
ophy, our religion, our social life, are bound up, in ways more
or less direct, with this enquiry. But it is of the utmost im-
portance that the enquiry be conducted in a strictly scientific
temper and by men trained especially for this kind of work.
A large endowment of this research wisely administered -
would be, in my judgment, a benefit to the whole human race.
Personally I should prefer to see such an endowment placed
in the trusteeship of the already existing Society for Psy-
chical Research,* with the proviso, however, that the income
be applied to work in America, but if another method seems
better, I have no objection. The important thing is that the
work be placed on a solid financial foundation and conducted
with judgment and experience. We may then expect to see
it receive the recognition which its importance deserves.
Make any use of this letter you see fit.
I am,
Very sincerely yours,
H. N. GARDINER.

* Written before the dissolution of the American Branch of the Society
for Psychical Research.
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than now and this with regard to all matters falling under
the terms “supernormal,” “subliminal” personality, second-
ary personality and “spiritualism.” Do these words stand
for anything real, and if so what?

I heartily commend all efforts to have these questions
answered by men of accepted scientific standing. I do not
hesitate to say that money in large sums could not be better
used than to make full opportunity for the utmost freedom
of endeavor with regard to these subjects. There should be,
in my opinion, no commitment to a view or any set of views
held by any body of men. There should be money enough
at hand to repay the labors of men of science as they search
into all phenomena wherever presented and then assured us
as to the results secured.

No better work from the side of positive science to man-
kind can at this time be entered upon or fostered by men of
means. ‘The people ought to be told the truth by men com-
petent to tell it.

I sincerely hope that all present efforts in this direction

may be abundantly successful.
W. R. BENEDICT,
Professor of Philosophy,

University of Cincinnati, Ohio.

University of Wooster.
Dean’s Office.
Department of Philosophy.
. Wooster, Ohio, October 30, 1903.
Professor James H. Hyslop, Ph.D., LL.D,,
519 West 149th St., New York City.
My Dear Professor Hyslop:

[am much interested in your plan for an endowment for
psychical research. The research work demanded by both
scientific and humanitarian interests cannot be conducted on
any adequate scale without means to enable experts to de-
vote their entire time to investigations; the borderland be-
tween established psychological science and mystery will
dlways, as now, present important problems for research,
and so permanent endowment for such investigations is
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Johns Hopkins University,
Department of Psychology,
J. Mark Baldwin.
Princeton, N. J., October 20, 1903.
My Dear Professor Hyslop:

I am in strong sympathy with research in the lines sug-
gested by you, especially the former, Mental Pathology,
under which the latter Psychical Research may in some re-
spects, be placed. I should welcome the endowment of such
work, to take the form of a permanent fund, to be admin-
istered by a committee of experts in psychology, neurology
and medicine. Such a board, in absolute control and man-
agement, not only of the financial affairs, but also of the re-
search undertaken, would be essential, in my opinion, to the
successful administration of such a fund.

Believe me,

Very sincerely yours,
J. MARK BALDWIN.

Indiana University,
Department of Philosophy.
Bloomington.
Professor J. H. Hyslop:
My Dear Sir:

I am convinced that psychic research and psycho-path-
ology deserve the extensive investigation contemplated in
vour plan. The work of Gurney, Podmore, Hodgson,
James. Hyslop and others has raised questions of universal
and profound human interest. These men have made psy-
chic research a legitimate object of scientific inquiry. But
they have not as yet answered the questions they have raised.
Much further investigation is needed to settle, for one thing, .
the question of supernormal acquisition of knowledge.

The final result of years of such work may indeed be
merely the geography or histology of human gullibility. If.
that be so, we shall have a psychology of illusion and of
error—of incalculable scientific and practical importance.

In fact I would say that stch a psychology of error would
dlone justify a vast expenditure of time and money.
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proved. I cannot say the same regarding apparitions of the
dead. They are, in any case, incomparably less frequent.
Ifit were possible to obtain photographs whose authenticity
was incontestable an important service would be rendered
to science.

I have long followed your industrious investigations as I
have followed those of Crookes, Wallace, Gurney and Myers,
and there are many of us in France who would like to see the
phenomena of animism and spiritism made intelligible in
regard to their causes and scientifically classified. I send
vou, therefore, my most sincere good wishes for success and
the expression of my profound respect.

CAMILLE FLAMMARION.

G. R. Carpenter,
Columbia University,
New York City. October 15, 1903.
Professor J. H. Hyslop:
519 West 149th St., New York City.
My Dear Professor Hyslop:

I have your letter of the fourteenth and the enclosed
draft of a plan of investigation in the double field of patho-
logical psychology and of psychical research. I am not an
expert in the matters referred to, as you know, but I have
been able during the last five years to give them a consid-
erable amount of attention in my private reading and to
think over at my leisure the problems concerned, as well as
the ordinary layman can. I have become thoroughly con-
vinced that it is of great importance to us all that these fields
of inquiry be investigated very thoroughly and scientifically,
and for this purpose I believe that we should endeavor in
every way to find persons willing to give ample endowment
for such research, which will in all probability be of very
considerable value, if conducted properly and for a long
period of years, in throwing light on questions of the great-
est importance to every thinking man. I shall be delighted
to have you use my name in any way you choose in the fur-
therance of this idea. With best regards,

Very truly yours,
G. R. CARPENTER.
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knowledge along the lines that you suggest is to be heartily
welcomed and approved.
With best wishes for the success of the scheme,

I remain, Very truly yours,
H. PIERCE.

Psychological Laboratory,
Clark University.
Edmund C. Sanford,
Professor of Experimental and
Comparative Psychology.
Worcester, Mass., October 12, 1903.
My Dear Hyslop:

I believe that such a psycho-pathological institute as you
described would, if rightly managed, do an immense amount
of good both for the science of psychology (in the medical
aspect) and practically for sufferers from certain forms of
nervous diseases. I doubt if there is any other department
of psychological science where successful work would do so
much to dissipate superstition, and the fraud that fattens on
it, and to increase the means of dealing with cases of nervous

diseases of some sort. Yours very truly,
E. C. SANFORD.

James F. Kemp,
211 West 139th Street,
Borough of Manhattan,
New York City. October 18, 1903.
My Dear Hyslop:

I have read the enclosed draft of your plan for psychical
and psycho-pathological research and I hope the way may be
found to put it into execution. As you know, I have fol-
lowed your efforts in the past with much interest and have
always felt that they have been carried out in the spirit of the
true scientific investigator. As you say in the plan, the gen-
eral subject suffers from association in the minds of many
with frauds and humbugs, and yet it also vitally concerns
much that is of the deepest import to humanity.

Sincerely yours,
J. F. KEMP.
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than the decision of any other conceivable question which
agitates the world.
Hoping that you may succeed, and pledging myself to do
evervthing I can to help you on, I am,
Most heartily yours,
M. J. SAVAGE.

MISCELLANEOUS TESTIMONIES.

“Psychical research is the most important work which is
being done in the world—by far the most important.”
WM. E. GLADSTONE.

“If any one cares to hear what sort of conviction has been
born in upon my mind, as a scientific man, by twenty years’
familiarity with these questions which concerns us, I am
willing to reply as frankly as I can. I am, for all personal
purposes, convinced of the persistence of human existence
beyond bodily death, and though I am unable to justify that
belief in full and complete manner, yet it is a belief which has
been produced by scientific evidence that is based upon facts
and experiences.”

SIR OLIVER LODGE, F.R.S.

“No incident in my scientific career is more widely known
than the part I took many years ago in certain psychical re-
searches. Thifty years have passed since I published an
account of experiments tending to show that outside our
scientific knowledge there exists a Force exercised by intel-
ligence differing from the ordinary intelligence common to
mortals. To stop short in any research that bids fair to widen
the gates of knowledge, to recoil from fear of difficulty or
adverse criticism, is to bring reproach on science. There is
nothing for the investigator to do but to go straight on, “to
explore up and down, inch by inch, with the taper of his
reason : to follow the light wherever it may lead, even should
it at times resemble a will-’o-wisp.”

SIR WILLIAM CROOKES, F.R.S.
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“As a part of a wider philosophy the results of psychical
research seem to me to be of the greatest theoretic interest,
and may even turn out to be of the greatest practical im-

portance.”
PROFESSOR J. H. MUIRHEAD,
Lecturer in Mental and Moral Science,

Royal Holloway College, England.
(Contemporary Review, July, 1903.)

“On this subject I have certainly no claim to speak as an
expert. I approach it, therefore, with much diffidence, con-
tenting myself with a brief indication of my own personal
attitude. It seems to me that, after all criticisms are al-
lowed for, the evidence is still decidedly impressive, and that
it is sufficient to constitute a good case for further investiga-
tion. I am not myself clear as to the degree of my scepti-
cism, or what evidence would be sufficient to remove it.
But, at least, my doubt is not dogmatic denial, and I agree
with Mr. Myers that there is no sufficient reason for being
peculiarly sceptical concerning communications -from de-
parted spirits. I also agree with him that the alleged cases
of such communication cannot be with any approach to

probability explained away as mere instances of telepathy.”
PROFESSOR G. F. STOUT,
(University of St. Andrews).

Hibbert Journal, October, 1903.

“If I rightly interpret the results which tliese many years
of labor have forced upon the members of this Society (Psy-
chical Research) and upon others not among our number
who are associated by a similar spirit, it does seem to me that
there is at least a strong ground for supposing that outside
the world, as we have, from the point of science, been in the
habit of conceiving it, there does lie a region, not open indeed
to experimental observation in the same way as the more
familiar regions of the material world are open to it, but still
with regard to which some experimental information may be
laboriously gleaned; and even if we cannot entertain any
confident hope of discovering what laws these half-seen phe-
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nomena obey, at all events it will be some gain to have
shown, not as a matter of speculation or conjecture, but as
a matter of ascertained fact, that there are things in heaven
and earth not hitherto dreamed of in our scientific philos-
ophy.’
THE RIGHT HON. ARTHUR J. BALFOUR,
M.P,, F.R.S.

“I, myself, regarding the word ‘matter’ and ‘spirit’ as
mere metaphysical counters with which we pay ourselves,
think (religious faith apart) that human faculty lends a fairly
strong presumption in favor of the survival of human con-
sciousness. '

“To myself, after reading the evidence, it appears that a
fairly strong presumption is raised in favor of a ‘phantasmo-
gentic agency’ set at work, in a vague unconscious way, by
the deceased, and I say this after considering the adverse ar-
guments of Mr. Podmore, for example, in favor of telepathy
from living minds, and all the hypotheses of hoaxing, exag-
gerative memory, mal-observation, and so forth—not to
mention the popular nonsense about ‘What is the use of it?
‘Why is it permitted?” and the rest of it. What is the use of
argon, why are cockroaches ‘permitted ?’

“To end with a confusion of opinion: I entirely agree
with Mr. Myers and Hegel, that we, or many of us, are in
something, or that something is in us, which, does not know
the bonds of time, or feel the manacles of space.”

ANDREW LANG,
(Monthly Review, March, 1903.)

HUXLEY.
Statements in Regard to a Spiritual World.

“In my judgment, the actuality of this spiritual world—
the value of the evidence for its objective existence and its
influence upon the course of things—are matters which lie as
much within the province of science as any other question
about the existence and the powers of the varied forms of
living conscious activity.

“It really is my strong conviction that a man has no more
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right to say he believes this world is haunted by swarms of
evil spirits, without being able to produce satisfactory evi-
dence of the fact, than he has a right to say, without pro-
ducing adequate proof, that the circumpolar antarctic ice
swarms with sea-serpents. I should not like to assert posi-
tively that it does not. I imagine that no cautious biologist
would say as much; but while quite open to conviction, he
~ might properly decline to waste time upon the consideration
of talk, no better accredited than forecastle ‘yarns’ about
such monsters of the deep. And if the interests of ordinary
veracity dictate this course, in relation to a matter of so
little consequence as this, what must be our obligations in
respect of the treatment of a question which is fundamental
alike for science and for ethics? For not only does our gen-
eral theory of the universe and of the nature of the order
which pervades it, hang upon the answer; but the rules of
practical life must be deeply affected by it.” .
Science and Christian Tradition. (Preface.)

GOLDWIN SMITH.

*“It can hardly be doubted that hope of compensation in a
future state, for a short measure of happiness here, though
it may have been somewhat dim, has materially helped to
reconcile the less favored members of the community to the
inequalities of the existing order of things. The vanishing
of that hope can scarcely fail to be followed in the future by
an increased impatience of inequality, and a growing deter-
minaticn not to be put off the indemnity to another world.
In fact, this is already visible in the spirit and language of
labor agitation. Serious problems of this kind seem to wait
the coming generation.”

North American Review, May, 1904.
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ORIGINAL LETTER OF DR. PIERRE JANET.

Rue Barbet de Jouy, 21, Paris.
28, Juillet, 1905.
Cher Monsieur Hyslop:

Vous essayez de fonder une oeuvre considérable, “ The
American Institute for Scientific Research,” qui doit contri-
buer au développement des études psychologiques et vous
demandez de vous appuyer en montrant au public américain
lintéret de cette oeuvre. Vous voulez bien ajouter que je
puis vous apporter une aide utile et que 'expression de mon
opinion peut vous rallier des sympathies et décider des hési-
tants. Je ne puis le croire: bien des psychologues et des
neurologists américains auront bien plus d’influence que moi
et c’est leur parole et non la mienne qui convaincra vos com-
patriotes de l'utilité de cette oeuvre et de la confiance qu'ils
peuvent avoir en elle. Mais, si petite qu'elle soit, je ne vous
pas tarder a vous appotter ma contribution en montrant
briévement ce qui me semble intéressant et utile dans votre
tentative.

I

Il est évident que le siécle précédent a été le siécle des
sciences physiques et il est impossible d'énumérer les bien-
faits de toutes sortes dont 'humanité est aujourd’hue redeva-
ble aux découvertes de ces sciences. Mais les sciences qui
ont pour objet la pensée de I'homme, les lois de I'esprit hu-
main, les rapports du physique et du moral, n'ont longtemps
suivi que bien lentement la marche rapide des connaissances
qui s'appliquent a la matiére. Il est certain cependant que
les sciences de l'esprit pourraient étre aussi utiles et peut-étre
plus précieuces encore que les sciences des phénoménes ma-~
tériels.

Elles pourraient expliquer bien des lois de la société et
permettre peut-étre de mieux établir les relations sociales.
Elles devraient jouer un grande role dans notre jurisprudence
criminelle et préparer peut-étre une véritable prophylaxie du
crime. Les études de pédagogie ne seraient qu'une annexe
des researches psychologiques et celles ci seules permettraient
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méthodes nouvelles I’anatomie et la physiologie du systéme
nerveux se sont transformées. Aucun pays n’a fait autant
dans cette voie de la psychologie scientifique que les Etats
Unis d’Amérique. Grace i la jeunesse des Universitiés Ameri-
caines, a la souplesse de leurs programmes, a la richesse de
leurs ressources, les nouvelles études psychologiques ont pu
trés vite prendre dans l’enseignement une place considérable
et les laboratoires de psychologie sont aux Etats Unis plus
nombreux, plus beaux, mieux outillés que nulle part ailleurs.
Clest pourquoi nulle part on ne comprendra mieux I'import-
ance de quelques recherches, sinon nouvelles au moins
récentes, qui doivent aujourd’hui s’ajouter a la psychologie
telle qu’elle est d’ordinaire étudiée dans les laboratoires, non
pour la contredire le moins du monde, mais pour la développer
et pour étendre plus loin sa puissance.

Il est évident que I'étude de I'esprit humain peut se faire
de bien des maniéres, car les traces de lintelligence se
retrouvent dans un grand nombre de faits qui tous peuvent
devenir le point de départ d’interprétations psychologiques.
Demain peut-étre pour arriver a la connaissance des lois de
lesprit on tirera parti plus qu’on ne I'a fait jusqu'ici de 1'étude
des langages, de I'étude des oeuvres d’art, de I'étude des
peuples sauvages ou des civilisations primitives, comme on
commencé a le faire pour I’étude des instincts et de I'intelli-
gence des animaux. Nous devons seulement choisir et dis-
tinguer quels sont les faits dont I’étude semble devoir, étre en
ce moment particuliérement fructueuse quelles sont les
recherches qu’il est avantageux de joindre aujourd’hui aux
diverses études qui se poursuivent dan nos laboratoires. Si
je ne me trompe, trois catégories de recherches voisines les
unes des autres présentent en ce moment une importance
particuliére et sont arrivées au point de maturité ou elles
peuvent nous étre utiles. Ce sont I’études relatives aux
maladies de 'esprit. celles qui portent sur les traitements
psychologiques, et celles qui se proposent I'examen de ces
phéngménes qu’on appelle faute de mieux des phénoménes
anormaux ou occultes. Il nous faut examiner l'intéret que
ces recherches présentent pour le developpement de la
psychologie.
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pas toujours bien compte dans des recherches psychologiques.
Cest que I'on ne peut pas comme on le désire simplifier
lexpérience: on se trouve toujours en présence de I'individu
complet et les conditions qui déterminent un phénoméne sont
toujours infiniment complexes, elles sont difficiles a deter-
miner et impossible a éliminer.

III.

Sans doute la maladie reste encore extrémement complexe;
mais elle réduit cependant l'individu, elle raméne a des formes
de pensée moins parfaites et moins variées. J'ai 'impression
trés nette que les malades du méme genre se ressemblent
étonnement. On est surpris entendre-des malades apparten-
ant a des catégories sociales trés différentes, a des milleux, a
des pays differents employer exactement les mémes expres-
sions, se rencontrer dans les mémes métaphores, quand il
sont atteints du méme trouble. Deux psychasthéniques ou
deux hystériques se ressemblent bien plus entre que deux
individus normaux ayant approximativement le méme
caractére. C'est que la maladie simplifie I'etat mental en le
réduisant.

De temps en temps cette réduction devient particuliére-
ment intéressante pour nous quand elle supprime d'une
maniére nette certains des grands faits psychologiques que
notre analyse a déja distingues et que nous supposons im-
portants. Nous rencontrons des sujets chex qui le langage
est supprimé, ou la mémoire, ou la volonté, chex quelques
uns méme la lésion est encore plus délicate: tel langage est
supprimé et non tel autre; ils ont perdu la faculté de com-
prendre ce qu'’ils lisent et ils savent encore parler eux mémes.
On en voit qui ont perdu telle ou telle catégorie de souvenirs
et qui ont conservé les autres: ils ont completement oublié
les événements récents, mais ils conservent le souvenir des
anciens, ou bien conservent le souvenir de ce qu'ils ont appris
autrefois, mais ils ne savent plus acquérir maintenant aucun
souvenir mouveau, ils ont perdu I'acquisition et non la con-
servation ou la reproduction des souvenirs. Il en est ainsi
pour toutes les fonctions mentales: elles sont décomposées et
analysées par la maladie d’une facon plus merveilleuse que
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nous ne pourrions faire par aucune dissection, par aucune
mutilation. Il est facile de se rendre compte que ce sont la
tout justement ces décompositions, ces suppressions de
fonctions que reclamait la méthode experimentale et que
nous ne pouvions pas réaliser nous mémes. Sans doute la
science a été arréte un instant par ce scrupule que la maladie
déformait et métamorphosait les fonctions vitales. Mais on
sait depuis Claude Bernard, “ que nous ne saurions trouver
aucune différence radicale entre les phénoménes physi-
ologiques, pathologiques et thérapeutiques, tous ces
phénoménes dérivent de lois qui etant propres a la matiére
vivant sont identiques dans leur essence et ne varient que par
les conditions diverse laquelles ces phénoménes se manifest-
ent.” De nos jours la physiology elle méme tire un grand
parti de ces modifications pathologiques et la psychologie qui
n'a pas i sa disposition les mémes ressources que la physi-
ologie en tire un bénéfice plus grand encore. En fait un
grand nombre de chapitres de la psychologie normale ont
commencé par étre des études sur les maladies. Que 'on se
rappelle les ouvrages sur les maladies de la mémoire, sur les
maladies de la personnalité, et de la volonté. Un grand
nombre des notions les plus intéressant qui remplissent
aujourd hui les ouvrages de psychologie ont commencé a étre
connues a propos de phénoménes maladifs: il suffit de rapeller
les notions sur I'étendue limitée de la conscience, sur les
€tats subconscients, les notions sur la complexité et la con-
struction de la personnalité. sur les combinaisons des images
sensorielles et des images de mouvements dans la perception
telle qu'elle a été connue par I'étude des cas d’agnosie et
d'apraxie. sur les degrés et les formes différent de la volonté.
Nous devrions sacrificer les deux tiers de la psychologie
actuelle si nous retirions de notre esseignement ce qui n'a
€té acquis que grace i 'excamen des névroses et des psychoses.
_ Il ne faut pas oublier que des services de ce genre sont
reciproques, et que la médicine nerveuse €t mentale a déja
ure et tirera de plus en plus des bénéfices cor}sidérables de son
rapprochement avec la psychologie. Quoique beaucoup de
neurologists en aient put dire, ce sont encore les terms
Psychologiques qui sont de beaucoup les plus clairs pour
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exprimer et pour poser nettement bien des problémes
cliniques. Les médicins pourraient tirer grand avantage des
¢tudes sur la perception pour interpréter les troubles de la
sensibilité, des études sur la volonté et sur I’émotion pour
comprendre bien des névroses. Déja aujourd’hui I'hystérie
et la psychasthénie avec les obsessions, les impulsions, les
phobies, et bientot également, si je ne me trompe, 1‘épilepsie
seront tout a fait incompréhensible sans études sérieuses de
psychologie. Dans quelque temps sera-t'il encore permis de
parler des différents délires sans comprendre les lois de la
suggestion, celles des modifications du champ de la con-
science, les divers degrés de tension de la volonte et de I'at-
tention et leurs répercussions sur les sentiments et sur les
idées du malade. On sera surpris de voir dans peu de temps
combien la psychiatrie tout entiére se transformera au con-
tact d’'une psychologie plus précise.

IV.

Les maladies nerveuses et mentales nous présentent
encore des faits dont I'étude est particuliérement intéressant,
ce sont les modifications survenues sous I'influence des divers
traitments et surtout les changements qui surviennent au
moment de la guérison. La méthode scientifique est ap-
pliquée d’'une maniére parfaite quand on peut examiner le
meme fait dans deux cas ne différent I'un de 'autre que par
la modification connue d'une seule circonstance, les autres
circonstances étant restées exactement identiques. I.étude
du méme individu, tantot pendant la pérode de maladie,
tantot au moment de la guérison se rapproche de cet idéal.’
Pendant I’évolution d’une paralyse hystérique on constate
la persistence d'une certaine anesthésie, puis quand la
paralysie a disparu on constate que, I'individu étant resté
le méme i tous les autres points de vue, I'anesthésie pré-
cédent. est supprimée; n'a t'on pas le droit de dire que cette
insensibilité jouait un role important dans le syndrome? Un
grand nombre d’études psychologique ont été faites avec
cette méthode : non seulement on a étudié ainsi les paralysies,
les insensibilitiés et leur role dans toute la conscience, mais
aussi l'action d’une idée fixe, d’un souvenir obsédant, ou
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cas ou cependant le trouble semble bien avoir un point de
départ moral; c’est sous cette forme trés primitive elles ont
bien des défauts dont le plus grand est de manquer a la fois
de précision et de généralite. Elles manquent de précision
parceque 'on peut les appliquer sans distinction a toute
espéce de troubles. Vous pouvez tenir le méme discours a
un épileptique, a un mélancholique, a un hystérique, a un
psychasthénique tourmenté par des obsessions et des
phobies: il n’est méme pas nécessaire de diagnostiquer leur
mal pour leur précher la confiance en soi et la résignation.
D'autre part ce qui fait le charme et le succés de ces petits
discours, c’est d’abord le talent individuel de celui qui les
prononce, son caractére particuliérement séduisant, c’est
aussi une certaine disposition du sujet a se laisser séduire par
les qualitiés de son directeur. Tout cela est trés individuel,
le malade qui a été soulagé par un médicin ne peut pas
sadresser a un autre, quoiqu’il applique les mémes méthodes,
il se peut fort bien qu’il n'en sente aucunement I'influence.
Le médicin qui a réussi prés d'un malade ne peut aucunement
se vanter de guérir la méme affection chez un autre, il se peut
qu'il n’arrive a rien du tout. Evidemment nous avons le de-
voir de recourir a ces méthodes en atendant mieux, mais il est
juste de croire que ce n’est pas la le terme d’une psycho-
thérapie scientifique.

Il y a quelques années on a pu espérer que I'on arriverait
a plus de précision dans le traitement quand on a commencé
a utiliser les phénoménes de I'hypnotisme; mais 'éxagger-
ation a été beaucoup trop grand quand on a prétendu re-
trouver partout le phénoméne hystérique de 'hypnotisme et
l'appliquer a tort et a travers. La psvchothérapie ne fera de
véritables progrés que lorsque le médicin aura compris le
mécanisme psychologique par lequel tel trouble déterminé
aura été produit, quand il saura d’'une maniére précise les lois
qui réglent I'apparition et la disparition de tel ou tel phén-
oméne psychologique. Quand on saura que telle perturba-
tion du mouvement dépend de telle anesthésie, que telle crise
de délire dépend de la présence subconsciente d’'un souvenir
que I'on croit a tort disparu, que tel vertige, tel délire dépend
de I'insuffisance de 'attention et de telle modification des
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objets matériel, ou bien ce seront ces transports ou ces mét-
morphoses d’objets matériels eux mémes. Dans un autre
groupe, on place les phénoménes qui semblent en apparence
rester davantage des phénoménes psychologiques: ce seront
par example les faits que I'on désigne sous le nom de télé-
pathie dan lequels des sensations, des pensées, semblent
transmis d'un esprit human a un autre, sans l'intermédiaire
des mouvements ni organes des sense connus, la lucidité,
phénoméne de méme genre dans lequel la pensée humaine
semble entrer en possession de certaines connaissances sans
utiliser moyens usuel par lequels nous les acquérons
d'ordinaire, des presentiments divers dans lesquels la pensée
humaine semble affranchie des lois du temps comme
précédemment elle s'affranchissait des lois de I'’espace. Ces
faits ont été décrits sous bien des noms, magnétisme animal,
biomagnétisme, agent télépathique, force non définies, force
ecténéique, force psychique, ils sont décrits et interprétés de
bien maniéres et ils restent pour nous bien mal compris: la
plupart des esprits sérieux resent bien embarrassés a leur
propos et ne savent méme pas quelle attitude ils doivent
adopter quand on souléve ces questions. Jusqu'a présent en
effet, quand il s’agit d’exprimer une opinion sur la lucidité ou
sur le mouvement des objets a distance, on ne trouve que
deux opinions également exagérees et absurdes, c'est 'affirm-
ation enthousiaste, la foi aveugle ou la négation aussi
ignorante que méprisante, et il est facile se voir que ces deux
opinions sont aussi insoutenable I'une que I'autre.

Quelle que soit la justice et méme l'indulgence que I'on
veuille accorder aux écrivains qui dans les revues spéciales
décrivent ces phénoméne occultes il est impossible de ne pas
etre choqué par la maniére absurde dont ils présentent leurs
études. Tous les ans paraissent sur ces questions des
centaines de volumes et des milliers d’articles écrits par des
hommes de trés bonne foi dont les opinions mériteraient
évidemment d’étre examinées avec serieux. Mais vraiment on
sarréte vien vite dégouté d’une parielle lecture: ces auteurs
affirment les choses les plus invraisemblables sans se donner
la moindre peine pour justifier leurs croyances. Leurs
études ne sont qu'un mélange confus d’enthousiasme, de
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d'un médium et méme I'état d’esprit singulier des croyants
qui assistant sans critique a des séances de ce genre.

Jajouterai encore que les premiéres études sur ces phé-
noménes appartiennent a la psychologie pathologique: Les
individus qui jouent le role de médium sont plus que des anor-
maux; ces sont le plus souvent de véritable malades. Pour
les comprendere, il est nécessaire d’étre habitué a leurs allures,
aleurs illusions habituelles, 4 la marche que suivent chez eux
les phénoménes psychologiques. Une seule fois il m’a été
donné de pouvoir étudier complétement un cas du phénom-
¢ne que I’'on désigne sous le nom de phénoméne des apports
et j’ai pu montret le role que jouaient dans ce phénomeéne les
actes subconscients et les somnambulismes spontanés. Plus
tard on pourra montrer que les médiums proprement dits se
distinguent de ce que nous connaissons comme des cas de
nevroses, cela est possible, mais pour le moment il se rap-
prochent de ces malades a un tel point qu’il faut commencer
par les examiner au moyen des mémes méthodes. Clest a la
psychologie pathologique qu’incombe aujourd’hui le devoir
d'élaircir le probléme troublant soulevé par la description des
phénomeénes occultes. Qu’elle se tienne également éloignée.
de 1a crédulité puérile et de I'incrédulité aveugle, qu’elle ne
sarréte pas devant I'audace des hypothéses, mais qu'elle se
montre d’autant plus sévére dans la vérifications des faits
qu'ils seront plus nouveaux et qu’ils auront des conséquences
plus graves, et elle trouvera dans 'étude de ces faits de sin-
guliéres ressources pour expliquer et pour traiter les désor-
dres de I'esprit humaine.

VI.

De telles études psychologiques portant sur les diverses
modifications de l'esprit que nous présentent les maladies
mentailes, sur les divers traitements de la psychiatrie, sur les
expériences singuliéres dont les phénoménes anormaux ou
occultes sont 'occasion sont aujourd’hui plus répandues qu'on
nele croit. Il y a el sur ce point de grands progrés depuis
une vingtaine d’années. De telles recherches sont moins
méprisées et I'on n’est plus accusé d’alienation mentale pour
étudier ’hypnotisme ou méme le suggestion mentale. Nous
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mettre au premier plan I'étude de la pensée humaine dans
toutes ses manifestations aussi bien phy51ques que morales,
dans toutes ses formes élémentaires ou supéerieures, nor-
males on pathologiques.

VIIL

Une oeuvre de ce genre a si bien sa place marquée au-
jourd’hui, son utilité est si bien sentie par tous les bons esprits
que dans plusieurs pays déja il y a eu des tentatives intéres-
santes pour la réaliser. Au premier rang des sociétés qui ont
essayé d'organiser quelque chose de semblable, il faut placer
la belle Société Anglaise “ for psychical research,” qui a je
crois une branche important en Amérique. Sous l'influence
des Gurney, des Myers, des Sidgwick et tant d’autres cette
société a fait énormément pour répandre le gout des re-
cherches psychologiques et pour amener peu a l'étude de.
phénoménes psychiques dans le cadre des sciences réguliéres
et précises. L’institut psychologique général que nous avons
essayé de fonder en France en 1900 se proposait un but ana-
logue, peut-étre méme un peu plus large, car il faisait une
plus grande part a I’étude des phénomeénes pathologiques.
De telles tentatives ont eu plus ou moins de succés elles peu-
vent se développer encore et rendre encore des services.

Mais il est évident que la création de telles oeuvres de-
mande des ressources considérables et qu’elle est extréme-
ment difficile. Aussi ne peut on pas étre surpris de voir cette
tentative recommencer de différents cotes et des oeuvres
nouvelles se créer pour completer les premiéres. The Ameri-
can Institute for Scientific Research,dont vous m'avez envoyé
le plan se rapproche évidemment des oeuvres précédentes et
cherche 4 marcher dans la méme voie. Ce n’est pas du tout
que vous vouliez faire concurrence a des institutions plus
anciennes, c’est que vous cherchez a leur adjoindre une Insti-
tution Américaine qui collabore avec elles, qui donne plus de
publicité a leurs recherches et qui puisse méme les aider dans
leurs efforts. Votis nous avez montré tant de merveilles dans
les Universités des Etats Unis, vous nous avez si souvent fait
voir ce que peut faire la générosité intelligente d'un puissant
donateur que nous atendons beaucoup d'une oeuvre sembla-
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doute pas que vous ne réussissiez trés vite. Je serai heureux
de pouvoir alors vous féliciter complétement, car vous aurez
transforméé en une belle et vivante réalité une institution que
nous révions depuis longtemps et vous aurez fait faire un
grand pas a la science la plus utile de toutes, la plus riche en
promesse, la science de 'esprit humain.

Recevez, cher Monsieur Hyslop, avec tous mes souhaits
pour PAmerican Institute for scientific research, I’assurance

de mes meilleurs sentiments.
DR. PIERRE JANET,

Professeur de Psychologie en
College de France.

LETTER OF WILLIAM STONE.

A year ago I received a little pamphlet, in a sort of casual
way, from Mr. William L. Stone, son of Mr. William L.
Stone, who was a man of very considerable intelligence and
who had written this pamphlet to a physician in New York
City on some experiences which he classed under the head of
Animal Magnetism. The pamphlet was so well written and
there had been so much care in the establishment of the facts,
as judged by the standards of that day, that I thought of the
plan of republishing the letter in the Proceedings of the
American Society for Psychical Research. The primary
object in giving this pamphlet a more permanent record was
to give an illustration of the negligence of science. There is
of course the secondary interest in the evidently intelligent,
tho perhaps less critical examination than the present would
give of such alleged phenomena. This feature of the report
gives the account an historical interest and I would not be-
speak for it anything like the merits of a scientific proof of
the supernormal perception apparently indicated by the inci-
dents recorded. It would require very many such cases to
establish an hypothesis of clairvoyance or other supernormal
knowledge. But even tho we deprive it of the scientific
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freemason, addressed a series. of letters to John Quincy
Adams urging the abandonment of Freemasonry because it
had outlived its usefulness. In 1841 he was sent by Presi-
dent Harrison as U. S. minister to the Hague, but was re-
called the same year by President Tyler. He was chosen,
in 1844, the first superintendent of the public schools of New
York City, and in this capacity had a controversy with Arch-
bishop Hughes in regard to the use of the Bible in schools.
His influence for good was felt in the city in many directions.
He specially interested himself in the institution for the deaf
and dumb and the society for the reformation of juvenile
criminals. Mr. Stone died at Saratoga Springs, Aug. 15,
1844. He was a prolific author, especially in the department
of local history. Among his publications were Life of Maria
Monk (1836); Letters on Animal Magnetism (1837); Life of
Joseph Brant (2 vols., 1838); Border Wars of the American
Revolution (2 vols., 1839); Poetry and History of Wyoming
(1841); Life of Red Jacket (1835); and Life of Uncas and
Miantonomoh (1842).”

This career intimates that we may not be dealing with
credulousness in reading with curiosity a careful description
of some phenomena not easily explicable. The article by
Mr. William L. Stone. Jr., on his father in Appleton’s
Biographical Cyclopacdia will satisfy further curiosity in regard
to the man's intelligence and capacity as a witness. It is
much the same as the article quoted. but is a little more
lengthy history.

A special reason for calling attention to this booklet of
Mr. Stone is its relation to the movement in Spiritualism
which brought that subject into contempt. The pamphlet
appeared in 1837, the second edition in 1837, and the Fox
sisters began their performances in 1847 and 1848. Their
career and confession, connected as they were with alleged
physical phenomena, almost put an end to all intelligent
interest in the phenomena for which psychic research invites
investigation. The universal disgust with the Fox sisters
kept away attention from a class of phenomena which should
never have been confused with those that excite so much
scepticism.  Mr. Stone’s letter is interesting as confining its
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narrative entirely to a class of psychological phenomena
wholly unassociated with the exceedingly dubious type which
still continues to attract interest in some quarters. If the
investigation had gone along these lines at that time instead
of allowing itself to be shunted off into physical miracles, the
outcome of public attention might have been very different.
Mr. Stone's pamphlet had struck the right key-note and
similar phenomena ought to have been discriminated from
those which so soon brought the whole subject into dis-
repute. It is, therefore, an important contribution to an
initial history of the phenomena which lost attention by their
proximity to a movement which had disgraced science and
religion alike. It shows too that the real origin of scientific
interest in the subject was the existence of psychological
phenomena of a residual type, and not a set of vulgar
physical tricks more closely associated with the idea of the
miraculous than with natural psychological laws. Mr.
Stone’s letter will interest all who wish to take an intelligent
view of phenomena that never seem wholly to disappear from
human experiences and which also escape the dissolving in-
fluence of scepticism.
JAMES H. HYSLOP.
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ANIMAL MAGNETISM.

LETTER FROM DR. BRIGHAM TO MR. STONE.

NEW YORK, September 1, 1837.
My Dear Sir,

Understanding that you have recently witnessed many
experiments, and even performed some yourself, illustrative
of the powers of Animal Magnetism, and have become a
believer in this new art, science, or imposture, I am exceed-
ingly desirous of knowing what phenomena, seen by your-
self, have served to convince you.

Animal Magnetism has attracted the attention of many
of the most scientific men in Europe, some of whom believe
in the extraordinary power ascribed to it. That very re-
markable effects may result from extreme sensibility, or dis-
ease of the nervous system, I can readily believe—we see
such in Catalepsy, Somnambulism, &c. We read of such in
every age. In every age great moral commotions, by affect-
ing the organization of some very sensitive persons, have
produced very singular physical and intellectual phenomena.
The Trembleurs des Cevennes, and the Convulsionnaires de Saint
Médard, are memorable instances. Many of the results at-
tributed to Animal Magnetism may be accounted for, by
supposing an unusual augmentation of sensibility,—but other
phenomena ascribed to it cannot be thus explained, and an
immensity of proof appears to me to be necessary, in order to
establish things so extraordinary, and so contrary to the
common sense and to the testimony of all times.

The facts which have served to make you a believer in
Animal Magnetism, must be curious and interesting, and
when your leisure permits, I beg you will furnish them in
detail, that others may know on what evidence one who has
been charged with a lamentable want of credulity on some
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am not a positive believer in the system, because I know not
what to believe; and yet, I am free to confess, that I have
recently beheld phenomena, under circumstances where col-
lusion, deception, fraud, and imposture, were alike out of the
question, if not impossible, which have brought me from the
position of a positive sceptic to a dead pause. From the
evidence of my own senses, I have been compelled, if not to
relinquish, at least very essentially to modify, my disbelief;
and I can no longer deny, although I cannot explain, the ex-
traordinary phenomena produced by the exertion of the
mental energy of one person upon the mind of another, while
in a state of what is termed magnetic slumber. Still, I pray
you not to write me down as a believer in the charlatanerie
of Mesmer and Deslon, or as a disciple of M. Poyen, or as an
encourager of the other strolling dealers in somnambulism,
who traverse the country, exhibiting their “ sleeping beau-
ties,” as lovers, not of science, but of gain.

For many months past, in common with most readers, if
not all, of the public journals, I had seen much upon the
subject of Animal Magnetism, particularly in connexion with
the names of Monsieur Poyen, and his pupil, Miss Gleason.
The illustrations of M. Poyen, and the exploits of Miss
Gleason while under the magnetic influence imparted by him,
had been standing themes of comment in the New England
papers. I had seen that M. Poyen was favored by many be-
lievers, some of them, even, among the disciples of Ascula-
pius. There were others, laymen and members of the fac-
ulty, who doubted.  Others, again, and probably far the
largest class, were positive sceptics. These were doing all
in their power to discredit the professor, his science, and his
patient, as well by argument as by the withering process of
ridicule.  Still, M. Poyen persisted in the illustrations of his
favorite science, and I have noted that accessions to the
number of believers in his system were occasionally gained,
even from the ranks both of the learned and the wise. Edu-
cated, however, in the belief that Mesmer was an impostor,
that his followers were enthusiasts, and his patients affected,
if at all, only through the workings of their own imaginations,
—and disliking, exceedingly, the public exhibitions he was
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invain, Dr. C,, having some brief experience as a magnetiser,
and being then engaged in the work of investigating its
remedial effects, after examining her case as a matter of
curiosity, proposed the magnetic treatment. As you are
yourself a physician, I need not remind you that amaurosis
often assumes the paralytic character, and that Animal Mag-
netism has from the first been prescribed by the practisers of
the art in cases of neurology, and especially those of a par-
alytic character. )

The consent of Miss Brackett and her friends for that
purpose having been obtained, the practice was commenced
in the month of May, and has been continued daily, with few
intermissions, until the present time. The results, thus far,
in a medical point of view, have been the most salutary.
Her voice has been entirely restored, so that it is clear, and
her enunciation distinct and agreeable. Her natural sight,
moreover, to say nothing at present of that mysterious fac-
ulty called mental vision, or clairvoyance by the French, has
been so far recovered from total blindness, that she can now
distinguish light from darkness. She can, when awake, dis-
cern objects, like shadows; though she cannot distinguish a
man from a woman by the dress.

Such, in brief, was the history of the young lady, and the
cause and extent of her malady, communicated to me shortly
after my arrival in Providence, and more fully by Dr. Capron
and others since. I was farther informed that the young
lady was diffident and retiring in her manners, and of delicate
and sensitive feelings; and that neither herself, her friends,
nor her physician, were ambitious of any thing approaching
to a public exhibition. On the contrary, they preferred re-
maining without public observation. I ought here to add.
that Miss B. had received a good education, previous to the
accident which had subjected her to such painful depriva-
tions, and that her friends in Providence sustain characters
not only respectable, but irreproachable.

Having thus satisfied myself, by information derived from
the most unquestionable authorities, that in regard to the
case of this young lady the half that the facts would warrant
had not been told me; and that, however extraordinary might
be the appearances, or however surprising the developements
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to Saratoga Springs, whence he and Mrs. Hopkins had just
returned. Mr. H. told me on Monday morning that her de-
scription of the buildings and localities at the Springs was
correct ; and that when in fancy he took her to the Congress
fountain, to drink of the water, she dashed it from her on
tasting, and said she disliked it—suiting the muscular action
of her features to the expression of that dislike.

With such information in my possession, I determined in
my own mind upon a course of examination which would test
the case most thoroughly, and in a manner rendering decep-
tion, delusion, and imposition of every kind, entirely out of
the question—even did not the excellent character of all the
parties afford an ample guarantee against any and every at-
tempt of the kind. But I kept several of the particular tests
which I meant to employ entirely within my own bosom, not
imparting a hint or suggestion of my design even to my most
intimate friends.

Agreeable to appointment, we met at the house of
Mr. Hopkins a few minutes before ten, on Monday morning
the 28th of August. There were present the literary friend
already referred to, another clergyman with his daughter and
another young lady; Mr. and Mrs. Hopkins, Mr. Isaac Thur-
ber, another gentleman whose name I do not recollect, Doc-
tor Capron and myself. The patient was presently ushered
into the room, and we were all introduced to her—passing a
few moments in agreeable conversation. I found the young
lady of delicate mind and manners, modest and diffident.
None could see without being favorably impressed in her be-
half. She was, of course, aware of the object of our visit;
and Dr. Capron soon took a seat near her, and commenced
the process of what is called magnetizing.

I ought before to have remarked, that Dr. Capron had’
previously cautioned me not to expect too great things, since
it was a matter of uncertainty whether the slumber would be
profound, and the mind clear; and whether, moreover, she
might not become wayward and obstinate, after being thrown
into sleep. Much depended on the calmness of his own mind
and the intensity of its fivedness upon the business in hand;
much also depended upon the state of mind of the patient.
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blind. Her eyelids, moreover, were entirely closed; in addi-
tion to which, cotton batts were placed over her eyes, and
confined by a pair of green spectacles. It would, therefore,
have been impossible for her to see—or rather, any other
person would have been involved in the deepest darkness,
with eyes thus closed, and then cotton batts over them.
Soon after going into the room she appeared to see the
pictures and admire them. This fact was tested in every
way. From her repugnance to so much company, however,
the little circle drew as much as possible away from her, and
her chief conversation on the subject of pictures was held
with my friend, with whom, both sleeping and waking, she
had previously been acquainted. Invariably, when she stud-
ied a picture, she turned her back upon the wall against which
it hung. When she took up a print to examine it, she held
it at the back of her head, or rather just over the parietal
bone. With my friend she conversed freely, and selected
from the small prints a likeness of Mrs. Judson, whose life
she said she had read several times. She took up a portrait,
while standing on the side of the room opposite to my friend
and myself, and putting it to the side of her head, almost be-
hind, as she remained alone, inquired—* Is not this a likeness
of John Foster?—John—Yes, it is John Foster.” I imme-
diately passed around the table to her, and held a brief con-
versation with her respecting the character and writings of
Foster—of whom there had not been a word said, before she
selected his picture and pronounced his name. Her reading
of the names on the prints was very slow, as she read by let-
tering, as the free-masons call it; that is, by studying each
letter, and first repeating it in a whisper, as though to herself.
But she made no mistakes that were discovered. She had
an objection to read, arising from an idea, if we were looking
at the picture with her, that we knew as well as she, and that
it was idle in us to ask her what we could not be ignorant of.
If, however, she was holding a picture by herself, in a differ-
ent part of the room, on asking the question, whose likeness
she was looking at? she would answer correctly, as in the
case of John Foster. Sometimes she would exhibit the sim-
plicity of childhood, as in the case of an allegorical print sus-






Ansmal Magnetism. 91

lustration of her former ideal voyage in which she actually
became sea-sick, as was reported to me.

“ How then will you go?”

“1 should like to go through the air.”

“Very well,” T replied,—* we will step into a balloon.
That will be a pleasant mode of travelling.”

She did not, however, seem to comprehend what was
meant by a balloon, and repeated her desire to go through
the air. I assured her that I would as gladly accompany her
that way as any other.

““ But you must not let me fall,” said she.

“Oh no,” I replied. “1I am used to that way of travel-
ling, and will bear you up in perfect safety.”

Saying which, she grasped my right hand more firmly—
took my left hand—and pressed upon both, tremulously, as if
buoying herself up. I raised my hands some ten or twelve
inches, very slowly, favoring the idea that she was ascending.

“You must keep me up,” she said, with a slight convul-
sive, or rather shuddering grasp, as though apprehensive of
a fall.

* Certainly,” I replied, “ vou need have no fear. I am
used to these excursions.” And away, in imagination, we
sailed.

* * * * * * 3

“ There is Bristol! ” she exclaimed; * stop—we must luok
at Bristol. I have been here before. I always admired it.
What beautiful streets!”

“Very beautiful, indeed,” I replied—and we resumed our
aerial voyage.

“ Oh.” said she, “ how I like to travel in this way—it is so
easy, and we go so quick.”

“Yes,” I answered, ‘““and here we are at New-York.
Come, we will descend at the north end of the Battery.”

She then grasped my hands more closely, and bore down
exactly as though descending from a height.

“ Safely down,” said I. “ There is the dock where the
Providence steam-boat comes in.”

“ Indeed!” she replied; “ but it is not so good a place as
where they came in before.” I have already stated that she
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“What pleases you? ” I inquired. “ Why,” said she, “ what
a queer hat that man has got on.”

“What man?”

“ Why, that man, there, with the large round hat, like a
Quaker’s.”

“ What sort of a coat has he on, or is it a jacket?”

“1It is a round jacket—and look, his hat has a round, low
crown.”

It instantly occurred to me that she had described the
dress of the Castle-Garden Boat Club, whose boat-house
stands at the farther end of the bridge, where, also, their boat
is moored. There is generally some one or more of the club
at their room; and I doubt not that one of the members was
then at the club-house, and was seen by Miss Brackett. A
member of the club, whom I met the same evening, assured
me that such was their dress, and he believed that one of
their members must have been there at the time.

On approaching the massive portal of the garden-wall,
Miss B. drew back, and said she had rather not go in. It was
no garden, and she did not like to go through that gate.

It will here be remarked that she seemed to have seen
both the gates, and the bridge—as also the castle walls—
since it was one of her first observations, that she saw
nothing like a garden. The misnomer of calling such a place
a garden, would at once strike the attention of any stranger.

“TI choose not to go in,” she repeated.

* Just as you say,” I replied: “ we will turn about, and
walk up town; now we are on the Battery. How do you
like the trees?”

She here gave indications of not understanding why the
esplenade should be called a Batfery. 1 told her the name was
derived from an ancient fortress which stood there. * Oh,”
she replied, “ then this is the place of the old fort.”

Having lingered a few moments, and the companion of
my imaginary journey having expressed her admiration of
the beauty of the place, I proposed continuing our walk up
Broadway; to which she assented.

* * * * * * *
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We then resumed our walk along Broadway, and as we
approached Trinity Church, she complained of the crowds of
people. Presently she was embarrassed in getting along, as
if shrinking from the crowd, and edging sideways as though
jostled by the throng. “ I never saw people crowd so,” she
remarked. “ Why, they run over a body without the least
care.” She was indeed much perplexed to go onward, while
I was liberal in assurances of protection; telling her that
New-York was the grand receptacle of people of all nations—
and that the immigrants, Irish, Dutch, Swiss, French, Span-
ish—every body—were wont to throng Broadway; but they
would not injure her, and we should soon get through the
multitude.

Thus we proceeded as far as the Astor House. I asked
her if she had ever heard of the Astor House? She replied
she had not. “Nor of Mr. Astor?” “No.” I then gave
her an outline of the history of that gentleman—how he came
to New-York a poor immigrant, and seeing a wealthy man
building a large house in Broadway, mentally resolved one
day to build a still greater; how he embarked in the fur trade,
and in connexion with this point, I introduced incidentally
the name of Jacob Weber, formerly of German Flatts, with
whom Mr. Astor was connected, in early life, in the Indian
fur trade, and whom I had once known very well. I repeated
to her the well-known anecdote which has been related of
Weber, and perhaps of a dozen others, that in purchasing
furs of the Indians, he was wont to use his fist for a one
pound weight, and his foot for two pounds.

“ But that was not just,” interrupted Miss Brackett—re-
peating, “ It was not just, and I should not think they would
have prospered.”

“ Mr. Astor had nothing to do with that,” I continued—
adding that his life had afforded a fine illustration of one of
the essays of John Foster, whose picture she had been exam-
ining—that on Decision of Character. She was quite inter-
ested in the story, and we proceeded on our walk.

“ What do you think of this house?” I inquired.

“1It is a noble building,” she replied. “I should like to
get a good view of it, but there are so many people crowding
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rect—the house being shut up, and the President’s family in
the country. .

I now proposed to end our walk, and step into my house,
to which I endeavored to lead her. The house is No. 36
Church street—is very peculiar in its construction—having
no door upon the street—the entrance being by an iron gate
into a little court. There is, on the opposite side of the
street, a somewhat similar entrance, by a door, into the yard
of Mr. Douglass, corner of Park Place and Church street. As
we entered the court, Miss Brackett shuddered, and clung to
my side. I asked her what was the matter. She replied she
was afraid of that black man in the yard. I reasoned with
her against any apprehensions of fear, but to no purpose.
Mrs. Hopkins here remarked that Loraina had always been
afraid of negroes, and could not bear to be near them when
well and awake. However, I soon persuaded her to proceed,
descend into the basement story, in advance of myself, and
see what the servants were about in the kitchen. She did
so, and reported on her return, that there were two white
women, together with a negress, who was engaged in cook-
ing something sweet. I asked her whether she was certain
both the white women were full grown, and she answered
they were. I inquired what they were about, and she said
she did not like to tell me. I then descended into the kitchen
with her, and asked her what the black woman had in her
hand. She said she did not know, but it looked like some-
thing sweet. I asked her to taste it. She said, “ No; she
could not taste anything cooked by a black woman, because
it was not clean.” On assuring her that a colored woman,
if well washed, would be just as clean as a washed white
woman, she asked for a taste—tried it in her mouth,—said it
was too sweet—and raised her hand to my lips, saying that I
must taste of it also.

It was evident that this was all incorrect as to our do-
mestic establishment, and it struck me that she had by mis-
take entered the wrong house. I accordingly addressed her
thus :— .

“ Why, Miss Brackett, we have made a mistake, and gone
into a wrong house. Let us get out as quick as possible.”
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linquired what they were doing? She answered—‘ not much
of any thing "—which I thought not unlikely. It being wash-
ing day, I asked—* are they not washing?” She said, and re-
peated, they were not. I asked.what kind of a frock the girl
had on? She replied that she could not see clearly—the
room was rather dark—but she believed it was a dark purple
sprig.  On both of these points she was mistaken. The
cook zas washing that day, and the frock of the girl was blue,
with a small light flower. It is proper to add, moreover, that
there was no colored woman, engaged in culinary operations
or otherwise, at the time in question, in the house opposite,
where I supposed my companion had entered by mistake.
Addressing my fair companion again, I observed that we
had been long enough in the kitchen, and that I had a number
of pictures in the drawing-rooms above, which I was desirous
she should see. We therefore ascended through the always
dark stair-case passage, and entered the drawing-room. I
attempted to direct her attention to several pictures, but in
her imagination she ran across the room to the centre-table,
standing in one corner, expressing her admiration of the
books with which it was covered. She glanced at several,
speaking of the beautiful pictures with which they were filled.
With one of them she seemed to be most of all pleased. 1
asked her what it was. She replied “ Ill—illustrations of the
Bible.” I had not thought of the table or books until she
thus called my attention to them. “1I saw just such a one
the other day,” she said, “at Mr. Farley's in Providence,
only the cover of that was brown, and this is green.” Mrs.
Hopkins here informed me that it was so—she had seen, at
the house of the Rev. Mr. Farley, while in the state of mag-
netic slumber, a copy of the work she was now examining.
which that gentleman, it was ascertained, did actually pos-
sess. I knew that the Bible Illustrations, with a heap of
other literary and pictorial volumes, were lying upon the
table in question, and I knew that we /iad possessed one with
agreen cover. One of the two, however, had been presented
to a friend—but of which color I knew not. On returning
home, I found that she was in error with regard to the cover
—it being brown instead of green. But by the side of it, lay
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picture. She immediately became pensive, and affected as
before. The experiment was repeated several times, until,
in contemplating the upper picture, she sobbed and wept.
“Well,” said I, “if that picture affects you so much, Miss
Brackett, you need look at it no more. I have here a picture,
in this drawer, which I prize highly, and will show it you.”
Saying which, I opened the drawer, and handed her the pic-
ture. She (in imagination, of course,) took the picture, and
observed in a whisper, as if talking to herself, “oh, it's a
miniature.” I asked her what she thought of it? She re-
plied it was very beautiful—but would not describe it, for
the reasons I have already several times mentioned.

I now requested Dr. Capron to take her from me, and re-
sume his sway over her for the purpose of the suggested
cross-examination through him as to what she had seen.
He took her by the hand, and the following scene ensued :—

“ Ah, Loraina, are you here?”

“Why, Doctor, how do you do? When did you come
from Providence?”

“I have just arrived.”

“I am glad to see you.”

“And I am very glad to see you. When did you come to
New-York?”

I forget the reply to this question. The conversation,
however, was upon the common topics which would be nat-
wrally suggested by an actual meeting of friends, under the
crcumstances imagined. The Doctor continued:

“How have you been engaged since you came to New-
York? Have you seen any thing?”

“Oh yes. Mr. Stone has been taking a walk with me,
and shown me a great many things.” She then informed
him, in answer to questions, of her walk through Broadway
—mentioned the lions—the Astor House—and other mat-
ters, not necessary to be repeated for the purpose of this nar-
rative. Doctor Capron continued:

“Well, Loraina, when Mr. Stone was in Providence, a
few days since, he spoke to me of some pictures which he
prizes highly. Did you see any of them?”

“Oh yes. I went to his house and saw a great many.
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Stone told me he had several in his library, upon which he
set a high value. Did you see them?”

& Yes"’

* What were they?”

Here she again became affected, as she replied—* One of
them was Christ in his agony, with a Crown of Thorns!”

This reply was astounding. The picture is an admirable
copy of the Ecce Homo by Guido. It had only been sent home
a week before, and I had cautiously avoided mentioning it to
my most intimate friends present at this extraordinary inter-
view. until she thus proclaimed it.

* What other picture did you see in the library?”

“ There was a portrait of an Indian Chief.”

This was another wonderful reply. The picture is an
admirable copy, by Catlin, of a capital portrait of Brant, the
Great Mohawk Warrior, which has recently been procured,
to be engraved for the forthcoming life of that celebrated
chieftain.

“How was he dressed?”

“Why, I can hardly describe it. His head was shaved,
and I don’t know exactly whether there was any hair left on
or not. There was something on the top, but I could
scarcely tell whether it was hair.”

This description was very accurate. The knot on the
crown is the scalp-lock: and the wgr-pain't around it, and
something like a ribbon tying it. would render it doubtful to
a superficial observer, unacquainted with Indian customs
and costumes, whether there was any hair there or not.

“Was there no other picture in the library? "

* Oh yes: he took out of a drawer, a miniature.”

“Did it resemble the large picture?”

“I thought it did, somewhat.”

[I believe I had put this question to her when she was
under my control.]

“How was it dressed?”

“It was a very handsome picture, and had a cap and
plumes.” ‘

This was another wonderful reply. The picture in ques-
tion is a very beautiful miniature likeness of Brant, com-
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“ Then I should advise them to tear away these old pews,
and build new and better ones.’

Now, it happens to be a fact, that the pews in this church
are just the worst looking, and most inconvenient, in the
city.

“ How do you like the pulpit?”

“T think it wants new drapery; only see how old it looks.
The cushion where they lay the Bible is quite threadbare.”

I have examined these draperies since my return, and
should advise the vestry of that church to take the hint of the
somnoloquist. The cushion is not exactly “ threadbare,” but
the drapery of both the pulpit and the desk needs renewal.

I asked her to look beyond the pulpit, and examine the
sculpture. She did so, and was deeply interested. But she
did not describe it. I asked her which figure she liked best?
She answered the standing figure. I inquired whether she
understood the design of the figure? She said she did. I
am not certain whether I told her that it was a monumental
structure, but I think I did say that the standing figure was
a personification of Religion. However, she gave no evi-
dence that she fully comprehended the work. I asked her
how she liked the lights behind? She replied very well, and
added that she had never seen the light let in in that way
before.

On leaving .the church, I suddenly remarked—‘ why,
Miss Brackett, after all, I omitted one thing at my house,
which I very much desire you should see. In our little base-
ment room—the little snuggery where we breakfast—I have
two pictures—one very curious, which you must see. Will
vou walk back with me, and look at it? She replied in the
affirmative, and I immediately added—* well, here we are.”
“That’s likely,” said she, p]ayfully,——‘ vou have got there
before I have started!” “Very true,” cald I, “but T will
come back and walk with you.” * * “ Now,

Miss Brackett, we are here at all events.”

“And is this your family breakfast-room? "

“It is.”

“It is a nice little place.”
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open the letter or to read it without opening, with human
eyes, was impossible. After my return to the city, viz. on
Wednesday, Aug. 3oth, I addressed a letter to Mr. Covell, to
ascertain whether the reading of the blind somnambulist was
correct. The following is his reply: *

“TROY, September 1, 1837.
“ Dear Sir,

“Your’s of yesterday I received by this morning’s mail,
and as to your inquiry relative to the package submitted to
Miss B. while under the magnetic influence. I have to say
the package came to hand yesterday. The sentence had been
written by a friend, and sealed by him at my request, and in
such a manner as was supposed could not have been read by
any human device without breaking the seal. We think the
seals have not been broken until returned. The sentence as
read by Miss B. is:—“No other than the eye of Omnipotence can
read this in this envelopement—1837.” And as written in the
original, on a card, and another card placed on the face of the
writing, and enclosed in a thick blue paper, was:—*“No other
than the eye of Omnipotence can read this sentence in this envelope.
—Troy, New-York, Aug. 1837.”

“ Respectfully yours, &c.
“STEPHEN COVELL.”
“William L. Stone, Esq.”

I also left a note, hastily prepared, for the blind lady to
read, the contents of which were known only to myself. It
was carefully folded, so as to preclude the possibility of read-
ing it, by the natural sight, without opening, and sealed with
seven wafers and two seals of wax, with my own private sig-
net. By the mail of the following Saturday I received the
letter ; the seals were unbroken, and exactly in the condition I
had left them, with the answer written on the outside, in the
hand-writing of the friend who had assisted me in obtaining
the interview, which answer is correct, as far as it goes. I
have already remarked, that I was in great haste at the time
of preparing the note, yet I was determined to leave some-
thing so much out of the ordinary track as to puzzle the lady
if possible. Accordingly. having the odd title of a queer old
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tions of individuals, in consequence of a recent and very
partial and imperfect publication, announcing my visit to
Providence and the experiments of the sealed letters. The
“Chronicle of the Church,” published at New-Haven, has
arraigned me with grave severity as a convert to ‘“ humbug-
gery and mystification,” and as an easy dupe in respect to
transactions “ bearing upon their face the impress of gross
imposition.”  Other journalists have freely applied the
phrase, more expressive by far than elegant, that I have been
“outrageously humbugged.” Others, again, have plied me
alternately with raillery and grave rebuke. Well—be it so.
However well stored may be their quivers, and however thick
and fast their missiles may hurtle through the air, I should
feel myself but a sorry knight of the quill, to complain at re-
ceiving back a small portion of the change of which I have
dispensed so much, though I should be pierced like another
St. Sebastian. If I am correctly informed, the editor of the
Church Chronicle will soon find a far abler exponent of the
mysterious principle the existence of which he decries, than I
can ever hope to be, in the Bishop of his own diocese. Still,
whether that distinguished prelate should take the field or
not, the facts recorded in this communication remain the
same. Meantime your own reading must have taught you,
that neither theories nor principles are the less philosophical
or the less true, because of unbelief or ridicule. The original
projector of the employment of steam for the movement of
machinery, was denounced as a lunatic for the suggestion,
and confined as a madman for persistence in his folly. Gali-
leo was twice imprisoned in the dungeons of the Inquisition,
by the learned doctors of Rome, for opposing the astronom-
ical theories of Aristotle, and asserting, with Copernicus, that
the sun remains stationary in the centre of the universe, while
the earth revolves around it in annual and diurnal motions.
And in your own profession, you cannot be ignorant of the
persecution of Harvey, the great medical revolutionist, who
discovered the circulation of the blood; or of the fact that
Jenner was at first denounced as a quack, for a discovery
which has constituted him one of the greatest benefactors of
modern times.
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case was very remarkable, and the circumstances created a
deep sensation when they transpired in Providence—sup-
ported, as they were, by the testimony of so able and exem-
plary a physician as Dr. Brownell.

In regard to the imputation, that a gross imposture has
been played off upon me. I will not detain you by its refuta-
tion. I have already said, repeatedly, that the character of
all the parties to the interview forbids the idea of fraud. col-
lusion, or imposture. It surely will not be contended that I
shall prove what I saw and assisted in performing. The
strongest evidence possible, and the meost convincing to an
individual. is that of his own senses. ‘ When awake, and in
our perfect mind,” says Dr. Beattie, “ we never mistake a
reality for a dream. Realities are perceived intuitively. e
cannot prove by argument, that we are now awake. for we
know of nothing more evident to prove it by: and it is essen-
tial to every proof to be clearer than that which is to be
proved.” * I will not. therefore, distrust the evidence of my
own senses, where all the circumstances were such as to
render deception impossible. The weight of other testimony
depends upon the character of the witnesses for truth and
veracity, and their means of knowledge of the facts related,
and their exemption from such interests and motives as might
sway them from the truth. These are the important attri-
butes of evidence; and witnesses sustaining such a character,
are entitled to full credit. Such was the character of the
parties with whom I was in communication during my visit
to Miss Brackett. \What I saw, I know to be true; and what
was told to me as truth by Dr. Capron, Miss Brackett, and
those of her friends with whom I conversed, I as fully believe.

There are those who disbelieve in the principle of Animal
Magnetism altogether. and who would not believe though
one rose from the dead. They contend that the whole thing
is morally and physically impossible. T'here are others who
are incredulous because the experiments are not attended by
uniform success. Such is, doubtless. the fact. as the mag-
netisers admit, for causes assigned which are abundantly suf-
ficient. There is yet another class, who are not only disbe-

* Elements of Moral Science, Sec. viii, p. 156.







Animal Magnetism. 119

And is it any more unphilosophical to believe in the activity
of the human soul during the suspension of the external
senses by that species of slumber, equally peculiar and pro-
found, produced by the magnetical influence, the existence of
which, to a greater or less degree, I take it for granted can
no longer be denied by any one? We know that somnam-
bulism, or the faculty of locomotion, of speaking, of holding
conversations with others, and even of sustaining an argu-
ment, does exist. Of this fact, the Rev. Mr. Finney, whom
you probably know, affords a striking example. Why, then,
should we deny the possibility of the unusual physiological
phenomena attributed to the influences of Animal Magnet-
ism, acting upon persons of peculiar nervous susceptibilities?
Why deny to the soul the faculty of recognizing external
objects through unusual ways, without the help of the senses,
and of annihilating time and space in its movements? Or
why deny to the etherial spirit, when in such a state, the
power of visiting, in its imagination, other climes and other
spheres, for its amusement, its wonder, or its instruction? Is
it more wonderful than the trance of Tennant, whose spirit,
without controversy, did thus leave its tenement of clay, and
behold things more glorious than that holy man dared to de-
scribe? But I am transcending the purpose of this com-
munication, and will forbear.

After all, my dear Sir, I am not without apprehension
that you may yet inquire of me, what is my own belief upon
the subject? The question would be a poser. I cannot
deny the evidence of my own senses, and therefore I must
believe in something. But how much to believe, or what, I
am puzzled to tell. Fraud, deception, imposture, I once
more repeat, in the matters I have related, were entirely out
of the question. On the whole, therefore, I must end as I
began, by quoting the sage conclusion of Hamlet, albeit his
brains were zig-zag, that there are more things in heaven and
earth than are dreamed of in our philosophy.

I am, with respect, &c. &c.
WILLIAM L. STONE.
To Doct. Amariah Brigham, ). D.
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in two, after which the hand reached forth and gave the two
rumpled pieces to Capt. Toppelius, who handed them to the
medium. The medium held the paper between her hands—
the pencil had not been returned—when the same luminous
arm was again lowered, with the same extreme deliberation,
and again snatched the paper and bore it into the cabinet.
We at once heard the noise of a pencil writing rapidly and in
another moment the hand brought back the paper. The
nearest person, Mr. Toppelius, took it and started again to
hand it to the medium, when the hand, (the arm as well and
part of a body becoming visible,) forbade him to do so by a
gesture of command, seized the paper and returned it to Mr.
Toppelius, placing it against his chest. We then compre-
hended that the words written thereon were addressed to
Capt. Toppelius. [After the séance, we were allowed to
read them; they were as follows:—* Jag skal hjalpa dig ! "—
“T will aid thee.” They were written in Swedish, in a very
clear hand.] There was neither chair nor table in the cabinet,
on which to write. All this occurred very quickly, but so
openly that every detail could be seen by all. During all the
time it was taking place, I saw the medium very plainly. She
spoke at times. She told Mr. Toppelius to put the paper in
his pocket and read it later, while the spirit was still visible.

From all this, I was forced to draw the conclusion that, in
the cabinet, two hands at least were at work with psychic
force and with definite purpose. The hands could not belong
to the medium. They must belong to a figure which stood
beside and behind the medium, who was seated, whose hands
and body I saw all the time, and whom I heard utter an ex-
clamation of surprise—an ‘“ Oh !”—when the paper was
snatched.

I afterward made sure, by comparing notes with others,
that, while waiting for fresh manifestations, which dragged a
little, the medium joined both her hands behind her head, as
she had done before the séance. While she was in this posi-
tion, it struck me as unfortunate that she was overtired to
such an extent from her journey and I ardently hoped that
persons sitting further from her than I was would not misin-
terpret this putting of her hands behind her neck, and her
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Once she bent forward as one does when suffering sharp
pain. Her body was then in the position of one who, while
seated, crosses her hands upon her lap and leans far forward.
At that time she was in front of the back of the chair. She
could not have been behind it; the back of the chair would
have made it impossible for her to occupy the position I have
described. The medium’s skirts remained extended, as they
had been during the entire séance, and sloped toward her
feet. They seemed to lie more flat after they had been
pressed down by the spectators.

Someone in the circle proposed that we should close the
séance the moment that it proved trying to the strength of
the medium, but she opposed this proposition and requested
that the sitting should be continued until her limbs were re-
stored. We therefore went on with the séance and I kept
my eyes intently fixed upon the lower part of the medium's
body, in order to observe the restoration of her members.
Without my having seen the least movements of her skirts,
I heard the medium say: * I am better, already,” and a few
moments later, she cried brightly, ** Here they are !” As
for the folds of her skirt, I saw them, so to speak, fill out; and,
without my knowing how, the tips of her feet re-appeared.
crossed, as they had been before the manifestation.

While the manifestation lasted, the attention of all was
attracted to the medium. Conversation was interrupted, as
well with Madam d'Esperance as between the members of
the circle. We moved about, changed places. and even
walked around the room, etc.

After the end of the phenomenon, the cabinet was moved
from its place. T'he medium pushed her chair forward, fear-
ing that the cabinet would fall upon her. \While the medium
was thus seated at a distance from it, and while I distinctly
saw both her hands and her feet, the cabinet moved from its
place several times.

At one particular time, in order to assure myself that I
was in my right senses while making the observations I have
just given, I tried to withdraw my thoughts from what was
taking place around me, and to fix them upon something in-
different. and disconnected with the <fance. I wished to ¢
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seen it, because I fixed my eyes upon the place where the feet
should re-appear and never took them off it, on purpose to
see how it happened and whether it was accompanied by any
motion of her body or not.” *

In a supplementary letter, Miss Hjelt adds:—

1. ‘At the last séance, the distance between the medium
and myself was about three feet; but when I leaned forward,
as I constantly did, the better to observe, the distance was
hardly more than half a foot.”

1. ‘At the time of the dematerialization of the medium,
I was naturally not in a position to give any attention to the
manner in which it happened. But the medium made no
sort of movement with her feet, either forward or sideways. '
I could not have helped noticing it if she had done so, for I
was but a few fingers’ lengths away, and kept my eyes fixedly
upon her feet.” ’

3. ‘““ After the gentlemen had examined the chair and
vouched for the dematerialization, I resolved to watch care-
fully how and whence the feet re-appeared.

I should state that I also watched for anything that might
come from the cabinet, on either side of the chair on which
the medium was seated. I do not know why I said that her
feet re-appeared with a somewhat violent motion,} perhaps
I referred to some other movement of the medium. I was
expecting it, and watched the medium very narrowly and
carefully, that I might be able to form an opinion as to how
it occurred. But I did not detect any motion of the lower
part of her body, and everything happened as I have re-
lated it.”

So much for Miss Hjelt’s testimony; we now turn to the
others, from which I can only give extracts, for want of
space.

Capt. Toppelius, it will be noticed, is very reticent in his
opinions as to this phenomenon. The only remark of interest
he makes being the following :—

* One is here reminded of the saying “ Hermann the Great” was so fond
of, viz, “The closer you look, the less you see!”—H. C.

t Miss Hjelt had not so stated in any of her former letters. Some ex-
pression of hers must have been mis-quoted to her.—Translator.
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of her limbs, or did she put your hand, directly, upon the
chair without saying anything? (I ask this in®view of a
possible claim that it was a case of suggested hallucination.)

4th. When you passed your hand over the chair, did
you plainly see the upper part of her body, the hands and
the head, and did you talk to her?

-5th. You say: “She passed my hand all over the chair.”
This is a very important particular, for it might be said that
Madam d’Esperance had disposed her limbs so cleverly that
her skirt would lie flat on one side of the chair, and hang
vertically. Therefore the whole question amounts to this:
did you feel the entire seat, cven to the back of the chair, and did
your hand penctrate bencath the upper part of the medium’s
body ? ™

(The remaining four questions are here omitted, being
either comparatively unimportant, or discussed at length
later on.)

Prof. Seiling’s reply to this letter js of very great interest

and does, as I hope to show later, prove of the “very first im-
portance” to an understanding of—_ihe fraudulent methods
pursued byMadam d’Esperance.

Here is Prof. Seiling’s reply :—

“ Questions 1and 2. 1 have en deg . ored to answer these by
the enclosed sketches. I attach ,; v pery greatest importance
to questions of measure. As you "Vl‘(lzl Lobserve, the lower part
of the back of the chair is open. »1\1 upper part of the me-
dium’s body was not always uprig he s it is show™: but was
bent forward from time to time, \]t‘ a.,]] . during the exam-
ination of the back of the chair 1. P€S4Y "~ ., And just

i 2} those prese impossible
here I wish to note the fact that it e been 1P
for the upper part of her hody, 5. ‘vould hav and as 1 care-
iully observed it (both Side\\"z'l\- :" 1t js drawn, , in front),
to have occupied the natural D'Q\\ _and, later, persony if
the lower part of the body hag “‘tion of a .Scﬂ ind, or at
the side af, the chaijr.” deen standing
Question 3. My expectation pen \ladam
: AU wh jve me
d’Esperance called me to her a \ A ,lr(,usc‘] g ve
vour hand and feel of the cha; ht] S ’!Ot oMy Scfl"a e
felt of it that I understood -} "‘\ >, Said. T oot
1‘1 vas 1n fer (4
T It v g 1€

tec
heh
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The cabinet was not placed directly against the wall,
because there was a pier-glass there, mounted on a bracket.
.. The width, depth, and height of the cabinet

were, respectively 47 inches x 24 in. x 69 in. There was
nothing inside it. . . . . All the dimensions of the room

and furniture are drawn in exact proportion, upon the scale
indicated.” :
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DINING TABLE.
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PARLOR

BUFFET.

B KITCHEN. Loceo ooon %

1. Capt. Toppelius. 9. Miss Toppelius.

2. Madam Seiling. 10. Genl. Sederholm.

3. Mr. Lonnbom. 1. Miss C. Toppelius.

4+ Miss Hjelt. 12. Dr. Hertzberg.

5. Genl Galindo. 13. Mr. Schoultz.

6. Madam Toppelius. 14. Miss Tavaststjerna.

7. Genl. Toppelius. 15. Prof. Seiling.

8 Mr. Boldt. 16. Madam d’Esperance.

REPORT.
The séance commenced at a quarter to eight, and ended

about a quarter past ten o'clock. . . . . Two-thirds of

the time which the séance lasted was occupied in singing
well-known airs.
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“ I still owe you explanations upon two points. The first
refers to the manner in which I took the hand. Both times,
it was indubitably a right hand—1 ‘ shook hands,’ as you sug-
gest in your letter; and as this can only be done with two
right hands (or two left hands). there can not be the slight-
est question upon this point. It is absolute demonstration, as
strong as you could wish it. Nevertheless, the manner of
the two *hand-shakings” was very different. The first
time, the grasp was like that of one who is utterly indifferent:
the second time, it was emphatically cordial.”

The only points of interest in Miss Tavaststjerna’s testi-
mony are the following:

“ During all this time (the materialization of hands, etc.) I
saw the medium quietly seated in her chair, within a foot of
my own. I should also state that both the hands that I clasped,
besides being on the left of the medium and quite high up be-
tween the curtains, were right hands.  'This absolutely proves
that neither was the medium’s hand.”

And a little further on:

* Then I saw her raise both her hands, or wave them sev-
eral times. and I must confess that this aroused my suspi-
cious * * * [In order to see better. I leaned forward and
watched her thus, at close quarters. At this instant I heard
her say to Prof. Seiling, ‘‘come and feel of my chair,” * *
etc.”

Dr. Hertzberg says that he “ did not examine closely into
the occurrences of this particular séance, and therefore can-
not speak of them more positively.”

Two interesting points in his letter, however, are as fol-
lows:

“ She seemed to lean heavily upon her hand, for the arm
trembled as if with effort. An instant later, she suddenly
seized my hand with both hers. I had rested this hand
upon the cushion of the chair. and I now felt the cushion
moved as when one sits down heavily. Very soon after-
wards, she told me to feel the chair, and I found that her
limbs were restored.”

Of the above. we shall have occasion to speak later.

Next folows the testimony of Mr. Schoultz, which is of
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partially concealed her from those on the side opposite mine.
* * * ]think I was the second person that approached
and examined the medium. She took both my hands in hers,
placed them one above the other, and pressed them several -
times against the cushion of the chair, asking me what I felt.
‘Only a dress, upon the seat,” I replied.  After that, she
pushed me aside, without allowing the least investigation.
and someone else took my place. A moment later, I saw
‘the medium move softly, although I can not affirm that she
arose; but I observed that she did something with her hands
"around her waist, as though she was arranging some part of
her dress.  After this, she said, ‘I have my limbs again,” and
thereupon the séance ended. During the dematerialization
of the medium, there were no materializations or spirit-forms.
Thus ended this séance which, unhappily, proved so unequal
to my expectation.” '

The above mentioned four—those who returned the coun-
ter testimony—replied that the movements could not have es-
caped them, especially the act of rising. I hope to show
later that it was not necessary for the medium to rise, in fact
the probability is that she did not; but with regard to the
other movements, the testimony of what one man did see
is certainly better than that of any number who did not.
One positive instance (as we are always having forced upon
us), being better than any number of negative ones!

The only remaining testimony is that of Gen. Sederholm;
the important passage in his letter being:—

“ Those who examined the chair, found that it was empty,
and that there was no body beneath the dress. - How explain
this miracle of a human being, without body or limbs, float-
ing, as it were, in the air; vet speaking and taking the hand
of those who examined the chair? Very easily. If you, my
reader, will put on a blouse and stand behind a chair, as
Madam d’Esperance then did. covering its back with your
dress and skirts, you will work the same miracle; for those
who examine the chair with their hands—in the dark, of
course,—will find only your dress and skirts upon it. But
where is your body? It has disappeared; it is dematerial-
ized.”












*“ Dematerialization.” 155

and marked enough for her to have produced the manifésta-
tions described, without our going beyond the bounds of
rational scepticism. This is what we find in examining the
testimony of the various witnesses:—

(1) Miss Hjelt is positive that no movements of a sus-
picious nature occurred; that is, she personally saw none.

(2) Capt. Toppelius makes no mention of this part of the
séance, but confines himself to the dematerilization entirely.

(3) Prof. Seiling makes no mention of the early part of
the séance in his first two letters, and only does so in a third
report, written five weeks after the séance took place, and after
repeated questions and suggestions from M. Aksakof. It must be
admitted, therefore, that this lengthy period could afford
ample opportunity for the minor details of the séance to as-
sume undue prominence, this elaborating process and un-
conscious adjustment of details and evidential points being
well known to anyone who has followed the vast literature
on the subject accumulated here of late years. We have
striking examples of the unconscious warping of testi-
mony; a very ordinary experience finally becoming a regular
“ magazine ghost ’—exact death coincidence, enacted trag-
edy, annual appearance, discovery of bones, et hoc genus omne.
The result of this preamble is that we must considerably dis-
count Prof. Seiling's later testimony—especially so as it will
be noticed that at ezery additional report the phenomenon appears
to grow more wonderful and inexplicabie by ordinary analogies.
The conclusion we are forced to draw is obvious. But even
here there is very little that cannot be explained as the result
of trickery. The principal point made is this:—

“A hand was shown in the opening of the curtain, at the
right side of the cabinet and at the left of the medium. This
hand came and went, disappeared and returned again and
again. [ took it, and so did both my nearest neighbors; it was of
medium size, bare and warm; and was a right hand. It was
impossible, therefore, that it could be the medium’s hand, for
we could see her seated and motionless in her chair.”

The rest of the testimony is practically worthless from an
evidential point of view, Prof. Seiling writing :—

“ Several times, there were two and even three [hands
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repeatedly extended from the cabinet; it touched the shoul-
ders and heads of those nearest. The total width of the cab-
inet was [not quite two yards]. If placed in the centre of the
cabinet, therefore, Madam d'Esperance could, by extending
her arms behind the dark curtain, have touched her nearest
neighbor without showing the white of her arm.”

(10) The remaining testimonies, which are no testimo-
nies at all, need not detain us.

Now, if we examine the above evidence, we find :—

(@) That never more than one hand appeared at once—
that anyone will positively testify to.

(b) That this hand is invariably a woman’s hand; being
described as “ warm ” and *‘ soft,” and giving a ‘‘ gentle pres-
sure.” (The statement that different sized hands were seen
need not detain us, as this can easily be simulated in the dark
by merely holding the hand in different positions.)

(¢) The “ tall, luminous figure,” mentioned by Miss Hjelt
and Miss Tavaststjerna (only), is described in each case as
motionless. It was visible but a few moments, and then dis-
appeared into the cabinet. ‘'The arm that extended and
snatched the paper from the medium’s lap appeared after the
figure had vanished. It will he remembered that Miss Hjelt
said:

“oo. it (the figure) retreated to the cabinet, and
drew the curtain behind it; at last, and suddenly, it thrust
forth its arm and snatched the sheet.”

It may, therefore, be conjectured that the medium draped
one arm to represent the above figure, letting the material
hang down to form the “ dress” of the spirit. No mention
is made of the slightest recognition of the * spirit form” by
any person present: the most definite description being that
it was a “ tall, luminous figure.”

To support the above theory, I bring forward the follow-
ing facts:—

(1) That the figure was absolutely unrecognized; the in-
vestigators being unable to tell even if it were intended to
represent a man or a woman.

(2) That the medium was not searched, nor was she sub-
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be about thirty inches—a comparatively easy stretch for a
lithe woman to make, without the necessity of rising in her
chair at all; a mere turn of the shoulders would suffice.

Here, then, our examination of the first part of the séance
ends. We find that all the manifestations witnessed, so far
as we have gone, contain nothing in the way of direct proof;
the possibility of fraud being present throughout; and that
the entire séance thus far, can readily be explained as simple
trickery on the medium’s part, without recourse to any su-
pernormal or “ far-fetched ” explanation whatever.

2. We now come to an examination of the second part
of the séance—that for which it is now famous—z1z., the de-
materialization of the medium’s body.

In reading over the accounts of this apparently miracu-
lous phenomenon, I was at once struck with the possibility
of fraud; the one and only loophole for trickery being, for
some unaccountable reason, absolutely overlooked by every-
one present, including M. Aksakof himself, whén he after-
wards conducted his “ personal investigation” of this sé-
ance. The reason for this it is hard to find, except, perhaps,

on the ground that “ . . . the most cautious men, and
even those trained to observation in the exact sciences, may
see things awry, when spiritualism is concerned——"" as

Mons. Aksakof himself says.

Let us examine the testimony as brought forward, and
endeavor to see where the flaw lies, and in what way the
simple process of trickery, here described, was overlboked.
That the medium’s legs were not on the chair seems clearly
established, as Prof. Seiling, Capt. Toppelius, Dr. Hertzberg,
Mr. Schoultz and Mr. Boldt all testify that thev felt the
entire seat of the medium’s chair, and that it was completely
empty, save for the skirt Madam d’Esperance was wearing.
There can be no reasonable doubt that every part of the seat
was felt, too; as, although Mr. Boldt stated that he was “ not
permitted to examine the entire seat of the chair on that oc-
casion,” Prof. Seiling emphatically declares that he felt “all
over it, even under the trunk of the medium’s body. The
hypothesis that she had drawn back her limbs is absolutely
exploded.” It seems clear from this, therefore, that the
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upwards and backwards, and thrust through the back of her

chasr, the lower part of which was open, thus forcing her into

a kneeling position, as it were; her body divided into two
portions:—one (the trunk)
being in its natural position,
but the lower part (the legs)
being behind the chair, and hid-
den by the seat, and her skirt
stretched thereon. To make
my meaning clearer, I here ap-
pend a sketch, indicating the
position of the medium’s body,
after the feat was acconi-
plished.

To show that the chair would allow of this being done, I
have reproduced the sketch sent to M. Aksakof by Prof. Seil-
ing, and with the following remarks:—

“ I attach the very greatest importance to questions of meas-
ure. As you will observe, the lower part of the back of the chair
is open.* 'The upper part of the medium’s body was not al-
ways upright, as it is drawn, but was bent forward, from time
to time, especially during the examination of the back of the
chair by those present.”

This opening in the chair measured roughly 7% x 11}%
inches—ample room for the medium to slip her legs through,
as far as the hips, which would be all that was necessary for
the successful performance of this “ test.”

Having progressed thus far in our inquiry, two principal
questions at once present themselves to the reader:—

1. Is it physically possible for the medium to thus manipu-
late her body without rising from the chair? and,

2. If so, why was this part of her body not noticed?

1. To demonstrate the possibility of this being performed.
the writer experimented upon himself, with the result that
he found it comparatively easy to reproduce this part of the
manifestation without rising in his chair more than three or
four inches,—which difference could easily be hidden by a
" *The italics are mine. H. C.
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as, of course, the latter is simply a reversal of the former
trick. But to sustain this position, considerable muscular
effort is necessary, and one or both arms would probably be
employed to keep the body in an upright position. Did this
happen? I turn to the testimony of Dr. Hertzberg. He
writes (quite unsuspectingly )— She seemed to lean heavily
upon her hand, for the arm trembled as if with the effort.”
And later (when the medium returned to her original posi-
tion on the chair), Dr. Iertzberg noticed that * she suddenly
seized my hand with both hers. I had rested this hand upon
the cushion of the chair, and I now felt the cushion moved
as when one sits down heavily. Very soon afterwards, she
told me to feel of the chair, and I found that her limbs were
restored.”

Before closing this part of our inquiry, one or two more
points may be of assistance in successfully clearing up this
manifestation. I take them in order:—

1. Where were the medium’s undergarments?

Prof. Seiling writes:—* One thing struck me afterwards,
when I had time to weigh all the circumstances, and that is
that while examining the seat I seemed to feel only the dress,
which was of fine woollen cloth, without feeling any garment
beneath it. In other words, if I am not mistaken, all the un-
dergarments were dematerialized as well as her body.”

The explanation of this peculiar fact, I leave to my reader.

2. Did anyone sce wwhen or how the limbs dematerialized, and
were restored?

Miss Hjelt, who claims to have seen eyerything that there
was to see, writes “ . . . . <without my knowing how, the
tips of her feet re-appeared, crossed. as they had been before
the manifestation.”

3. Were the investigators allowed to cxamime the medium and
her chair freely and unreservedly, or were their hands only guided by
the medium, and solely in the directions in which she wished them
to examime? '

In answer to this all-important point; I adduce the testi-
mony of the five witnesses who were allowed to examine the
seat of the medium’s chair.

(a) Capt. Toppelius.
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question, and the details cannot be demonstrated to a nicety,
as they could in the former question.

Briefly to sum up, however, the principal reasons for the
non-observation of the limbs seem to be as follows:—

(1) On account of the feeble light that was allowed.

(2) Because the chair was placed against the cabinet, and
alimost touching it, so that the medium’s limbs could easily be
introduced into the cabinet under cover of the curtains, and
effectually concealed by them.

(3) Because nobody either suspected the medium of this
sleight, nor did they even think of looking behind the chair!

(4) Another reason is that the medium allowed but a mo-
mentary examination; and during that brief period the in-
vestigators would—very naturally—Dbe satisfying themselves
that the chair was really empty: as soon as this was accom-
plished, the medium pushed them away, and would allow
no more examination of any kind.

(5) That the phenomenon being so absolutely unex-
pected, no one was in a fit condition to examine critically and
unreservedly, what was actually witnessed.

Of these five reasons, the fifth cannot be absolutely proved
from existing testimony : being purely a subjective condition,
but one that we are bound to infer from the general tone of
the reports, and from occasional remarks let fall.

For instance :—Prof. Seiling writes, *“ That, in spite of all,
Madam d’Esperance might have moved, is possible; for no
one anticipated the occurrence of any such phenomenon.”

Madam Seiling also states that, “ as I was not at all pre-
pared for the partial dematerialization of the medium, I did
not observe the disappearance of her limbs."

Reason four we have, I venture to think, sufficiently
proved already.

The remaining three reasons are very important ones,
and we must consider and examine them each in turn.

1. Firstly, as to the amount of light.

(a) Miss Hjelt declares that she *“ could see the entire
form of the medium distinctly, as well as the outline of her
hands, defined against her light-colored gown. As for the
features of her face and her coiffure, it Wwas difficult for me to
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tains, she herself actually kneeling right inside the cabinet.*

3. Lastly, we have the statement to confirm that “ no one
even thought of looking behind the chair.”

Of the five witnesses who were allowed to examine the
medium’s condition, four of them (Capt. Toppelius, Dr.
Hertzberg, Mr. Schoultz and Mr. Boldt), make no mention
whatever of any attempt on their part to examine anything
beyond the seat of the medium’s chair; and, indeed, they all
cmplain of being hurried through that, without sufficient
time to make a proper investigation of the conditions in-
volved.

The only remaining testimony—that of Prof. Seiling—is
entirely negative on this point; so that our hypothesis seems
to be pretty clearly established. The facts of the case are
these. When Mons. Aksakof arrived at Helingsfors, the sé-
ance was there, reproduced before him; and among the other
questions, the following conversations took place :—

*In one particular,” I said to Mr. Seiling, “ your narra-
tive is incomplete. Why did you not make sure that the
medium was not behind the chair, when you even went so
far a5 to place your hand upon the chair-back? ™

“ Such an idea never occurred to me.” replied Mr. Seiling,
**and why should I go behind the chair and look for Madam
d’Esperance, when I could see her plainly before me, seated
in the chair? You must remember that, during that time, I
gave Madam d'Esperance a drink, at her request, and that
this enabled me to satisfy myself, with still more certainty,
that she was really in the chair. For this argument, I had
no reply.”

The above clearly speaks for itself. T'he trunk of the me-
dium’s body was in its natural position, therefore the lower

* An interesting point in this connection is that Prof. Seiling, in his sup-
plementary report to M. Aksakof mentions the fact that, it should also be
remarked that, at the close of the séance, it was found that the position of the
cabinet had been changed and that it had been moved to one side, very much
as shown in the diagram. But I had already observed movements of the
cabinet, on other occasions.” By referring to the diagram, it will be seen
that in its present position the cabinet quite touches the medium’s chair, thus
making the above argument still more emphatic; while it will be noticed that
it reduces the distance which the medium would have to stretch in presenting
her right hand at the left opening of the cabinet.—H. C.
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On the other hand, the advocate of parallelism—starting
with the assumption that consciousness is not a physical
event, or at least not a mode of motion, and that the con-
servation of energy, which supposes the transfer of force or
motion from one medium to another, maintaining a general
identity of kind, represents the proper conception of *“ causal ”
action—endeavors, by this latter fact especially, to show that
consciousness cannot be produced by physical events. He
also finds, or supposes, that the unity of causation assumed in
the law of physical science will not permit us to explain or de-
duce something from that which does not in some way con-
tzin it. Hence he prefers to put up with the paradoxes of
parallelism rather. than admit the “ causal ” nexus between
the two classes of events.

The opposition between the two points of view thus
seems to be complete. One affirms and the other denies the
** causal ” nexus between the physical and the mental. The
affirmative is supposed to imply materialism and the negative
a spiritualistic theory, though there is no absolute unanimity
on this point. But after all, I think it can be shown that this
assumed opposition is either an illusion or does not have the
implications so frequently associated with it. The strength
of the assumption that the problem is simple and that there
is an irreconcilable opposition between the affirmative and
the negative of parallelism rests upon two facts: - (1) the
equivocal conception of “ cause ” in the controversy, and (2)
the hypothesis that consciousness is not a mode of motion.
Both of these facts will have to be considered in their order.
By the discussion of them I hope to show that there is abso-
lutely no excuse for the kind of controversy that prevails in
so many quarters, except as a subterfuge for evading the only
issue in which philosophy can have any real or practical in-
terest.

In regard to the first fact, the apparent opposition is con-
stituted by two wholly distinct problems, problems that are
quite as distinct in physics alone as between physics and phil-
osophy. There is nothing common in the two problems ex-
cept the word “ cause.” which I wish to show is equivocal: in
cne of the problems denoting nothing more than the causa
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the case according to the persistence of force. For instance,
if the billiard balls differ in kind the motion and the timbre,
quality and pitch, of the sound in the recipient will be differ-
ent only in certain modal aspects that do not affect the
generic nature of the motion considered as “ cause,” or its
quantitative relation to the antecedent.

This conception of * cause ™ created or substantiated a
new idea of unity in nature; namely, that of ontological
unity, in the phenomenal as well as in the substantial world.
This was the sameness of subjects and events connected in
the “ causal ”’ series, a unity that is distinct from both nomo-
logical and teleological unity, the former denoting mere uni-
formity of interaction without regard to question of quality,
and the latter a co-operative unity or action in an organic
complex whole toward a common end. The previous aetio-
genetic conception of ‘‘ cause ” had supposed nothing more
than a nomological unity, the bare fact of harmonious inter-
action, the dependence of one event upon another, or the
action of one subject upon another to initiate its activity,
whatever the view might be regarding the qualitative relation
between “cause” and effect. Metaphysical identity, how-
ever, was not suspected, or at least not proved. until the idea
of ontological or ontogenetic causation was imported into
the problem, and the conservation of energy comes in as a
mode of interpreting this relation between antecedent and
consequent in a wholly new light. After this departure from
the old view the two conceptions of the term “ cause ” remain
together to create confusion in the problems of philosophy,
but only because the parties to the controversy had to cope
with the question of materialism which would have excited
no opposition had not certain theological doctrines been en-
countered. But these, supported by the assumption that
consciousness is not a mode of motion, contrived to prevent
the victory of materialism upon the ontological conception
of causality, while this ontological idea of ““ causes” seemed
to sustain the theory that ultimately we have only one class
of phenomena to consider. To affirm the ‘ causal ” nexus,
therefore, between any set of phenomena seems under this
assumption to imply that they are all of the same kind, and
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tions which a “ causal " connection of any kind between mat-
ter and mind created, tempted all who had come to respect
methods that eschewed apriori assumptions to ally them-
selves with materialism without examining too closely the
conception upon which parallelism depended. Those, of
course, who stood Dby the traditions of Leibnitzianism, or
perhaps better, the assumptions of that philosophy, borrowed
from its Cartesian impulse, regarding the relation between
motion and consciousness, would very naturally avail them-
selves of any confession on the part of physiology that the
two had not been proved to be convertible, and go on deny-
ing materialism, while physics was establishing an outpost in
the aetiological connection between the two sets of phe-
nomena, with its possibility of an ontological nexus, if the
analogy of the physical law about the unity of the two kinds
of *“cause ™ held good in the case. Materialism had gained
one advantage in its triumph over the absurdities of pre-
established harmony by showing or supposing an aetiological
connection between material and mental, and it had only to
suppose further, either that its postulates about the unity of
this with ontological causation created a presumption against
spiritualism, or that the distinction between the two did not
alter the issue. But if parallelism be understood to deny all
“causal” connection whatsoever between physical and’
mental, whether ontogenetic or aetiogenetic, it is tolerably
clear that materialism, if any longer tenable, must revise its
conception of the relation between the two sets of phenom-
ena, and construct a theory of the dependence of conscious-
ness upon the organism which will not require any postulates
about the “causal” nexus between physical and mental
events at all. But then this denial or evasion of a *‘ causal ”
nexus between the two facts for the sake of refuting material-
ism seems to create insuperable difficulties of another kind.
in that it either necessitates a return to pure phenomenalism
or the reinstatement of the doctrine of preestablished har-
mony, a rather obsolete conception at this time of day, while
the affirmation of the nexus, on the other hand, seems to land
us in a theory which, the idealists tell us, has been exploded
long ago. Kant is supposed to have attended its last obse-






Parallelism and Materialism. 181

I am not concerned at present with the question whether
parallelism is true or false, because the distinction between
aetiogenetic and ontogenetic ““ causes ’ makes it unnecessary
to deny the doctrine of parallelism in order to escape the ab-
surdity of supposing no unity whatever between the physical
and mental worlds. But the issue is whether it is necessary
to affirm parallelism in order to escape materialism, and
whether the denial of it involves us in that theory. The lat-
ter assumption would perhaps be universally admitted.
Hence for us the first and most important question concerns
the relation between the truth of parallelism and the doctrine
of materialism, as being the only problem which need interest
philosophy when considering the connection between phys-
ical and mental phenomena. The use of parallelism to refute
materialism precipitates two questions as the issues will be
seen by those interested in the logical situation. The first is
that of the nature of materialism as a theory of mental phe-
nomena, and the second is the nature of parallelism in all its
bearings. The latter is supposed to have been defined as the
denial of the convertibility of motion into consciousness.
This may be assumed as sufficiently accurate for the present,
though it may be more critically analyzed later on in the dis-
cussion. But for the present it may be taken as representing
quite correctly the conception from which materialism is
attacked, and from the truth of which materialism is con-
cluded to be impossible. T'he nature of materialism then be-
comes the first and most important object of attention.

The definition of materialism is not so easy as it would
appear. The reason for this, however, is not the indefinite-
ness of the idea in relation to the problems that invoke gen-
eral speculative interest, but it is the relation of the concep-
tion to the doctrine of idealism that complicates definition.
There is a materialism that is supposed to be opposed to
idealism, and there is a materialism that is opposed to spirit-
ualism, and the only question is whether we are secure in the
assumption that the materialism in each case is essentially
the same. If it is, then idealism and parallelism must be the
same and each must imply the other. This consequence I
must regard as incontrovertible. But it is probably a fact
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tion for the purpose of subordinating matter to something
else, he either does not see or is unwilling to confess that his
“ spirit”’ is not distinguishable from matter. For spiritual-
istic monism, unless of the Leibnitzian form, is not in oppo-
sition to anything that has made materialism a bugbear to
most men. \What he in reality does is to deny the existence
of matter. He will not admit this accusation, because he in-
sists on his recognition of what he calls “ matter,” but on
examination this turns out to be mere sensation, and though
he does not like to admit that he accepts Berkeleianism,
nevertheless when his Kantianism is sifted down to its real
meaning, whatever he calls its, his conception is that matter
is merely a phenomenal thing and incapable of being the sub-
ject of anything, to say nothing of consciousness. That is to
say, instead of denying that consciousness is a function of
matter, he denies that there is any matter except as a
phenomenon of consciousness, whatever that may mean, and
so intends to dispose of materialism either by reversing the
point of view which materialism is supposed to assume or by
defining matter out of existence. Consequently the mate-
rialism which the idealist opposes does not have to consider

any physiological questions, and hence parallelism is not a
necessity for his case. Idealism thus stands for the theory

of point of view which maintains that all phenomena must be
gpresented in relation to consciousness as their prius, and
gterialism by opposition becomes the doctrine which as--

/35 that something called matter is the cause or ground,
su5 of mental phenomena. T'his conception is supposed

r /ﬂCIde with physiological materialism, and in so far as

o~ 7a1318uage is concerned it would appear to be correct.
s yAa<t there is no necessary connection between the ma-
7 w-hich idealism opposes and that which physiology
,/1 o> gists advocate when they advocate it at all. This
=z de clearer later on in the discussion, but for the
’/é Imay content ourselves with the assertion that the
/4/7 = terialism is not even a good scarecrow: for his
=== S S as a prius is only an eplstemologlcal prius, and
ﬁ 2 ysical one. Consciousness is of course the prius
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understanding of such a relation reduced to confusion, and
even the physical sciences brought to a condition of incompe-
tency. In other words, the facts are not intelligible without
this supposition of a ‘“causal ” nexus, and are conceived
either as the evidence of it or convertible with it. Professor
James very well summarizes these facts to show that there
must be some kind of efficacious nexus between the two, if
we are to escape the absurdities of preestablished harmony,
and I do not require to go into details.* If, then, assuming
the facts to be conclusive in favor of a ““causal” nexus of
some kind, and if parallelism must deny all such nexus, we
have a situation in which that doctrine would have to be con-
sidered as false, and the only question after that would be
whether the falsity of parallelism involved the truth of ma-
terialism. If the usual logic of the parallelist were to be
accepted this conclusion would follow. But I am refused the
right to draw it because of the distinction between aetiogen-
etic and ontogenetic ‘“ causes.”” Moreover, we can afford to
be generous, as well as just, in admitting that, when rightly
understood and defined. the parallelist is denying the onto-
genetic nexus, and may well conceive the aetiogenetic con-
nection as granted without debate, if for no other purpose
than to obtain a nomological unity in nature and in order to
escape the doctrine of preestablished harmony. But does
this affirmation of at least the aetiogenetic connection require
us to accept materialism?

This question has already been answered in the negative,
but owing to the common misunderstanding of the rights and
intentions of physiological science it is necessary*to make this
a little clearer. Perhaps also the materialist should be
warned here not to confuse aetiogenesis and ontogenesis, as
his opponents often do. In the first place, the aetiogenetic
nexus is not an affirmation of the ontogenetic, which, accord-
ing to the real intention of the parallelist, the argument for
materialism would require it to be, as is shown by the paral-
lelist’s own conception of “ cause.” In the second place, to
put the same fact in another way, if the aetiogenetic

* Mind, Vol. IV, pp. 1-22. James’ Psychology, Vol. I, Chapter V.
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denies the fact of such a connection he naturally concludes
against this theory, and all those who believe in the persist-
ency of force and yet believe in the existence of mind wel-
come this view. The force of the argument is tolerably clear.
If in the material world we find the law of ““ causation ” repre-
sented by the conservation of energy both in regard to mat-
ter and motion, and if the nature of the consequent is deter-
mined solely by the antecedent, as merely the transfer of
motion from one point to another, we can easily see what
temptation exists to reject this conception of the relation of
physical phenomena to consciousness and its implication the
moment that it is denied that consciousness is a mode of
motion. Now while it may be claimed that the truth of par-
allelism does not escape the possibility of materialism, as I
shall show later. I shall not urge this point of view at
present, but concede for the sake of argument that, once ad-
mitted, its presuppositions make a reasonable case against
materialism. But there are decided limits to the cogency of
these presuppositions, while we may have the right to call
attention to the important circumstance that parallelism is
itself a theory and not an observed fact, and hence that it
either begs the question, or obtains its cogency from the as-
sumption either that consciousness is not a mode of motion
as a known fact, or that the real or supposed inconvertibility
of physical phenomena with consciousness is a proof that the
latter is not a mode of motion. These considerations give us
three problems at this point. T'he first is whether parallelism
in any conception of it militates against materialism. The
second is whether it is the known or supposed fact that con-
sciousness is not a mode of motion which proves the incon-
vertibility of physical event with it, or whether it is the sup-
posed inconvertibility of the physical and mental that implies
the denial of consciousness being a mode of motion. That is
to say, are parallelism and the assumption that consciousness
is not a mode of motion convertible conceptions, or are they
disparate facts with reciprocal implications? The third
problem is whether this assumed inconvertibility of the two
sets of phenomena necessitates the conclusion, accepting the
postulates of physics, that consciousness is not a mode of
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or not. But certainly, if it be motion—an assumption which
I am not making at all—the conditions of materialism would
presumably be established. Here, however, I am interested
only in showing that in the absence of positive knowledge
that consciousness is not motion, the materialistic conception
enables the physiologist to insist upon judging its possibili-
ties by the known relation between aetiogenetic and onto-
genetic causes in the physical world from the inductive point
of view. This of course is not proof, but it exhibits the op-
posite conviction as an apriori supposition.

Again the dubious character of the assumption upon
which parallelism rests is confirmed by another considera-
tion. The supposition that consciousness is not a mode of
molecular motion is dependent wholly upon either or both of
two assumptions: first, the introspective capacity of con-
sciousness to determine its own nature, mediately or imme-
diately; and second the presuppositions of idealism. In re-
gard to the first of these assumptions, it is sufficient to appeal
to the illusions which have followed the universal reference
to introspective consciousness for direct judgment about the
nature of certain. well known facts. Common sense thought
that the Ptolemaic astronomy was true, and Brother Jaspar
of Richmond still believes that doctrine. T'he same type of
thought for a long time resisted the theory that light and
sound are modes of motion, and it was still longer accepting
a similar resolution of heat and electricity. I do not deny
the finality of the testimony of consciousness in regard to
facts and their occurrence, but I am raising the question
whether it may not have limitations in the determination
directly of the nature of these facts. This is nothing more
than tolerating the supposition of phenomenalism. The de-
termination of a fact is one thing, and the determination of its
nature is another, whether it be a direct or an indirect pro-
cess. But 1t is not necessary to question absolutely the
power of consciousness to introspect the nature of anything:
for it may be admitted that it directly introspects the fact of
motion of a certain kind and degree. But it does not follow
that it can do the same with all kinds or degrees of it. It
failed in the phenomena of light and sound, and might be in-
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Nor do idealistic theories help us out of the difficulty. It
can be shown that, whatever their relation to materialism,
they cannot assert parallelism without adopting dualism,
and they are far from accepting such a view of reality. They
are either (1) agnostic toward the very existence of the phys-
ical, or (2) they deny it, as in Berkeley, and adopt monism.
Matter must be an admitted fact for parallelism to stand at
all. Subjective idealism limits knowledge to mental states,
and in so doing either cuts away all ground for determining
the nature or the assured existence of matter, and so is with-
out the facts which are necessary for parallelism, or it equivo-
cates with the “ antithesis between subject and object ” and
unconsciously tends toward a monism which makes all
events, the so-called physical as well as the mental, functions
of the same subject which is the proposition of materialism.
If we know only mental states there can be either no oppo-
sition between motion and consciousness requiring a separate
subject, or there is no reason to suppose the existence of mo-
tion except as a phenomena of consciousness, and parallelism
is lost. Objective idealism is simply subjective idealism
cleared of this equivocation, and its “ identification of subject
and object,” being definitely monistic, destroys parallelism at
a blow, unless we interpret this doctrine as meaning nothing
more than the phenomenal inconvertibility of motion and
consciousness which are still conceived as functions of the
same subject. But this admission that they are functions of
the same subject is identical with the postulate of material-
ism, and unless parallelism can refute this no one cares
whether it is true or false. A truth is always valuable for
what it proves or disproves. The idealist then can hold to
parallelism only on the condition that he admit it worthless
either for the disproof of materialism, or for the support of
idealism.*

There is another way of dealing with the relation of the
assumed antithesis between motion and consciousness to the
theories of monism and idealism. The opponent of material-
ism tells us that motion and consciousness cannot be identi-

*As a gener_al corroboration of this position I may refer the reader to
Professor Bowne’s Metaphysics, p. 352.
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But let us grant that the conception of consciousness as a
mode of motion is nonsense, and hence that there is an an-
tithesis between the two, between thought and reality
whether the latter be motion or not. Let us further grant
any form of idealism and monism desired, and also the claim
of parallelism that there is no “ causal ” nexus, whether it be
aetiogenetic or ontogenetic, between what are called physical
and mental events, will this conclusion militate against the
doctrine that consciousness is a function of the brain? I
think not, and hence we may “imitate the valor of those
ancient knights who offered to joust with their antagonists
without helmets and to give them the advantage of sun and
wind,” by granting parallelism and yet deny that this doc-
trine in any form or shape in which it is held in any way in-
terferes with the supposition of materialism. This conclu-
sion can be made out as follows.

If there be any phenomena or facts of which it may be
said they are “ parallel " and between which there is said to
be no *causal” nexus, either aetiogenetic or ontogenetic,
they are the properties of matter. For instance, color and
weight are inconvertible functions or properties of matter,
and so also are weight and extension, mobility and color, and
almost any two that can be mentioned. But this inconverti-
bility does not prevent them from being functions of the same
subject, nor does it move any philosophers, idealistic or other-
wise, to extend the conception of parallelism. A wholly dif-
ferent method of inquiry from that based upon the onto-
genetic inconvertibility of functions, static or dynamic, is
necessary to prove the existence of separate subjects, and
hence, accepting the comparison here drawn, parallelism, if
true, would not stand in the way of materialism, which does
not necessarily maintain the convertibility of motion and
consciousness, but only that whether convertible or not they
are phenomena of the same subject. It will not help matters
to say that this subject is spirit, and thus try to fall into line
with the preconceptions and traditions of idealism: for in this
case parallelism has to be surrendered, because from the
idealistic point of view this doctrine would tell in favor of the
existence of matter and against its favorite monism, and then
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son for solicitude in the case is certain consequences of mate-
rialism, which in fact trouble the philosopher less than a class
of thinkers who have been made to believe in the potency of
words instead of clear thought. But what are these conse-
quences? They are (1) the materialist’s denial of the im-
mortality of the soul, and (2) the assumed contradiction be-
tween materialism and idealism, which latter theory is sup-
posed to be absolutely beyond disproof. These represent, on
the one hand, the moral and religious consequences, and on
the other, the philosophical consequences.* Both classes of
consequences should receive some attention. I shall con-
sider the latter first.

In so far as materialism and idealism are monistic theories
of phenomena they cannot be opposed to each other in all
their implications. .\s monistic doctrines they must imply
a contradiction if they refuse to recognize the same subject
for physical and mental events, no matter what it is called,
and the only question that will remain, after conceding that
this subject is called spirit, is whether it implies immortality,
which materialism is supposed to deny and spiritualism to
affirm. What the anti-materialist of the theological type
wishes to know is whether idealism supports the implication
usually associated with opposition to that dread theory, and
if it does not. he does not care anything about philosophy
whether it is true or false, and I for one must insist that phil-
osophy shall face this issue with an avowal either of its limita-
tions in the matter or its power to satisfy expectations. This
is not because I attach any importance to this expectation in
reference to philosophy. but because once raised, as it has
been by the past, we cannot make clear the true and im-
portant functions of philosophy until the nature and limita-
tions of this whole subject are thoroughly cleared up. We
have no right to allow any illusions to grow up about the
capacity of any theory to satisfy the personal interests of a

*1 have used the term “ immortality ” in this article, instead of * future
life,” in order better to retain the historical and philosophic associations
gathered about it and affecting the problems involved. In any other connec-
tion I would have used the terms “ future life ” to avoid the quibbling of many
persons about the matter of eternity which was not the primary import of
“ immortality ” at the outset of its assertion. It had a purely negative mean-
ing in its denial of materialism.
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and occasional sentences, buried in masses of conservative
phrases which have been in fact eviscerated of their old con-
tent by a variety of means. The universal disgust with
philosophy and its pretensions is caused by this very fact,
and by the subterfuges which it accepts as an escape from
plain speaking. I must repeat, however, that I am not ex-
pressing any contempt for this subject; for I hold that
philosophy has a very profound and important mission for
the world if, imitating the vigor of the ancient prophets, it
will only take mankind by the throat and shake it into some
respect for clear thinking and the regulation of political and
social morality within the limits of what can be proved. I
shall not deny a place for the ideals which seek to put limits
to the real or supposed consequences of materialism, but I
must say that philosophy should either make clear the dis-
tinction between the grounds of social and individual, ob-
jective and subjective, morality in any system whatever, or
attack the issue which keeps up the conflict between them.
It cannot talk idealism and allow the public to think it is talk-
ing morality when it is not.

Now having found that idealism affords no presumption
in favor of immortality, and that it is consistent with mate-
rialism in this respect at least, we may dismiss it from further
consideration, and the controversy will limit itself to the issue
between parallelism and materialism in respect of the ques-
tion of immortality. Supposing that there is any opposition
at all, is it absolute? If so, parallelism must affirm immor-
tality. But if it does not affirm or sustain this fact, then the
opposition does not exist in the only matter that gives ma-
terialism the slightest interest to anybody. If we defined
“ materialism ” so that it would consist with immortality, as
Tertullian did,* we should put parallelism in the uncomfort-

* Nore.—Apropos of this question a hypothetical answer to it might be
attempted from the philosophic doctrine of Tertullian. His is the doctrine
that the subject of consciousness is a material monad other than the body,
or brain in modern parlance, and conceived in this way in order to save the
theory of interaction and transmutation, and also that of immortality. He
had simply appropriated thc metaphysics of Plato and the language of Lu-
cretius, and he may equally have used occasional admissions on the part of
Lucretius that the soul was a single atom instead of the usual assumption
that it was a complex of fine atoms, perhaps like the theosophists’ theory of
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sciousness and the molecular action of the brain. But if
this denial of their convertibility does not carry with it some
implication, possibility, or probability of survival after death
most persons, whether rightly or not is not the question, will
have very little interest in the connection between physical
and mental events. It will be a problem for philosophers to
quarrel over, such as love to live in a limbo of purely formal
logic and have no bread to earn by their speculations, while
the common herd is mystified, though it is charitable enough
to suppose a great deal of wisdom where it does not under-
stand. The fact is that consciousness, for all that we know,
might be some other function of the brain than a mode of
motion, so that materialism in its main contention might
stand in spite of the denial that mental states are modes of
motion. They might not even be functions of the brain and
yet be activities of some other complex subject, as in the
Lucretian conception, whether material or immaterial, so
that parallelism, unless it affirms immortality will have a very
narrow interest for philosophy, even when true.

There are just two ways in which we may undertake to
refute Lucretian materialism, which is the only form that is
open to opposition from parallelism in any conception of the
case according to its own principle. First, we may try to
prove the fact of immortality, whatever the nature of con-
sciousness, and which would be incompatible with the sup-
position that it is a function of the brain. Second, we may
try to prove that the subject of consciousness is other than
the brain, without implying or assuming anything necessarily
about its destiny. ‘T'his latter method is that of parallelism.
But why not turn the question around and ask whether the
facts may not so strongly support materialism as to make the
falsity of parallelism an inference from the truth of material-
ism? Assuming that parallelism is wholly indifferent to the
question of immortality, it remains to know whether it is
sufficiently established, or whether when established it is ade-
quate to the disproof of any form of materialism. I have
tried to show from its apriori assumptions that it is not as
well assured as is alleged. The three assumptions upon
which it is based are: (1) The opposition between subject
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upon this assumption that it has not. I grant unequivocally
the cogency of the ad hominem argument against the materi-
alist from the inconvertibility of consciousness and motion, if
matter is not capable of other functions. But what I am sup-
posing here, at least for the sake of argument, is that mate-
rialism stands for the reduction of consciousness to a function
of the brain, and that “ function ” may be elastic enough to
include other possible activities than motion, if any limits can
be assigned to the apriori assumption that matter has none
other than motion.

In regard to the third assumption it is to be freely granted
that ‘“ common sense” seems to consider the testimony of
consciousness final in the question. But in the minds of both
idealists and of those who support parallelism * common
sense "’ is a discarded authority, while it is also to be said that
there is perhaps a universal failure to distinguish between the
authority of consciousness in regard to the fact of its exist-
ence and its authority in regard to its own nature. Its testi-
mony in regard to its existence and even in regard to the ap-
parent differences between itself and motion may be accepted,
as it perhaps is by all intelligent persons, without involv-
ing us in the acceptance of real differences, as illustrated in
the “common sense” judgment regarding the objective
nature of light, heat, sound, and electricity. Moreover, par-
allelism has to struggle with the difficulties involved in the
presumptions in favor of harmony between the aetiogenetic
and the ontogenetic nexus between phenomena, while ma-
terialism encounters no such obstacles. If the functions of
matter account for any facts at all, and the law of continuity
and the transmutation of energy consists with many differ-
ential accidents in events that are aetiogenetically connected,
the law of parsimony in scientific method, reinforced by all
that can be said or assumed in favor of monism, will make
materialism the simpler theory and puts parallelism in a
position where there are too many doubts about either its
truth, or its pertinency, if true, to accept its case against ma-
terialism, not to say anything about the freedom which
physical science can take with the inconvertibility of certain
phenomena, and still hold by its monism.
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ness, we are left to a method for determining what the facts
are and what are the necessary inferences from them.

If now we wish to test parallelism as a theory and its bear-
ing upon the real controversy between materialists and spirit-
ualists, we can examine hypothetically the results of psychical
research, and without admitting that it has accomplished or
can accomplish anything in fact.

In the first place, if its method should succeed in render-
ing probable any form of survival it would unquestionably
refute Lucretian materialism in both of its contentions;
namely, (1) that consciousness is a function of the brain, and
(2) that it does not survive the organism, the latter being a
corollary of the first. But it is most interesting to remark
that such a conclusion would decide absolutely nothing in
regard to two other questions in the contention between ma-
terialists and spiritualists: namely, (1) whether the subject
of consciousness is a material or an immaterial monad, and
(2) whether consciousness is a mode of motion or not. The
metaphysical problem would remain precisely where it is
today, unsolved and perhaps insoluble, unless scientific and
other presumptions decided the probabilities one way or the
other. But in reference to the question of parallelism, while
the survival of consciousness would show that it is not a func-
tion of the brain, motional or other kind, it would permit us
to suppose a material monad for its subject, of which con-
sciousness might be a mode of monadic motion, provided the
conception of matter were elastic enough, and thus save-the
law of continuity and the unity of aetiogenetic and onto-
genetic causes, or to suppose any other kind of subject we
pleased without exciting the misunderstanding that charac-
terizes philosophic controversy at present. I do not contend
for the truth of this kind of material monad as real, but that
it has that apriori possibility which expresses the limits of
dogmatism on the contrary side as long as science has not
empirically established the absolute equivalence between
antecedents and consequents. But survival once proved
would allow us to think as we pleased about the nature of
consciousness. \We could sustain parallelism only by deny-
ing that consciousness is a mode of motion of any kind. which
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matter is not capable of functions which are not reducible to
modes of motion, I freely grant that parallelism is just as
strong as the assumptions that consciousness is not a mode of
motion and that there is no “causal” nexus between the
physical and the mental, though disputing its pertinence to
the controversies between materialists and spiritualists.
Moreover, I am ready also to grant that I do not see how
consciousness can be made a mode of motion, as it seems
absurd to suppose it, nor do I see how we can prove that it is
not such. But the limitations of my knowledge and of the
resources of proof are no more a validation of introspective
judgment in the case than in the instances of light and sound,
and hence we may legitimately appeal to the argumentum ad
ignorantiam, not as proving my contention in palliation of the
claims of materialism and against parallelism, but as showing
averdict of “not proven” on the other side,especially that the
denial of an ontogenetic nexus between physical and mental
is not convertible with the denial of monism. The method
that determines this is that of agreement, plus the presump-
tions from the several facts admitted in the problem; namely,
the coordination of consciousness with brain action of some
kind, the demand for cosmic unity in the extension of onto-
genetic principles of explanation, the tendencies toward
monism, and a variety of other considerations equally or
more cogent. As long as matter is assumed to exist and to
explain anything at all, and as long as consciousness is found
only in connection with the brain, the law of parsimony will
decide a preference for the materialistic theory, whether con-
sciousness is or is not a mode of motion, unless the method
of difference can succeed in nullifying the application of the
law, and this is the only condition of setting it aside.

It is important to remark that I have not attempted to
prove materialism. I should perhaps even emphasize the
fact that I would not attempt to prove it. In spite of the
argument for its pretensions I am far from supposing that it
can be demonstrated. On the contrary, I believe it is abso-
lutely impossible to prove it. Absolute proof of materialism
requires us to show that consciousness is annihilated at death.
The final proof of this annihilation involves an appeal to the
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disappointed the hopes and expectations of the public, must
accept the consequences unless it can insist, as it may well do,
that the interests of thought and conduct are best served by a
frank acknowledgment of the limitations in the claims of
both spiritualism and materialism and the concentration of its
energies upon attainable objects. My purpose, therefore, is
served when I show that all these complex conceptions like .
‘ materialism,” ““ idealism,” “ parallelism,” ‘““ consciousness,’"*

* Nore.—The term “ consciousness " is connected with an interesting am-
biguity bearing upon the controversy at hand. It is sometimes used to de-
note an event or activity, and sometimes the subject whlch cannot or ought
not to be conceived as an activity at all, just as the term “mind” is often
used by empiricists to denote the unitay stream of consciousness, or “com-
posite of feelings ” instead of the subject or ground of them. ‘That is to
say, “mind” and “ consciousness” alike are made to do double duty, now
denoting a subject of action and now denoting nothing but action. his is
an inexcusable equivocation. Professor Rehmke has called attention to it
(Philosophical Review, Vol. VI, p. 450 seq.). It is stated in hlS recogmtxon
of two distinct proposmons “An_individual has consciousness,” and “An
individual is consciousness.” T. H. Creen is guilty of confusxon also on this
subject. He speaks about “an eternal consciousness ” which is “ not a series
of events,” but is the “ determmatlon of events in time by a principle that is
not in time.” Then he speaks of “a consciousness that varies from moment
to moment,” “ which is in succession,” etc. His “eternal consciousness” is
Plato’s “real,” and the * consciousness which is a function of the animal
organism ” is virtually the materialist’s function of the brain. Each is said
not to be the other, and it is distinctly implied that they are not alike in
kind. But what right have we to use the same term to describe things
which are denominated as contra(hctor\ ? It is apparent, thercfore, that the
question, whether *“ consciousness” is a mode of motion or not, depends as
much upon unraveling this equivocation as upon other problems in the use
of the term. If * consciousness ” be taken to denote the mind or subject, it
is certainly not a mode of motion, for our very conception of motion is that
it is an event occurring in something that is not an event. But conceiving it
as mere subject there is nothing determinate in that idea to distinguish it
from the brain. Even in the physical world there is a complete parallelism
between motion and its subject in this sense, so that the inconvertibility of
motion and * consciousness ' in the sense of subject would not in the least
help the spiritualistic or idealistic cause. But if it denote an event, as the
term ordinarily does mean this, it is quite conceivable that it might be a mode
of motion, as the example of Green, who i is a perfect Coryphdeus of idealism,
abundantly proves in the concession that * umccnouqness as we immediately
know it is a “ function of the animal organism,” assuming of course that ail
the functions of matter can be reduced to modes of motion. This equivo-
cation has grown partly out of the desire to escape the doctrines and asso-
ciations connected with the terms “mind.” ** soul,” * spirit,” etc., in the school
of common sense, and partly, at least in so far as Green is concerned, and I
think others also, out of the desire for an ontogenetic principle for con-
sciousness corresponding to the same for motion in the physical world. Per-
haps also the habit of using the term * consciousness” as the subject of
propositions, which would easily and inadvertently confuse its import with
the idea of a metaphysical subject,” has helped to create this equivocation.
There is also the ambiguity involved in its use to denote what is the obiect
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and that materialism denies the unity of inconvertible func-
tions. Materialism does not deny this unity, and the limita-
tion of the activity of matter to motion is a purely apriori
assumption. This limitation is contradicted by the ideas of
potential and kinetic energies, while it is equally an apriori
assumption that consciousness, at least until it is better de-
fined, is not a mode of motion. Parallelism-is, of course, just
as strong as these assumptions, but it is no stronger, so that
its claims are still subject to adjudication, while their settle-
ment in its favor leaves it without the slightest implication in
support of immortality in any case and in any sense which
interests the public against materialism, and also without op-
position to this theory in any case except the limitation of the
functions of matter to modes of motion. Even then it is ex-
posed to the generalizing tendency of monism to the identi-
fication of the subject of all phenomena and consequently the
loss of all synthetic importance for the purposes of contro-
versy. Unless also it accepts or advances the distinction
between aetiogenetic and ontogenetic causation it has no
standing at all in the face either of scientific method or of the
rational laws of unity in phenomena. But the admission of
an aetiogenetic nexus between physical and mental with its
implied existence of matter, and the obligation to respect the
law of parsimony create such a presumption in favor of ma-
terialism when all predilections are monistic that parallelism
must remain correspondingly doubtful at all times and use-
less if true, as it would have no synthetic implications against
the unity of the subject for mental and physical phenomena
and its denial of the one proposition which makes materialism
formidable or objectionable. Consequently the relation
between mental and physical phenomena must remain for
knowledge one of fact, only until we are able to transcend the
method of Agreement and apply that of Difference when we
can attain something more than the inferences from apriori
and unverifiable assumptions. ‘This may not be possible, but
its impossibility leaves all assured conviction where the prin-
ciple of Agreement places it: namely,within the presumptions
of monism and that of the kind which is suggested by what
is universally admitted in the recognition of the aetiogenetic
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connection between physical and mental phenomena. The
speculations of parallelism may be useful for encouraging the
further analysis of the problem, but they do not put scepti-
cism to rout, while they are a poor justification for any sort of
dogmatism against the facts that suggest so forcibly either a
materialistic theory of all phenomena, or a materialistic out-
come for them.
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where she told her story. Mr. Whitney laughed, but said he
would come down.

Mrs. Titus returned to the same spot, and said, “ George,
she is down there.”

Mr. Whitney arrived a few moments later, about 8:30 or
8:45. Mr. Titus called attention to the spot, and Mr. Whit-
ney said, “ Walk down the bridge, and see if there is not
another place where she is likely to be.”

She, Mrs. Titus, walked down a little way, and came back
saying, ““ George, she is right there.” She explained that she
could see the rubber just as plainly as while in her trance the
night before.

Mr. Titus says she located the spot in the night, and that
he could and did recognize it from her description.

After the diver came up with the body, he said he was
not afraid of the woman in the water, but of the one on the
bridge.

Mrs. Titus fights against these trances, as she is usually
ill for some time after.

The girl walked down to the bridge, and stood wondering
whether she would go there or over to the pasture. She
slipped and went down between the logs of the bridge. Went .
down head first, and was buried in the mud, one foot sticking
out. Diver said just exactly as she said. She knew neither
the Huse girl nor was any acquaintance.

Her mother had the power, but wrote. Some days could
write nothing, and then again a great deal. Mrs. Titus has
no control over the trance which comes on in spite of her
efforts to drive it off.

The above story which I told Dr. Harris Kennedy on

Nov. 10th, 1898, is, so far as I know, correctly stated.
(Signed) GEORGE N. TITUS.

Mr. Whitney’s Letter.

Baltic Mills, Enfield, N. H., Nov. 15th, 1898.
My Dear Sir:
There is very little that I can add to the report which you
must have in regard to the finding of the body of Miss Huse.
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hypothesis of clairvoyance is impossible, had far better
explain the case as a very exceptional one of accidental
coincidence. I should unhesitatingly do this myself were
cognate cases rarissimi. But the records of supernormal seer-
ship of various types and grades which the Proceedings of
the S. P. R. are more and more abundantly publishing, make,
it seems to me, the scientific ‘ non-possumus’ absurd. There
is an almost identical case for instance, in Vol. xi, p. 383 ff.,
where the corpses of two drowned boys named Mason, were
found in Cochihuate Lake, near Natick, Mass., through
directions given by a Boston clairvoyant named Mrs. York.
See also a similar case on p. 389 of the same volume.

My own view of the Titus case consequently is that it is
a decidedly solid document in favor of the admission of a super-
normal faculty of seership—whatever preciger meaning may
later come to be attached to such a phrase.

I conclude by appending a notice that appeared in the
Granite State Free Press, of Lebanon, N. H,, on Friday, No-
vember 11th, 1898, and a letter from a sister of the drowned
girl, received by me quite recently.

“ Card.

“The people of Enfield and adjoining towns,who so spon-
taneously came to our relief and assistance by words of sym-
pathy and kindly and generous acts during the long days and
nights of terrible anxiety and suspense, attending search for
our dear daughter, sister, and niece; to that kind-hearted
man, George E. Whitney, who so generously contributed
assistance by personal effort and otherwise; to Mrs. Titus,
who voluntarily came to our assistance when all means and
efforts had failed, and by the exercise of a, to us mysterious
but we believe a God-given power, designated the place
where the body could be found and where it was found; to
the funeral director, the bearers and singers; to the friends
who came from a distance to attend the funeral; and to those
who contributed the beautiful flowers; we wish hereby to
express to each and all, our deep sense of gratitude and heart-
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Mr. Savage’s “ Life Beyond Death,” and your “ Science and
a Future Life,” and Mr. Podmore’s books. I found Josiah
Royce’s elementary work on psychology very helpful. I also
tried to get automatic writing, but did not succeed for six
weeks, though I could apparently exchange thought with my
sister M..... I did succeed after some trials in getting auto-
matic writing and in getting raps, sitting with my mother.
The raps also came in my room at unexpected times. Before
giving an account of experiments I will copy an account I
made last June of certain apparitions I have seen. I wrote
the account from memory for my own satisfaction. Such
memories are not the best possible evidence, but as the oc-
currences were simple and as I have not talked about them
(except as mentioned on another page) there is no reason to
suppose that memory has played any tricks.

The first apparition appeared to me in Washington, D. C,
where I was employed as a clerk in the Ordinance Office of
the War Dep’t. I had been attending lectures in the law
school of the Columbian University for two years—evening
lectures. In the summer of 1883, in, I think, the month of
June, I was wakened in the night, and looking toward the
bay window, the inside blinds of which were only half closed,
I distinctly saw the face and figure of a young woman. Her
body was partly concealed by the back of a heavy rocking
chair. I had wakened suddenly, wide awake, which was an un-
usual thing, as I was a good sleeper. The reality of the appear-
ance and the impossibility of a woman being there, gave me a
feeling of awe even more than surprise. After looking at her
for some seconds, possibly ten, and certainly as many as five,
I raised myself to a sitting posture in bed and looked intently
at the woman. As I looked she seemed to sink down grad-
ually behind the chair. After she had entirely disappeared
I sank back into the reclining position, but as soon as I had
touched my pillow she appeared again in the same place. I
got out of bed immediately, but the figure disappeared as
before. I threw the blinds wide open, and searched the
room, but found nothing of any woman. My room was on
the second floor and the door into the hall was always locked
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She is a fine woman.

(Have you any message for mother?)

My love to her always.

(Can’t you appear to me again as you did in Albany?)

I can’t now.

(Who made the lights mother saw the last few morn-
ings?)

Ralph does that [deceased brother].*

(Are you giving me this message or is some one doing it
for you?)

I am telling you.

(Will you talk again to me?)

Surely.

This writing like many others bears evidence of being
the work of the secondary personality. The lights referred
to mother told me she saw on the ceiling of her room just
before daylight, for several mornings.

March 17th, 1906.

Last evening at No. 4 there were various raps and noises,
some of them loud. Some force strikes the stove apparently,
and the clang of the iron is loud. On coming to my room I
asked for some direct writing but did not get it. I was
wakened in the night by the sound of a bell under my bed.
It struck twice and fully wakened me. Then in about a
minute came a loud tone of a bell which seemed to make the
bed quiver. Incidentally it made my nerves quiver. Within
five minutes the clock down stairs struck two. Yesterday
afternoon I called at Mrs. Hart’s for a few minutes and
before leaving heard a rap on the ceiling. Two weeks ago
there were raps on the table on which I was lying after
taking a treatment. I have frequently heard raps on the
window when I have been there. The next record is dated
April 20th, 1906. I had begun living in a tent in the hamlet
of Sodaville in the foothills of the Cascades, and my expense

* Matter in square brackets designates comments or notes, matter in round
brackets designates what the sitter said or asked, and the unenclosed matter
designates the automatic writing or messages.
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. sharp blow (apparently) on the window glass of the room—
once in hotel at Lebanon, Ore., about April 8th or gth, and
once at my brother’s house. Both occurred in the night. In
regard to the most common phenomena of all, viz—raps. I
have many memoranda mentioning them. Within two hours
of the time of this writing my mother and I have heard prob-
ably fifty within the space of fifteen minutes. Nothing like
that has happened to us for at least seven or eight months
and probably won’t again for weeks. As I have mentioned,
we began to sit in the hope of getting them last October.
We agreed on the code of one rap for no and three for yes.
We could get them about half of the time, but we only sat
occasionally, probably not over a dozen times in all.

Aug. 10th, 1906.

“Tonight as I began to undress in my tent I felt light
touchings like gentle brushings of feathers over my head and
neck. It continued for a couple of minutes at intervals. It
seemed to ruffle the ends of my hair slightly. I took my pen
and got the name Helen but no message.”

Aug. 11th, 1906, 9:20 P. M.

This evening in my tent as I was thinking over Prof.
Hyslop’s letter received today, expressing the hope that I
write him a detailed account of my experiments, I realized
that I must say that none of them had any evidential value
except some very trivial matters received through automatic
writing. It flashed through my mind that if any trivial cir-
cumstances were apparently indications of the supernormal
that might be construed as negative proof that the other
communications might be from the -same source. Just then
there came three distinct raps (signal for yes) apparently on
the tent pole at the other end of the tent. Later I was specu-
lating upon the chance of my doing something to further the
cause of a more democratic government by writing an article
on the Oregon experiment, there came several raps in the
same place apparently. This memo was made within half an
hour of the event.
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Last Tuesday I got this, purporting to be from H——:

“You are to succeed ultimately; keep up courage.”

The fallowing is a curious thing. I had been hunting
rooms for a montieand finally I engaged some. I was telling
my mother about themr amd expressing that I could not do
better when unexpectedly the xags began to come very
clearly and distinctly on her bedstead. Maxgaret is the name
of a sister who died in 1892 and whose presemgg I think I
am conscious of occasionally.

(Who is here?)

Margaret.

(What word, dear?)

You have chosen well.

(Did you go with me?)

Yes.

(You think the rooms will be all right?)

They will be satisfactory.

(I am glad to have you come Margaret.)

I am glad to come.

(Are you alone today?)

No.

(Who is with you?)

Father and Lizzie.

(What message for Mother?)

But * * me.

(Who is here tonight?)

Helen.

(Is Clara Smith going to die soon?)

No.

(What was the meaning of the crystal vision I had today
when I saw a death’s head in front of a woman’s face? This
experimenting interests me much and I would like your help
if you will give it.)

It meant nothing at all for you or your friend Clara.

(Who was it?)

I can’t say who it was.

(It seems Joseph has got his name on the government
eligible list after all?)

Yes, and he will have a place very soon.
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The first letter gave absolutely no hint of the cause of the dis-
tress.

I copied the automatic writing above from the cover of a
book of street car tickets which was the only thing within
reach that I could write on when I was in bed. I made an-
other record of this within a very short time of the occur-
rence and used full names and mentioned details of an inti-
mate nature. As I was describing the similarity of my
friend’s trouble with mine a loud rap or thump came on the
stove and that is mentioned in that record. Chance coinci-
dence is out of the question unless my subliminal self dis-
covered the matter and through automatic writing made a
most pungent suggestion to my conscious intelligence. I
must conclude that some outside intelligence conveyed that
suggestion to me after the physical manifestation of a sharp
rap in an absolutely quiet room. I had the automatic writ-
ing Monday night and it sounded crazy and senseless. To-
day thirty-eight hours later, a letter came which showed that
the automatic writing conveyed a very pointed allusion. Of
course this is not direct evidence; it is merely my opinion of
certain facts or their significance, though I have described
the general nature of the facts.

Oct. 25th, 1906.

Within the week we have been here we have heard many
raps, some very loud. One day several raps came twice.
The second time I got up and went to the hall not realizing
the source. One day mother was speaking of Aunt Abby’s
dying alone and a clear rap came on the stove across the
room. Tuesday, Mary and I were waiting for a car on
Shaver Street, and I was remarking about how wearing
monotonous repetitions of effort were (we were talking of
teaching school) and there came a thump on the under side
of the rail on the fence against which I was leaning or sitting.
I looked to see what made it before .I stopped to think.
Mary laughed and said “is it?” And I said “ Yes, it is.”
Oct. 22nd there was a very loud crack apparently in the hall
before daylight. Yesterday there were various raps as I
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eternity hardly legible) than you are now.” In answer to
‘hat about the answer was “ You know.”

Writings are copied from automatic writing and plan-
1€ette.

On September 2nd I got a long distance telephone mes-
1ge that my friend would not be at Hotel Perkins. I did
ot get a letter from Mrs. Phillips. The manuscript which 1
1d some hopes of and what I supposed was referred to in the
lessage purporting to be from Helen was declined and re-
xived back Sept. 19th. Automatic writing is very evidently
1e work of secondary personality.

Sept 14th, 1906.
(Who is here?)
Margaret.
(What message have you Margaret?)
You are in the right way to get well, Mother and you.
(Who rapped for Mother night before last?)
I did.
(You have not come lately?)
I could not.
(Are you alone today?)
Yes.
(Do you know about the fourth dimension?)
No.
[Got above after hearing two raps near me.]

Sept. 15th, 1906.

(Who is here?)

Margaret.

(Did you rap for mother last night?)

Yes.

(Can you tell us where you have been so that you could
ot come to us?)

I have been about my Master’s business.

(May we know more?)

You would not understand but I'll tell you. I watch
ver the goings and comings of the little babes to your world
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this-for a two fold reason.” Just here there came a loud
thump on the door of a deep closet across the room from
both of us some twelve feet. No other person was on this
floor, the second of a two-storied frame house in a quiet
situation.

GEORGE A. T——.

This is a correct statement.
N. AA W. T

Nov. 19th, 9:30 P. M.

[A number of raps on rung of chair in my room led me
to ask some questions. I asked finally if I could get some
writing and got several raps, the last being almost explo-
sive.]

(Who is it?)

Helen.

(What message tonight?)

I am going to talk with you so very soon, my dear George.

(Shall I take my turn?)

Yes.

(How do you explain the contradictory messages I get?)

You don’t get contradictions from me.

(Is Mrs. D’s. [two raps] prediction about me true?)

Yes, more than true. You will be great, honored and
loved.

(That is a tremendous prophecy, Helen!)

No, it is only a fact.

(In what field shall I succeed?)

In several, politics way.

(Were you with me at Mrs. Drew’s?)

No.

(Shall I help some in psychical research?)

You will do much.

(Are you happy?)

Yes.

(Is your mother with you?)

Yes.

(Do you think Mrs. C—— will agree to help Dr. Hyslop
in his researches?)
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proved a disappointment but the psychic did say she saw a
man bearing the letter R. and then showing the letter H.
Those were her first words as I remember. The letters R.
H. are the initial letters of my friend’s name from whom
this writing purports to come. But R. stands for the sur-
name and H. for the given name. At a previous talk with
this psychic, she predicted a most amazing future for me.
That talk was held before this writing. That will explain
my question about Mrs. D’s prediction and the answer. On
the page above the question “you have become?” has a
curious sound, but I had just been reading a chapter of
Schiller’s on “ The Becoming of the World ” and used the
word in the sense of “ arrived ” as we often use it.]

(Is any one here?)

Helen.

(What word?)

You must not get blue; it is bad.

(The cause is physical?)

You tax yourself.

(Do you think our thoughts affect others?)

I know they do.

(How much influence do they have?)

Enough to cause death.

(What killed you?)

I do——no.

(How much can we influence you?)

* * x * * [undecipherable.]

Can you rap on the horn for me?

Yes. [None came on the horn, but some came in
room.]

[This was not dated but was written Nov. 29th or 3oth,
1906.]

I have never learned the cause of my friend’s death, but
merely the fact that she was dead. This writing came
when I was suffering from physical exhaustion and depres-
sion.

[The following is a copy made some twenty-four hours
later than the first writing.] :



























300  Proceedings of American Society for Psychical Research.
investigation of such cases. Yet if it is true, trance communi-
cations through different mediums is but a very poor method
of proving survival. If tangible manifestations are a fact,
and my confessions show that I believe it, a voice is as pos-
sible as the touch of a vanished hand. I am inclined to be-
lieve that this generation can settle the question if it will;
and it is quite as important as donations to libraries, building
of hospitals and colleges, or the prevention of hog cholera,
all of which worthy objects receive large sums of money
each year.
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none of them had any signature; only perhaps, as in the case of
the one enclosed, what seems to be a private mark at the lower
left hand corner.

‘For the present of course the documents may remain with
you; the ultimate disposition of them need not be at present
decided. Unsent letters, or parts of letters from my mother bear-
ing upon the case at all, contain, I think, nothing but matter
relative to the medium. It did not seem to me worth while to
(slend this. I hope to make further inquiries about her in a few

ays.

I note with interest that you are, or have been, working up
your sittings with Mrs. Piper.

Truly your friend,
F. N. JEWETT.

P. S. I expect to return to Fredonia Sept. 1st. P

.N. J.

(Third Letter.)

Fredonia, Chautauqua Co., N. Y., U. S. A,
Sept. 26, 1887.
T'o the Cashier of the Bank of England, London.
Dear Sir:

The writer, Mr. Jewett, would acknowledge the receipt of the
Chief Cashier’s reply to the 8th ult., relative to a paper purport-
ing to be a certificate of deposit for four thousand pounds upon
the Bank of England, and would also state that something fur-
ther has been made out at this date. Before the first letter on the
subject some marks were seen above and to the left of the last
figure in the date, but as they were not then made out, nothing
was said about them. Under more favorable circumstances they
have appeared plainly distinguishable so that the number for the
year is 1775-7. The word preceding this number, which was
said to suggest “ Date ” or “ Dated,” seems now to be more like
“ Septem.,” while figures follow as if indicating the day of the
month.

The evidence is very clear that at some time this paper was
considered to be valuable.

Very respectfully submitted,
FRANKLIN N. JEWETT.

The next letter was written concerning the other paper
about which nothing had been said in previous letters, as it
had been less distinct in its writing.
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(The reply to this communication
should be addressed Bank of England, London, E. C.,

“ The Chief Cashier ") gth Nov., 1887.
F. N. Jewett, Esqre.,
Fredonia,
Chautauqua Co., N. Y.,
U. S. A.

The Chief Cashier begs to inform Mr. Jewett in reply to his
letter of the 27th ultimo. that nothing is known at the Bank of
England of the documents to which he refers.

As the Cashier has not signed his name to this letter
there might arise from that fact a doubt whether the facts
are as stated, or even whether it was written by him from the
Bank of England, or whether any inquiry in the records of
the Bank had been made. But the Bank letter head stands,
as I have given it, in print above the date. On the back of
the envelope is the stamped seal of the Bank of England,
indicating that it is one of its envelopes.

The next memorandum is a copy of part of a letter from
Prof. Jewett’s mother. It is on this copy that the statement
is made that the changes are immaterial. What I have is
the following:

“ North Bangor, N. Y., Oct. 7, 1887.
(From my mother.)

Mike helped thrash. He told me that the 11th of September
that same person appeared to him in a dream as usual, and told
him the first paper was ten thousand pounds, and was put there
by a British officer, and that he would get it. He said the Queen
would help him get it; spoke nothing of the other paper, never
has heard a name mentioned. It is strange. Had I known this
before I would have written you.”

There is no memorandum marked 8, but in its stead was
the letter not sent to the Bank of England, and whose con-
tents were so nearly identical with the one sent that I did
not deem it necessary to reproduce it. Consequently the
gth memorandum is a letter from a gentleman in Malone,
New York, inquiring about the case. It is as follows:
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twigs. Moreover the layers in the sand, which were plain all
around this portion did not continue throygh it. Below. the
depth of some three inches they were continuous; and the
peculiar dark places in the soil ceases at the same depth. As to
the certificate the Bank of England claims to know nothing about
it, and no signature has been found upon it.

Probably Dr. Buckley has learned the more important at least
of the particulars that were commonly reported in the vicinity
last summer.

Very truly yours,
FRANKLIN N. JEWETT.

The 11th memorandum contains two documents; one an
account of the experiments with chemicals to decipher the
writing, and the other an account of the results obtained in
rngland after the visit to the Bank personally, and written
down on the same day.

The paper giving the account of the experiments with
chemicals contains the indication that the experiments were
on  July 21st, 1888,” which is only two days later than the
account of results written in London. But as the experi-
ments were made in New Haven in July, 1887, and the first
letter written to the Bank on the 28th of that month 1887,
this account of the date of the experiments as having taken
place on “ July 21, 1888 ” must be an error for July 21st,
1887. But I give the account as it is, especially as the end
of the record says: ‘“Done at Gregg’s Hotel, London, E. C.
England,” which at least indicates the time of making the
record.

“ Experiments July 21, 1888, upon the paper found in the
bottle.”

1. Lower right hand corner for about three-fourths of
an inch from the right hand edge moistened with water and
then with ammonium sulphydrate. No indication of writing.

2. The space next left of this and about the same
size extending to the middle (right and left) of the right
hand half of the paper moistened first with dilute chloro-
hydric acid, then with dilute ammonium hydrate, and then
with ammonium sulphydrate. No indication of writing.

3. The space of about equal size as the former lying
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“ Columbia University, New York,

“ Sept. 24th, 1899.
“ Iy dear Jewett:

have just found time to copy your last letters in my report
of the McCaffrey case and the statements of the medium with a
certain difficulty that I noticed earlier require some personal
questions of you.

In the notes that you made of your experiments on the papers
there is the appearance of your being in London and New Haven
at the same time. The paper which is a memorandum of the acid
experiments is dated at its head ‘ July 21st, 1888.” At the-end of
it you say: ‘ Done at Gregg’s Hotel, London, E. C., England.’
Previous accounts indicate that the experiments were made in
New Haven in July, 1887. I want, therefore, to have answers to
the following questions, which I put on another sheet to be re-
turned.

Yours as ever,
J. H. HYSLOP.”

Prof. Jewett writes on the same sheet of this letter and
returns it with the following note:

“Not the same experiments. Both the dates are cor-
rect. See the other sheet.”
“F. N. Jewett.”

The questions and further answers are as follows:

Q. Just when did you make the experiments in New
Haven? A. “In 1887, probably in July.”

Q. When did you make the notes of them reported to me,
and indicating that they were made in London at the time
you wrote the account of your presentation at the Bank?
A. “This question and the first one do not fit together
and into the circumstances.”

Q. Did you make more than one account of the experi-
ment? A. “Yes and No.”

Q. Did you repeat some of the experiments in London?
A. “No.”

Q. Did Mrs. Drake have any chance to learn through
neighborhood gossip or newspaper accounts that you had
tried the acid experiments? A. I think not; yet a report of
my New Haven experiment, the one upon the paper found
between the stones, was sent home some time in the fall of
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no legible writing, but I, said Franklin N. Jewett, presented
a copy of the writing upon it which I rendered temporarily
legible in August 1887 by the application of ammonium sul-
phide. According to the writing thus made out this paper
purported to be some kind of a certificate upon the Bank of
England for ten thousand pounds with interest. The papers
were taken to the chief accountant’s office. He himself was
absent but the official in charge stated that neither paper
could possibly be genuine. The reasons given were the
following:

1. That the Bank of England never had paid interest on
deposits.

2. That at the date of the first mentioned document the
kind of paper upon which it was written had not been made;
that blue machine-ruled paper like that of this document was
never used or made until after the beginning of the present
century. Upon this point he consulted with the chief of the
stationary department, who in turn consulted with the man
having charge of the ruling of the paper.

3. That no unclaimed deposit in the Bank of England
at the present time was more than a very small part of four
thousand pounds. ,

Upon the copy of the second of the above mentioned
papers the word deposit does not occur, yet when the copy
was shown to the bank official he was equally positive with
reference to this as with reference to the first one that it
could not be genuine.

FRANKLIN N. JEWETT,
Fredonia, N. Y.
Witness,
Wallace H. Butrick,
New Haven, Conn.

The last and 12th memorandum, with the statement at
the head of it that the copy is “ with immaterial changes,”
a portion of a letter from Prof. Jewett’s mother again. It
is one year later still than the other documents just men-
tioned, and is as follows:
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the Malone Palladium for copies of that paper containing any
account of the affair. On my return this morning from the
country I find a copy of that paper in my mail with a letter
from the editor, and also replies to his inquiries for the mat-
ter of which I was in search. I give the correspondence in
full before copying the contemporary account of the Malone
Palladium.

F. J. Seaver. ESTABLISHED 183s. C. L. Ames.
THE MALONE PALLADIUM.
The Palladium Company, Publishers.
Malone, N. Y., Aug. 24, 1899.
J. H. Hyslop. ‘
Dear Sir:—

Under separate cover we mail you copy of paper containing
account of McCaffrey dream case. We did not expect to find it
in our town correspondence, as we had forgotten where the inci-
dent occurred. Hence our delay in finding the article. Enclosed
find letters from our North Bangor correspondent. If you con-
sider $1.00 a fair charge, all right, and if it is more than the paper
is worth to you, pay whatever you see fit.

’ Yours very truly,
PALLADIUM CO.

The letters of their correspondent are as follows, the first
one not being dated, nor the address indicated except by the
writer of the above letter.

“ Mr. Editor:

Your letter is received. There was such an incident that oc-
curred in the north part of the town some twelve years or more
ago. It was well authenticated at that time. I have shown your
letter to neighbors of Mr. McCaffrey and they say there was such
an incident and it was well verified. Mr. Jewett took a great
interest in the case at that time and had the paper that was found
in his possession. I will go and see him tomorrow and will send
you the particulars if I get any and your letter.

Very truly yours,
A. W. GIBSON.

North Bangor, Aug. 22nd, 1899.
Palladium Co., Malone, N. Y.
Dear Sir:
In compliance with my promise I went down to see Mr.
Jewett this morning. I found him at home, and as good luck
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had dug a foot and a half lower tham before. The paper looked
old and yellowish—black and mouldy in spots—and on it were
the writing and figures as follows: *£4000. Bank of England.
This certificate is good for four thousand pounds sterling on the
Bank of England, with interest annually. Dated Dec. 18th, 1775.’

This is as correct a statement as I can gather from the young
man himself. He is considered honest and truthful in the neigh-
borhood where he lives. Now I would like to know by what
agency this has been revealed to him. The papers are in the
hands of B. F. Jewett.”

An editorial note in the same paper of the same date, and
on another page remarks as follows on the incident and cor-
respondence.

“ Our North Bangor correspondent recites a story this week
which is exciting that community, and which has given rise to
hopes, in one or two breasts at least, of realizing a moderate for-
tune. But if there is no more to the ‘find’ than the correspond-
ent copies, great expectations will hardly materialize. Banks do
not often honor certificates of deposit which are unsigned. But,
then, perhaps there is a signature and our correspondent has
neglected to copy it.”

New York, August 31st, 1899.

I have just received copies of the Malone Farmer and
Utica Glgbe in each of which is found an account of the dream
and discovery of the papers purporting to be certificates of
deposit in the Bank of England. The account in the Farmer
is for July 2oth, 1887, and is as follows, having been given by
the correspondent of that paper living in North Bangor.

“A BRITISH SOLDIER’S MONEY.”

‘ Strange Experience of a Young Man at North Bangor.”
“His Sleep Disturbed by the Spirit of an Officer who was

Slain by the Indians—Directed to Dig for \Wealth—\Vhat

He Found.”

“ A correspondent at North Bangor to the Plattsburg
Telegram, sends a strange story with the postscript: ‘ There
is no doubt about the facts being as above stated, whatever
the explanation may be.” It involves a combination that is
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tigation and consultation with the people residing in that im-
mediate vicinity, I do not hear a hint by any of his neighbors
that this is a ‘ put up job,” but all accord to him (McCaffrey)
integrity of purpose.” Mr. Hyde says the hole dug by Mc-
Caffrey at the stump is about the size of a post hole and the
flat stones taken out were about one foot square each. That
the bottle was a small, round bottle which was broken at the
top by the crow-bar used in digging. Mr. Jewett, who has
the paper found in this mysterious manner, preached at the
Baptist church, this village last Sunday. He will have it ex-
amined by an expert. Whether it has value or not, the
method by which McCaffrey found it is mysterious and if no
fraud is being perpetrated will tend to make him a second
Daniel or the great dreamer of the nineteenth century at
least. Barnum will want him and he should be prepared for
a call from ‘ the greatest show on earth.’

In the Utica Saturday Globe the account is as follows, and
is dated July 23rd, 1887:

“HIDDEN TREASURE.”

“REVEALED TO A YOUNG MAN BY A GHOST.”

“ The Spirit of a British Officer Comes
in the Night and Directs Michael
McCaffrey Where to Dig for
Buried Wealth.”

Malone, N. Y., July 22.—This (Franklin) county is wildly ex-
cited over the remarkable experience of Michael McCaffrey, of
North Bangor. McCaffrey is a young man, about 25 years of
age, who resides with his parents on a farm at the northeast
corner of Bangor. He has an excellent reputation among his
neighbors for honesty and truth. On the 18th of last March he
dreamed that there was something of great value buried near a
large pine stump in the pasture about 40 rods west of the farm
house. Two nights afterward this dream was repeated. There
appeared to him at his bedside the apparition ot a man appar-
ently 50 years of age.

HIS GHOSTLY VISITOR

told McCaffrey that he had been killed by the Indians many
years ago, and that previous to his death he had buried a valuable
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Ans. “ None that I thought you would want. I have one
or two containing matter referring to a sitting (?) with the
medium ; but no more that I know of pertinent to McCaffrey.

3. Could McCaffrey and his family be induced to give
their accounts of his experience either in writing or to a
stenographer?

Ans. “Undoubtedly. I can say, yes, positively, for the
man and his mother. The others probably would not ob-
ject.”

4. Could you give me the names and addresses of all the
persons you know in McCaffrey’s neighborhood and who
could testify to what they know or heard at the time, and tell
what is to be thought of McCaffrey’s character, or answer
all questions that it may be necessary to ask in regard to mat-
ters of this kind? .

Ans. “ Egbert Southworth, Cook’s Corners, Franklin
County, New York. Samuel Southworth, North Bangor.

............

the affair were published at the time?

Ans.  “ Not pasitively. My sister thinks that mention of
the case was made in both the Malone Palladium and the
Malone Farmer. These are weeklies published at Malone,
New York. The papers were found the 2nd or 3rd of July,
1887, and whatever these weeklies may have printed upon
the matter must have been published soon afterward, prob-
ably within one or two weeks.”

I wrote also a second letter with additional questions. I
transcribe the entire letter with Professor Jewett’s answers
to my questions embodied in the transcript, as he wrote the
replies on the sheet that I sent him.

Short Beach, Conn., August sth, 1899.

My Dear Jewett:—Since writing you yesterday, I have
been at work on the papers and find that there are points on
which information is important.

In your copies of original documents you say that the
changes made are immaterial, but in our records we like to
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contain. So if they should not be wanted elsewhere I would like
to get them sometime in the future and keep them with the
other documents.

Sincerely,
F. N. JEWETT.

The following are the thirty-two questions which I sent
to Professor Jewett to be answered by McCaffrey, and I
transcribe with them the reply, as explained in the above
letters.

1. What kind of citizen’s clothes did the man appear to
wear in the first dream? Were they of the kind worn to-day,
or were they like those of a past age, say a century ago?

Ans. “ McCaffrey says: He always had on a red jacket
and a cap, the latter thought to be black and of fur. As to
other articles of dress, uncertain, but quite sure that he al-
ways had a sword.”

2. Had McCaffrey read any books about England, its
history, manners, life, etc.,, of the time represented in the
dream?

Ans. “ Had never read any English history.”

3. What kind of uniform appeared in the later dreams?

Ans. “See answer to 1. His uniform was always the
same.”

4. Describe the appearance of George III.

Ans. * Rather short, thickset, sixty or sixty-five years
old, with brilliant gown or robe, crown upon his head and
sword by his side.”

5. Had McCaffrey been in the habit of thinking about
getting rich, or wishing to find money? That is to say, did
he do any day-dreaming on it?

Ans. “No; says not. His mother also says she knows
nothing of the kind.”

6. Had the family come from England or Ireland, and did
McCaffrey ever think they might get money from the old
country? That is to say, did he ever wish or day-dream
over this idea?

Ans. “No wishing or day-dreaming of the kind at all.

’
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Ans. “ Good, see just above.”

17. What “ pals ” did they have in the netghborhood and
did these persons know of the dreams?

Ans. ‘“ Seemingly none. Southworth would have no
1 pals.) ”

18. How far from the stump was the place in which he
dug for the papers?

Ans. “ Inside of the large roots.”

19. Did McCaffrey have to dig at more than one place be-
fore finding the right place.

Ans. ‘“ Had to vary about two feet but only in one direc-
tion. (His statement now.) Others remember that, as re-
ported at the time, the variation was even less.”

20. How did he find the place to dig, if he did not try
several places?

Ans. *“ As far as he remembers he was guided by the po-
sitions of the roots. My sister says positively that, as re-
ported of course, the old soldier told him in what direction
from the stump to dig, and how far from 1t and this has al-
ways been my understanding on this point.”

21. In what kind of a field were the hidden papers? Was
it a pasture field, or one that was under cultivation?

Ans. “ Pasture; but had been plowed, though not up be-
tween the roots, where the papers were found.

22. Had the field ever been under cultivation at all?

Ans. “ See above, 21.”

23. How deep down was the first paper found?

Ans. “ About one and one-half feet.”

24. Describe fully the kind of bottle found in the place at
second digging; shape, size, kind of glass, etc.

Ans.  “ Seemingly old style, round; diameter at bottom
two inches outside, only one-sixteenth more further up; top
broken in; glass rather thin.”

25. Has the bottle been kept or not, and if so can it be
produced?

Ans. “ The pieces are here, the bottom part being entire.”

26. Is the region a stony one? That is, are there plenty
of stones about?
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town. I have known him from a child and his father and all of
the family and all right.
Yours truly,
S. G. SOUTHWORTH.’

New York, September 1st, 1899.
When transcribing the former letters received from
Prof. Jewett a number of questions involving the difficulties
of the case occurred to me and I wrote to him for informa-
tion regarding these points. I give my letters below with
Prof. Jewett’s replies, and they will explain themselves.

“ Short Beach, Conn., August 14th, 1899.
My dear Jewett:

I have been working on your letters since reading them
hastily before replymg this afternoon, and some further
questions and inquiries suggest themselves as important.

1. Have your mother and sister tell as much as they can
remember of the results of their sitting with Mrs. Drake,
indicating how they met her, what they said to her before
the medium told anything, whether the medium asked any
questions, etc., everything that will throw light upon the
question whether any facts could have been suggested in
what she said of the case.

2. Get a similar account from McCaffrey. In each case
get as much as can be recalled of what the medium said, and
indicate any connection it could have had with what was
published.

3. Interrogate, if possible, the other boys who accom-
panied Michael to the digging, and see what their knowledge
is from memory about all the incidents leading up to the
digging, their part in it, the nature of the ground, their feel-
ings and convictions about it, etc.

4. Get possession of those pieces of glass for exami-
nation by an expert. Yours as ever,

_ | J. H. HYSLOP.”
“ Please return this with reply.”

In returning the sheet Prof. Jewett answered the fourth
question on the sheet of the original letter, as follows:
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pressed from myself regarding the present employment of Mr.
Gibson of North Bangor, please inform me.

Sincerely,

F. N. JEWETT.

The following is a copy of the notes taken at the sitting
with Mrs. Drake. On the back of the paper which purports
to be the original is the following note by Professor Jewett.

“ Notes taken at the time by Mrs. Wallace Hardy of what
was said by Mrs. Drake at the sitting with my mother and
sister in the spring of 1888. As reported to me Mrs. Drake
spoke rapidly, and these notes do not contain all that she
said.

Fredonia, N. Y., Sept. 8, 1899.

Franklin N. Jewitt,

“1 go back a great way. A great loss—a man and a woman.
I go down in the ground. I see sand. Some one is so far away
trying to draw near. Something buried—I get a tragedy. Glass
is a non-conductor and throws me off. .

They are havin%‘ some trouble, but it is all right. Belongs
across the water. The British soldier will show the brave who
found it and will take him to get the money. The whole direc-
tions will be written out to find it. It has been written once but
was not very definite. Some acid will bring it out. The old
brave was killed and they buried him. The boy will get his
money. The boy is a medium.”

New York, September 28th, 1899.

I can now report exactly the questions which I sent to
Professor Jewett and to which allusion was made above with
the answers given in the letter of September 6th. I first give
the letter returning the questions and explaining the matter.

Fredonia, N. Y., September 21st, 1899.”
“My dear Hyslop:

“Yours of the fifteenth inst. came promptly. Enclosed find
your last set of questions, with answers more or less complete.
You will remember that a week or two ago I wrote you in partial
reply to them. by number. The questions have been meanwhile
in my keeping.

I may be able to learn something more from home about the
circumstances, or causes, that led the McCaffreys to come into
this country. Mrs. McCaffrey, as reported by herself, was mar-
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with the papers, they were so old and worn; and the father
replied as above.”

7. Did the father join in the ridicule of the son for his
dreams, or was he reticent about them?
Ans. ‘“ Have not learned that he joined in the ridicule.”

8. Did you ever talk to the father about the case, and what
are or were your impressions about hjm in the matter?

Ans. ‘““ As I remember, he seemed to share in the general
wonderment, and expected that the money would be obtained
on the papers.”

9. Is there any way to interrogate Mrs. McCaffrey re-
garding the story of the man found hung on their place in
Canada, and regarding the handkerchief incident?

Ans. “T have not determined upon any definite plan yet.
I would not want her to see any connection between the ques-
tions and investigation of the dreams.”

10. What do you know personally about her attitude re-
garding the dreams, and whether there were indications of
simulation on her part in incidents of the dreams and discov-
ery of the papers?

Ans. “ No indication of simulation has come to my notice,
or knowledge.”

11. Did you have to pay Mrs. Drake any money for her
work?

Ans. “ No, I understand not.”

12 What was her general standing in the community,
socially, morally, and financially?

Ans. “ Am not positive; but some evidently had no faith
in her. Hard or disparaging things were said of her; but I
cannot give details.”

13. Can any one now say when, or about when, the man
was found hung on the McCaffrey place in Canada?

Ans. “ Probably before 1858.”

“ Compare my letter of a week or ten days ago.”
I saw by the reply to the second question that I had not

put it in the right manner, and I wrote the following for fur-
ther information.
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strongly to that hypothesis to emphasize any apologies for
another theory.

New York, December 4th, 1899.

I wrote to Professor Jewett the last of October to get the
names and addresses of the proper parties in Canada to run
down the story of the man found hung on the McCaffrey
place, and received the following reply with a scheme of the
place where the events took place and names of the parties
of whom to inquire. Both the representation of the farms
and the names were furnished by Michael McCaffrey himself
through his mother. I quote Professor Jewett’s letter and
then Michael’s note.

Fredonia, N. Y., Nov. 3, 1899.
My dear Hyslop:

The enclosed letter to me and map will need no special ex-
planation. An inferior map had been made out, and was also
sent to me. That one I retain. This information comes in re-
sponse to inquiries sent home recently in accordance with your
request of the 23rd ult. ) Sincerely,

F. N. JEWETT.

Michael’s note is as follows with map appended:

Cook’s Corners, N. Y., Nov. 2nd, 1899.
Mr. Jewett:

Ma says the Farm was about all cleared up when she left
there. I had John draw another map Plainer than the one I
drawed to your House. But I send them Both to you. I will
give you the names of 2 or 3 men that was living in my father’s
time with their P. O. adress.

Mr. Alexander Cameron; Mr. Duncan D. McMillan; Mr.
Owen Heath; Mr. John McMillan; all Brodie, Ontario, Canada,
Glengary County.

The Place is Lochiel Ontario, Glengary County & it is Di-
vided off in what is called the 14th concession of Lochiel. It is
about 25 miles, I should say, north east of Lancaster.

Well I will close for now & will Be glad to answer all Ques-
tions as far as I am able to yourself & Prof [Hyslop] I
forget his name. yours Respfully,

MICHAEL McCAFFREY.
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New York, March 22nd, 1900.

In order to obtain more satisfactory evidence on the mat-
ter I contrived through a friead in Toronto to have myself
put into communication with a barrister there who could
investigate the question on the spot. He secured ﬁnally a
Mr. Gordon, of Cornwall, who went out to the region in
which Mr. Higgey had committed suicide and ascertained
from persons still living all that could be obtained regarding
the facts. I incorporate below the letter and questions with
which I provided him the means of satisfying my cur:os:ty in
the case.

Columbia University, New York,
Dec. 4th, 1899.

My Dear Sir:—The following are the questions that I
wish answered in regard to the suicide or hanging of Thomas
Higgy near Brodie, between 1840 and 1850:

1. Who owned the place at the time of the hanging?

2. Who owns it now?

3. Was this Thomas Higgy a soldier in the British or
Canadian army?

4. If he was a soldier where can T find an official record
of the fact?

5. Was there any suspicion at the time of any foul play
in the man’s death?

6. What was the coroner’s verdict and if possible the
facts that served as the basis of it?

7. Who found the body in the search for it after ascer-
taining that the man was missing?

8. Did any suspicions rest on a McCaffrey in connection

with the affair?

9. Did the ownershlp of the handkerchief with whlch he
was hung figure in the case?

In answering these questions you should seek out Mr.
John McCaffrey, Mr. D. H. B. McMillan, the latter espe-
cially, and Miss Mary Ann Bryan, all of Brodie, Clergarry
County, Ontario. You will of course have to examine Mr.
McCaffrey with the utmost skill and adroitness, and possibly
Mr. Cameron will suspect you at first, as he asked me what
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Q. What abbey? A. Thornton.

Q. Sure its Thornton? A. That’s what he says.

Q. Can he say how he got them? A. He says he put
this money in the Bank and they gave them to him.

Q. Are any persons with him now? A. No, he is entirely
alone now. .

Q. Where did he live? A. Londonderry. Says I got
good men to work.

Q. What did they work at? A. Professor Jewett is Pres-
ident of a Normal Institute. The other gentleman, he said,
lives in Manhattan. :

Q. When did he live in Londonderry? A. In 1774.

Q. What kind of work did he do there? A. Potter.

Q. Who was the chief ruler of the country? A. George,
the Third, he claims.

Q. How did it come to you to do as you did about those
papers? A. I was travelling through that country.

Q. What country? A. This country, America, over-
taken by the Indians. ’

Q. Ithought he was a soldier. A. He says he is, but was
fighting in the war of the Rebellion. Had these papers with
him. [Pause.] Says, perhaps I am talking too fast. (I
said, no, all right.)

Q. What Rebellion? A. Says Rebellion in American
Revolution.

Q. Who was the general over him? A. General Howe.
Looks. [Pause.] J. H. Howe.

Q. How many men in the army? A. One hundred and
eighty thousand, he says.

Q. How many on our side? A. One hundred thousand.

Q. Who was the general on our side? A. Washington.

Q. Can he tell who his captain was? A. Charles Krem-
unski.

Q. Did he bury those papers? A. Yes, he did. Seem
to be changed in color. That tree was the giant of the forest
there. Thought it would be a great place to put them as
he could easily find them.

Q. How long before he was shot did he put them there?
A. About a month. [Answer was very prompt.]
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ory. The result shows an entire failure, or at least a failure
to secure anything that would solve the problem and confirm .
the theory that I have started with in the attempt to explain
the source of the dream. What further experiment may
show remains to be seen. But the results of this second hyp-
nosis are as follows.

Mr. McCaffrey went more easily into hypnosis than in the
morning and was apparently in a sound trance in a minute.
I started the colloquy by first sending him to his own home,
that is, suggesting that he was there, and asking him if he
saw his mother there. I received an affirmative reply. The
colloquy followed.

Do you remember your grandfather? A. Yes.

Q. Did he live in this country? A. Yes.

Q. Where did he live? A. In the town of Ft. Covington.
Q. Where is that? A. Joins Bangor.

Q. When did he die? A. I think in November, 1881.

Q

Q

Q

©

. Do you remember talking with him? A. Yes.

. Was he ever in the war? A. No, sir.

. What did you talk about with him? A. I used to
work for him a lot.

Q. Did he come from Canada? A. Yes.

Q. Did he come before your father? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did he ever live where you live? A. No, sir.

Q. When did he come to this country? A. About 185s.

Q. Did he go back to Canada at any time? A. I think
he did, but not to stay.

Q. Did your father come to this country after your
grandfather? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you ever hear your father talk about the papers
before you found them? A. No sir, never.

Q. What did he think about them when found? A. He
thought it very queer and that they must be good and to take
them to Mr. Jewett.

Q. Did you ever read any where of people burying
money? A. Think I heard grandpa or some one else tell
about these Danes in Ireland burying money.

Q. Did you often think that you would like to find some
in that way? A. Well, yes sir.
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Q. How did you come to dream about the papers? A. It
was in winter. We were drawing potatoes to Bangor.

Q. Do you remember what made you dream about it at
night? A. No sir, unless it was getting up wood.

Q. Tell me all you know about how those papers got
there. A. I can’t tell anything except what the soldier told
me.

Q. Do you remember anything about Tom. Higgey?
A. Iremember hearing Pa tell about him. He said he (Hig-
gey) used to come to his father’s place. Don’t know whether
he was a near neighbor or not. He (Higgey) had a hand-
kerchief which he carried in his pocket, or somewhere, and
would take it out of his pocket, look at it and put it back
quick.

Q. What do you suppose was in it? A. Pa never said.
I think he said he ate breakfast there that morning, walked
off, went to the woods, got up on a log, tied a handkerchief
around a limb and stepped off.

Q. Who found him there? A. I heard Pa say the neigh-
bors got up a gang and went out and found him. I think it
was seven or eight days. I know well where the house is
where he went from.

Q. Who found him, your grandfather or father? A. I
don’t know. I think father said the neighbors turned out
and a party hunted for him. A man by the name of McMil-
lan owns the farm now [Correct.]

Q. What was in Higgey’s pockets? A. I never heard Pa
say what. Seems to me I do remember he had a paper or
plug of tobacco.

Q. What kind of paper? A. Not certain. Something
about tobacco. :

Q. Were there any papers in his pocket? A. Never
heard of any, but probably something about tobacco.
[Pause.] I wonder who that woman is?

Q. Where? A. Right there. Tall good looking woman,
blue dress.

Q. Give her name. A. Says she is glad I am here. Says
she won’t tell her name just now.
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ras: “A bottle.” I asked if he was sure, and he looked at it
1ore carefully and said he was sure. I asked if it was not a
nife, and he replied that it was not, that it was a bottle. I
1id rather firmly that it was a knife, and he looked at it scru-
nizingly and said that he could not see the knife. I then
2ld him to close his eyes again, which was immediately done,
nd with an apparently sudden change into another state, al-
10ugh he was in a hypnotic state all the while.

I then suggested that he would not know his name, and
1 a2 moment asked him what his name was. He hesitated
nd I said, “Can you do it?” He replied: “No sir.” I then
-ied another clairvoyant experiment by placing an envelope
n his arm, telling him that I had placed something there, and
sked him to tell what it was. His reply was that it was a
encil. - Pinching him, I asked if he felt that and he said: “A
ttle bit, kind of pinching,” while he smiled.

Just previous to this little colloquy, which was carried on
1 order to get my suggestion to work, I had told him that his
ame was Sam Patch, and that he must remember this.
fter the momentary diversion to let this work the colloquy
roceeded as follows:

Q. What did you say your name was? A. Sam Patch.

Q. Did you ever hear of Michael McCaffrey? A. Yes
ir, he’s a son of Pat McCaffrey.

Q. Where did he live? A. At Bangor.

Q. When did you get acquainted? A. When he was a
ttle boy.

Q. Was there anything remarkable in the life of Michael
fcCaffrey? A. He found some papers once.

Q. Ask him if he is not fooling about the papers. A. No
ir, he says not. :
Where is Michael now? A. Way off in a big city.
What city? A. Looks like New York.
Where are you, Sam Patch? A. I’m in Malone.
Where did you live? A. In Malone.
When did you live there? A. Always lived there.
How long ago? A. Abouf 35 or 40 years ago.
Are you living or dead? A. Living.

-
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repeated my request to wake up, and he did so at once. ' The
hypnosis clearly passed off and not until then. It was thus
interesting to observe that the suggestion to awaken would
not take effect until the act that I had suggested had been
performed.

The next experiment was a brief one merely to exhibit
the process to two persons in the house. I tried to repeat
the spiritistic effort in pursuance of the promise at the last
one, but it resulted only in an exact repetition of the evasion
mentioned above, namely, that my father couldn’t leave and
that he was talking with the angels. Then I suggested that
five minutes after I had awakened him and when I struck
the table with my pencil he would say to Mrs. B : “You
read a book.” I then told him to wake up. As usual he
appeared to do so, opening his eyes and sitting up. But it
was evident from his sleepy manner and the inability to
spontaneously converse with me as in the first attempt in the
earlier experiment, that he was still under hypnosis. I made
repeated efforts to awaken him completely by commanding
it, but I did not appear to effect it. The moment the five
minutes were past I struck the table and he immediately
arose, went toward Mrs. B and said: “ Mrs. B will
you read that book?” I then easily awakened him com-
pletely by a single order.

The next experiment was undertaken only to show a
friend an instance of hypnosis and suggestion. I first tried
the production of the usual dream images based on the sub-
ject’s memory, allowing him to form and state his own expe-
riences in this state. I then told him that after awakening
him and when I tapped my pencil on the desk he would clap
his hands and say, Hurrah for Grant. I then continued some
questions and conversation with him in the hypnotic state in
order not to have the post-hypnotic suggestion too closely
connected with the giving of it. After a minute or two of
conversation and dreaming I told him to awaken. He
opened his eyes, but was evidently half or wholly under hyp-
nosis still. I talked with him a little about his visit to the
theater in the afternoon, and also exchanged some conversa-
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normal knowledge. “ Conclusions on either side of the matter
are extremely elusive and the most that we can do is to say
that a verdict of non-proven has to be made in regard to any
hypothesis whatever in reference to the case. The most
that we can believe is that the dream took place and that the
papers were found in consequence of it. But interesting as
it is, we have no proof of clairvoyance er spiritistic agencies
in the phenomena. The whole incident is a remarkable one.
I think we can concede this regardless of the possible ex-
planations, and if we assume no more than its remarkable
elusiveness. But it seems to be remarkable for more than
this feature. There is much to support the belief that it was
supernormal, tho it wants the characteristics that would
make it evidential. It would be stronger, of course, were it
not for the circuthstances that enable the sceptic to suspect
actions in connection with the matter that are doubtful
enough in their character to raise a suspicion regarding the
whole phenomenon. It is precisely this that must make the
intelligent man pause when asked to consider the super-
normal in it. But the various suppositions necessary to
make a complete whole of it as a fraudulent production are
less supported than is necessary to make them more than
a priori possibilities. Hence the strength of the evidence for
the occurrence of the dream and the apparently supernormal
knowledge conveyed by it is such as to divest an a priori
possibility of much of its cogency. We are left, therefore,
without any final conclusion as clear as may be desirable.
It is simply a phenomenon which required a most complete
investigation at the time of its occurrence, and when such
occurs again it may be possible to investigate it more effect-
ively.

The experiments with hypnosis tend to show the genu-
ineness of the original phenomena, and certainly indicate the
impression which the man’s experience made on his mind.
There was a naive revelation of facts which the man would
not have told naturally, and this was indicated very clearly
by his embarrassment when he came out of the induced
sleep. Any one familiar with such phenomena will see in
them circumstances favoring the truthfulness of the story



430  Proceedings of American Society for Psychical Research.

about the dream and the finding of the papers, even tho they
do not prove the supernormal charactér of the information.
They are strong evidence of the man’s honesty, and it would
only remain to show good reason to believe that the man
never had any normal knowledge of the burying of the
papers to make the dream a supernormal one. But satis-
factory proof evades us at every point, and the whole case
has to be left in the same uncertainty as many other
instances, until other proof of the supernormal has been
obtained, when it might seem easily explicable by hypotheses
which we would not entertain on such evidence as this in-
stance presents.
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often out of touch with the public mind and so unwilling to
educate it in intelligent methods that they are exposed to as
much criticism as if they were credulous.

:In the present case what struck us, in spite of the per-
fectly obtrusive weaknesses of the testimony on the part of
Mr. X., was the existence of qualities in the report which
would have made the phenomena puzzling to a future.gen-
eration, if it had nothing to rely on but the honesty and ap-
parent intelligence of the reporter. There is a fair amount
of intelligence shown by Mr. X. in his account, in spite of
most definite evidence of credulity. The fundamental weak-
ness of his account is the failure to discriminate between his
theory of the phenomena and the actual facts of ohservation.
This any reader will observe. But when we consider that his
statements are supported by the testimony of other persons
we have to face the very simple explanation of trickery and
lying on the part of some one interested in deceiving Mr. X.
Such it turned out to be; so that, while the testimony is
collective, it yielded to the briefest inquiry, and what might
have been an interesting story to another generation which
had no means of interrogating the witnesses turns out to be
the simplest kind of a fraud.

The circumstance that protects the majority of sceptics
in such phenomena is their previous knowledge of physical
laws and their immediate recognition of the fact that such
phenomena contradict all that they have been accustomed to
suppose inviolable.  Their difficulty in accepting events
will be proportioned to their confidence in the *Jaws
of nature.” Many people. however, have no * prejudices ”’
against the facts on the ground of their contravening expe-
rience. They are prepared to admit anything whatever.
Two influences have Lrought this about, perhaps three. (5
The survival of the Lelief in the miraculons; (2) Ignorance
in regard to the re;ation of sach alleged phenotnena 1o estabs-
lished physical law: and 73, The influence of medern phys-
ical discovery in physicz] forer of a supersensible sort
which has remores the o4 jandanarks of the maverial wor'd
and prepared mary :minds , zhiit the patibilivy of any-
thing. Sceptics rmve rerkry with 1hisy situation when 23°
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must not trespass further on your patience. I was told yes-
terday by a boy whom I believe was telling the truth, that he
had that morning seen in the same cellar, the headless figure
I had seen in March. I think you should investigate the
phenomena here with as little delay as possible. They ap-
pear to be increasing in strength, and are spread over quite
an area, and seem now to be taking place not only in shops,
but to a greater extent in the open air. Your scientific
knowledge, your past investigations into occult matters, and
your fearlessness, render you an ideal investigator. The
physical manifestations in this town are consequent upon
crimes committed for a period of upwards of two years past
in this County of Hants, in which both the innocent and the
guilty are participating. It is, in my opinion, the suddenness
of the transition of these spirits, in the prime of youth and
manhood, with only one exception, in the case of an old man,
which gives them such control over matter. I never knew
till these things occurred during the past few months, to
which I have only briefly referred, that there were so many
unconscious physical mediums among the young men and
boys of this town.

Oct. 12th. I must bring this long letter to a close, but
before doing so, I must give you my latest experience, which
occurred yesterday afternoon. I had gone down to see if
the hogshead which I had not moved from the merchant’s
premises was still there, as since the merchant had taken it
from two reliable persons, I had heard of its being in other
places not far from my land. It was there. There was a
pounding in a shed near which it was, which occurred sev-
eral times and was heard by the young man who was with
me. The shed was locked, . and I went all round it, and in-
spected it narrowly, to see if any one could have entered it,
and made these sounds by trickery. There was no way of
getting into the shed. Its locked door was continually under
my observation. But a more extraordinary thing was to
take place. Standing facing a little building entirely unoccu-
pied, I saw apparently, the door slowly open and the figure
of a man appear in the doorway. Then he went back into
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sons should be levitated upon one of the principal buildings.

There seems no cessation of the phenomena, it is more varied

and has taken the form of controlling several young men and

boys in the town, so that they have frequently had those de-

lusions, common to the subjects of the hypnotizer.
Sincerely yours,

Windsor, N. S., January 16th, 1907.

Dr. James H. Hyslop, :

Dear Sir:—I have to apologize for not replying to your
letter to me before. Mr. X. is anxious to send by this mail
to you something from me, and there is no time to give any
particulars, only to say that there are certainly strange things
happening in this town, differing from the ordinary events
hitherto familiar to us, and which should be investigated by
a competent investigator, like yourself, to determine their
nature and origin.

Yours sincerely,
H—

This letter of Mr. H is interesting enough as oracu-
lar in its statements, and when we understand that he was
probably propitiating Mr. X. as a business man who wanted
his custom we can appreciate the desire for ambiguity. He
carefully refrained from describing what he mentions.

The next letter is from one of the persons who was also
implicated in the production of the phenomena and is inter-
esting in the light of the discoveries and confessions obtained
by Mr. Carrington.

Windsor, N. S., January 16th, 1907.
Dr. James H. Hyslop, '

Dear Sir:—I now enclose you statements from two per-
sons, Miss M T , and W. L——, and I have also sent
you by this mail a letter from Mr. H . which I prepared,
as it was no use depending on his replying to you. There
has been last week such extended and varied phenomena,
that I had to spend a good deal of time making notes .of it,
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Statements.
Windsor, N. S,, January 17th, 1907.

I am conducting the business of a barber, and have been
doing so for many years, in the town of Windsor. My pres-
ent stand is on Gerrish Street. During a recent period and
no later than this morning, things have taken place, in and
about my shop, which I cannot understand and which were
certainly not the result of trickery, or idle mischief on the
part of my employees, or any customer who might be in the
store when they happened. Foreign coins of small value,
have been dropped on the floor, but the puzzle was where
did they came from, for I am certain neither myself nor my
employees had them previously. One of these men has sev-
eral of these coins in his possession. Mr. X. has one, a
Jamaica cent dropped near him a little time ago in Living-
ston’s Restaurant, seized by one of the men who happened
to be in there (despite Mr. X’s. remonstrance) and five days
afterward, when Mr. X. came into my place on some business,
the same coin fell near him and me, and I gave it to him.
It was taken apparently out of my man’s pocket, his coat be-
ing hung up. He claimed the cent, saying it was in his
pocket, but Mr. X would not return it to him.  This morn-
ing, about 10:30 Mr. X. came into my shop, to see me about
making this statement. While he was in there, an acetyline
gas burner fell on the floor, which I thought had been taken
out of my gas branch, at first, but I was mistaken. I don’t
know where it came from and I gave it to Mr. X. One of
our cents of 1906 fell and was also taken by him, and as he
went out of the door, an electric lamp (I have none of them
about my premises), was thrown out after him, on to the
sidewalk. It did not explode. This is the third electric
lamp which has been thrown by something and from some-
where. I don’t know by whom, or whence. Other strange
things, I and others in my shop have witnessed, at various
times, but this is sufficient to show that these occurrences
should be thoroughly investigated.
: R— F——.

The next is an affidavit by another witness.
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places in the town, where these manifestations are continu-
ally taking place, strive to have someone with me in these
places, who is able to keep the control of his senses, for the
mediums in them are so generally controlled that they do
not know what is going on, and will subsequently deny,
when in their normal state, that any manifestations occurred.
I do not for a moment suppose that you knew Mr. C. was
a trance medium, nor do I think that you could have known
of his peculiarities, to put it mildly. There is no doubt that
he said he was a trance medium. I cannot presume that he
was telling an untruth in saying so. I went and informed
the typewriter that she would not be wanted that evening.
I am not in the habit of breaking such engagements, and I
did not like this action on the part of Mr. C. As he wished
to avoid me, I did not again call at the hotel until Saturday
morning when the proprietor informed me that Mr. C. had
left the afternoon of the day before for Halifax, and subse-
quently, that morning, I received the following letter out
of the postoffice from him:

Victoria Hotel,

T. Doran, Proprietor.
Windsor, N. S,, Jan. 25th, 1907.

Dear Mr. X.:—I am sorry, I have been called back to
New York and left without saying “ good-bye,” and, perhaps,
a trifle prematurely. I was thoroughly satisfied as to the
nature of the phenomena observed, however, and we shall
doubtless take pleasure in sending you a copy of the report
of the occurrences, when it appears. With best wishes, be-
lieve me,

Sincerely yours,
- AEREWARD CARRINGTON.

P. S.—Many thanks for your kind co-operation and help,

in behalf of Dr. Hyslop and myself.”

You will see that this letter does not convey any definite
idea of the kind of report he was about to submit to you, and
any report of his, even if finding the manifestations genuine,
would be based on very insufficient and partial data. I re-
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was in another part of the store. He is an Irishman, a Ro-
man Catholic, and a medium, and is frightened at what he
has previously witnessed in this store. At twenty-five min-
utes to nine, a working man’s mitten fell out of the air in
front of the head clerk. I picked it up, and he said that he
had never seen it before. In less than a minute afterwards,
the mate of this mitten fell on the floor out of the air, about
six feet from this young man to his left. Both times these
mits fell just as with both hands on Mr. H , he was about
to lift the puck. I saw the mittens in the air about four feet
up, as they descended. It is idle for any one to talk of
trickery, under the circumstances. Within three minutes in
all, these mittens, a small roll of zinc, with a string around
it, and a small tree wedge of iron fell to the floor, while the
two clerks were playing their game, and the driver was
where he could not possibly have thrown anything without
being observed. I had known that occasionally there were
things thus moved in the store, but within the last fortnight,
these occurrences have greatly increased there, accompanied
also at times with an audible voice from the cellar. I have
reason to believe that Stanford White has been manifesting
here, if so, he told me that Mrs. Thaw’s evidence is true, and
that Thaw would not be convicted. I really must stop. I
very much regret the illness of your housekeeper, and trust
it did not terminate fatally, and that ere long you will be
able to come to Windsor.
Again, sincerely yours,

P. S.—Of course all names in this and signed to state-
ments previously sent, are confidential.
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York boy—I was unable to say. They discussed the phe-
nomena that had been occurring in the factory with the ut-
most freedom, and apparently wished to furnish all the in-
formation possible. The first impression I received was de-
cidedly favorable, since they all appeared to be transparently
honest, and to take a genuine interest in the phenomena, as
well as rather fearing them.

I went upstairs to the second floor of the factory, and
looked about me. It was evidently used as a store room for
the chairs, etc., that were made downstairs, these being piled
up in heaps. While I was upstairs I heard three loud, metal-
lic knocks on the other side of the factory. I went over in
that direction, and found a number of steam-pipes against
the wall of the building. As these ran through the floor
down to the ground floor, where the young men employed
in the factory were, the phenomena were certainly incon-
clusive, as, if struck from below, the sound would travel up
the pipes. Certainly, I could not assert that the sounds
were produced in this manner, as the sounds, if produced in
a genuine, supernormal manner, might have been struck on
the pipes: but, as I said, the phenomena were inconclusive,
at the very least. While close to the pipes, and listening
intently, I heard three more blows struck upon them, and
this time there was no mistaking their origin. They were
doubtless upon the pipes, and were struck with some metal
tool or instrument. A moment later, I heard someone move
downstairs, directly below the spot to which the pipes led,
and, a moment later, I heard the steps of someone walking
away. At this moment Mr. X. came up to the spot where I
was standing, and we went together to the third floor of the
factory. I noticed that the young man who accompanied us
through the factory always remained behind us a few seconds
before following us upstairs. The fact may have had no
especial significance, but was worth noting, I thought.

When we were on the third story of the factory, we heard
three very loud bangs or knocks upon the wall of the factory,
which was built of wood. The knocks were undoubtedly
objective, but had no evidential value, for the reason that
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to visit other places in the company of Mr. X., and see if any
new phenomena were forthcoming. We accordingly left the
factory. and proceeded down the road. I did not say any-
thing to Mr. X. about the conclusion to which I had come
relative to the factory phenomena, for the reason that I
feared he would refuse to accompany me further if I stated
my mind at that time; and, further, I was perfectly open to
admit that new phenomena of a genuine sort might be forth-
coming, and I wished to see these phenomena before coming
to a decided opinion as to the nature of the whole of the
phenomena recorded.

At the corner of the street we met two boys, who were
introduced to me as Dan O and B. M I had heard
of them before from Mr. X,, remarkable phenomena occur-
ring, it was claimed, in their presence* They spoke openly
of the phenomena, did not attempt to deny any of the stories
that were told about them, but, on the contrary, rather added
to them. I noticed that they smiled whenever they spoke
of the phenomena, however, and frequently smiled at me in a
knowing way, when Mr. X. was not looking, as though I
was to be taken into their confidence! If one can express a
wink in a smile, they assuredly did so! From a study of
their manner at the time I came to the conclusion that they
regarded the whole thing as a joke, and that they were in
some way playing tricks upon Mr. X.—as schoolboys have
been known to do before, I believe! However, I desired to
see the phenomena for myself, if possible, and, upon Mr. X.
inviting them up to his office, they accepted his invitation,
and we four went up the stairs—1I at least somewhat eagerly.

The two boys sat on chairs opposite one another, and
distant about four feet. Mr. X. and myself sat on chairs side
by side, so that we four made the corners of a square. Mr.
X. sat close to M and I next to Dan O We sat
talking for some minutes. when Mr. X. rose, walked across’
the floor, and returned to my side, standing by me while I
examined an “apport " he had brought me to see. In this
way his back was turned towards M , while he was facing
me. I took particular pains not to look at M but at Mr.

* These are the two from whose hands the dictionary had been snatched,
at King’s College (see p. 469).
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I am tired now, going.

(I don’t read it. Try again.)

Going James tired now. Wait here.
(All right.) [pause.]

At this point I placed some articles on the table which
had belonged to a friend from whom I wished to hear, and
on any theory of telepathy I should have heard. Immedi-
ately following the pause mentioned my wife again took up
the communications and began a clear and evidential incident
in reference to our enjoyments in music, as the reader will
observe who reads the record.

There may be some doubts about any real change of com-
municator in this. We may suppose that it was the same
personality involved in the confusion that was apparent in
the clear messages both before and after. But the address,
‘“ Good morning,” tho sometimes used in the Smead case at
the close of morning experiments, was too near the beginning
of the sitting and the expression “ good-by ” at the end rather
suggests that psychologically the situation involves a change
of alleged communicator. But whether we assume that it is
my wife or a new communicator that is purported, the evi-
dence of confusion in the psychological stream of action is
apparent, and with the change of subject in the messages it
is also equally evident that the process represents a close re-
semblance to the Piper phenomena. A point could be made
of the expression, “I am tired,” but it would require too
much discussion and space to make it apparent. It simply
coincides with a whole group of facts which it resembles.

In another instance at the close of a sitting and after some
clear statements about certain phenomena on the “other
side ”’ the same communicator purported to control or com-
municate.

I will go now, yes.

(Goodbye. God bless you.)

* * x [‘bless’ ?] you and * * * * * * [pause.] yes. I * *
when I can get it [pause.] alright [pause] and I must * * it is
* * goodby, Mary.

It is not necessary to conjecture what the attempt here
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* * * [Scrawls.] yes.

es.

R. H. and [?] your...

(Good, slowly.) [pause.] (How are you?)

and father [word ‘father’ read aloud.] no, yes.

(Good morning.) * * [perhaps scrawl for ‘ morning.’] * * *
[very doubtful attempt at ‘ Hyslop.’] [Long pause.]

(Go ahead.)

[Moved pencil to edge of sheet, and then a long pause.] * * *
* * * [scrawls.] yes, * * * * enough [?] you * * * * [pause.]
we are [pause.]

(Are you here Chesterfield?)

what is it [written very slowly.]

(Are you here Chesterfield?)

no, he is not * * now [?] * * come * * * * * * * * x %

(All right. Is it difficult?) yes

(What is the trouble?)

to [too] much cairs [cars] not read at time.] * * [scrawls.]
do you hear us. do you hear us. (No.) to [too] much cars
[read at time as ‘ muscles course’] no, to [too] much cars [read
at time as ‘cares.’] nocars.

(Too much cars?)

yes, yes.

(Shall we stop today?)

Yes.

(All right. We shall close.)

* * [scrawls.]

Mrs. Smead did not go into a deep trance. She described
her feelings as going in and out alternately with a feeling as
if fainting in the distance. She also said that she saw a
person with dark brown eyes, stouter than I am and with
brown beard. His hair was thicker than mine and he did not
look like Dr. Hodgson, whom Mrs. Smead has seen.

October 14th, 1906.

My brother-in-law came to dinner today and when I in-
troduced him to Mrs. Smead at the table, Mrs. Smead, as
reported afterwards, first to my housekeeper and then to me,
felt light-headed and her right hand began to tremble as if it
wanted to write. To conceal it she says she put it under the
edge of the table until it ceased.

There is a double pertinence in this. It was natural for
Mrs. Smead, consciously or unconsciously, to associate his
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on Sundays. She used frequently also to play especially for
me, a treat which I have missed greatly since her death.
The allusion to what ought to have been done before my
wife passed away may have great pertinence. It was her
father’s intention to have my wife make and sign a will and
he had been procrastinating for years about it. Thinking
that I might die, as I was not strong then, he was quick
enough to have me make and sign mine. He spoke in the
summer a few months before she died of having my wife
make and sign hers. It was ready for her signature on the
day of her death. My father-in-law became executor and the
property was returned to him. With the promise that my
children would be provided for in his will, I waived the right
to be executor and signed a will leaving my property to my
children and to Mr. Hall, if they died. Whether any allusion
to this condition of my affairs is meant I do not know.

[LATER NOTE.]

The above record was copied immediately after the sit-
ting and at the same time the notes to it were made. I did
not know until the next day, when I received a letter from
my mother-in-law, that Mr. H. was actually on his death bed.
When I made the above note, referring to expectations of his
death at any time, I had in mind those physical conditions
which exposed him to a fatal attack for some years. But as
he was, so far as I knew, continuing at business as he had for
these many years of exposure, I did not know that he had
actually been seized with an attack. That he was in declin-
ing health was not known to Mrs. Smead, much less the
present critical condition.

October 15th, 1906.
7:20 p. m. Present J. H. H.

[At 7.22 the hand began to tremble and at 7.23 to write.]

* * [Scrawls.] [pause.]

(Can’t read.) [pause.] (Mentally: What is the matter?)
what is it.

(Well, who is writing?)

[pause.] mother said [not read, but tried as ‘others and’]
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did I not teach a number of them.

(Yes, where was that?)

yes, away from here.

(Yes, that’s right. But there was one....)

one thi. .this side of the water. I mean you near near y...
[erased] do to [?] you.

(Yes, I remember one near here.)

[pause.] She came here [read ‘come.’] came and I
taught her

(Last three words.)

I taught her.

(Yes, do you remember her name?)

I can see her.

(Good. Where is she. That will be a good test. I don’t
know.)

[pause.] her name you asked me.

(Yes.) [I here mentally thought of the lady’s full name.]
yes, yes.

(Well, can you make it clear?) [pause.] (It was not writ-
ten for me.) [I then mentally spelled the name.]

ﬂOI *x %k X %

(Words after ‘1.°)

cannot think it clearly.

(Did you hear me think it?) not so James I * * *

(Words after ‘1.")

I get so tired when I think hard.

(I understand.)

I think father will want to try next time. ..time, but want to
try next time [not read at the time, but thought to be ‘me at
home.’] no, next time

(Good. I shall see what I can do. I have arranged for a lady
tomorrow night. I shall try for him after that.)

[pause.] good night James. I will go now, yes.

(Good night.)

[Mrs. Smead soon came to consciousness with a sigh. She
reported no remembered experiences.]

This sitting contains little or nothing that is evidential.
If T had gotten her mother’s name it would have been evi-
dential. She did teach a number of students in a college, but
that she taught music at a college is known to Mrs. Smead.
The failure too to get the lady’s name whom she taught in
this city prevented the getting of an evidential fact. It was
pertinent to refer to ““ this side of the water” as she did
nearly all her music teaching in this country and it was the
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upstairs and into the room seating herself by the table om which
the writing was going on. The hand became at omce gumr
agitated and I saw that it meant something. I waited for the
writing.]

why did you not tell me before [pause and trembiing.]

(I was not certain of it. This lady will have a sTIring ©
night.)

PPN [written with difficulty and hand wembling ~ I
must rest [read “ must not tell’] rest, and [?] resz. f[oo¢ reai’
[Here I had to ask the Secretary to leave ] rest. [pazse i bep
me James.

(All right. Mary. [ wanted this lady to see bow tie wok
was done. so that she could take notes tonight )

and I wanted to talk to you alone.
» Well. I bave to be away tomight and will have acer ==

now I * * am [not read] now. now [ mean ‘ust zow.

\Yes that's right She has gone.)

If vou can free your mind you will feel qereter abows = e
matters. '

tYes. that is rue.) [pamse.] I wante? compamrasiry ami
proper gentle care tor the children.»

yes, you should have it [pazse] they zeel T mor= T
you [pause] do0. [ camn [canm| remain wrm your... @ Foor
memory [~ memory T read as " camecessary. . I

Pause a —omment 3atwl [ oorme Sack

I saw t2at the tacer was 27T 1T e IuT T 1 ‘2w momeas
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(All right, describe one.)

She got them by my talking to her and she could some [sheet
changed] sometimes see my thoughts. they are sometimes visu-
alized, yes, no, some lights [pause.] read easier by her in that
way. you get what I say yes, [pause.] :

(Yes, I get it.) .

sometimes the light does not get it clearly.

(Yes, I understand.)

and afterwards gets it when no one is present to influence her.
(Good.) yes. [pause.] I will go now.

(Well, Mary, I have to have a strange lady present tonight.)

yes. (Good.) I will go now, yes.

(Goodbye. God bless you.)

* * * [bless?].youand * * * * * * [payse.] yes I * *
when I can get it [pause.] alright [pause.] and I must * * it
is * * goodby [goodbye] Mary.

I did not get any message regarding the subject men-
tioned here at the medium that I had in mind. It was indi-
cated with some clearness in the description who this was,
and I take it to be intended for Mrs. Blake. It was away
from here and the allusion to the fact that the husband was
present with me and no one else describes that case exactly.

The subject talked ahout here is perfectly clear to me and
has been in mind for a year. It refers to my consideration of
matrimony and is not known to any one but myself, and two
other persons, one of them many miles from here and the
other my housekeeper. It is not agreed upon, but has been
a matter of consideration. It was alluded to by Dr. Hodgson
at my last sitting with Mrs. Piper. I am inclined to think
that the allusion through Mrs. Smead is also supernormal,
tho it is not so clearly indicated as is necessary to make it
evidential. Other statements about modes of communication
are not verifiable, but are most interesting.

October 16th, 1906.
7.30 p. m. Present Mrs. B.

As I had to be absent I asked Mrs. B. who wished a trial at it
to take the sitting for the evening. She could not read much of
the writing and asked few questions. They were recorded, how-
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yes, you can give them other things, but, yes, but H used it
and I always had near me.

(That’s right.)

yes, I want it to be near you. (Good.) yes. [pause.]

(Mary may I ask a question?)

[pause.] always you could do it better [erased.] better than
I. [pause.]

[I here reached an article that belonged to the little girl
through whom with a trumpet my wife purported to communicate
recently and placed it on the table near the wrmng pad. The
object was to test its identity.]

(Do you know what this is on the table?)

**[Scrawls_]******together***t****
[scrawls.]

(Is it too hard?)

* %k X %

(I don’t get the words.)

* * it. [pause.] I [?] cannot....help me * * [I here
quickly removed the article from the table. The hand had been
violently trembling all the while.]

(I was trying an important experiment.)

help * * * * [I here relaxed the muscles of the fingers
which were held stiff and fixed the pencil which had been pushed
up until it was held almost by the point.] [pause.]

I get nearer you her...here without out it [read with it.’]
no. [pause.] It troubles me. I recall only a little [I paused
at the reading.] a little at once * * that I tell you. to [too]
many much con...confuses me. So yes

(I will leave it entirely to you.)

it is better. [Long pause.]

[The pause was perhaps caused by my taking some time to fix
the sheets of paper so that I could remove them easily when I
needed.]

I can go all around and those things are gone that we together
liked so much, yes. [pause.] my [here I moved the sheet of
prevent superposing and the result was a pause.] Jewels

(Yes I understand.)

[pause.] yes then we brought home little things from Swit
... I cannot spell it.

(Describe that place.)

high moun ... [pencil ran off sheet.] untains there you
know.

(All right. that is correct. I wanted it as evidence.)

[pause.] yes [pause.] (That is good.) [pause.]

we had a very [read ‘a boy’]. no, very pleasant time there,
yes.

(Do you remember who was with you?)
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(At that other place?)

I think I am right about [pause.] it [pause.]

(I will look it up.)

I will tell you about [pause.]

(Wait a moment. I must fix the pencil.) [I fixed the pencil
which was pushed up to the fingers.]

you asked me to send you about home afairs [affairs] how
they kept the outside buildings. yes, do you remember now.

(You said something about outbuildings through this lady.)

yes, that was what I said I promised to, yes.

(I did not get it in the other light, only this one.) no, no, I
did not give it there.

(I thought you meant that.)

no, did not want to get mixed up [‘ mixed ’ read as ‘ my’ with
rising inflection.] mixed

(Wait a moment until I fix the pencil.)

[The hand was considerably cramped and the pencil again
pushed up to the fingers. I fixed them so that the writing would
be easier.] :

it is not right. [pause.]

(Wait a moment.) [I again fixed the pencil.] [pause.]

I did [pause.] want to tell you [pause.] about [pause.]
coming through this lady (Good.) before others could. did
you get it. [pause.]

()The message was very small.) yes, (The lady saw Hodg-
son.
I know all about it. we did it [*did’ read read as ‘heard’
at the time.] no, we did it together.

(She also saw an apparition of me.) * * * * [apparently
‘that was,” except that a letter ‘t’ was made and crossed after
finishing the second word which might make it ‘ both.’] [pause.]
due to R. H. speaking to her. [‘due’ read as ‘done’ doubt-

fully.] no, no,no. D UE to her, yes.
. (Good.) [pause.] (It was an important fact.)

good I am glad we tried it [not read at time.]

(I did not get the last three words.)

I am glad we tried it. [pause.]

(Hodgson told me through the other light that he came and

.. with you and got your name through. That was good evi-
dence.)

of her honesty [not read at time.] Honesty yes, oF HER
[read and spelled ‘E HER.’] oF. Say it together, of her
honesty.

(Oh yes.) [Read the passage: ‘I am glad we tried it of her
honesty.] [pause.]

(Let me fix the pencil.) [The pencil fixed.]

you will see what I said more clearly later.
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(Cannot tell who?) you (Cannot tell me. All right.)
what you want to know, yes.
(What is it that I want to know?) you [pause.] (What
about?)
decide [not read] (That word again.) my coming to you.
[¢ coming’ read ‘concerning.’] no, coming nearer to you.
(Good, Mary. I made an arrangement for this lady’s iriend
to communicate today.)
[pause.] yes, * * [scrawls.] father told me so, but I wanted
to tell you [pause.] about what you asked me.
(Shall I ask the lady to go out?)
you must decide all mater [matter] is [‘is’ erased.] for you
to decide, yes. [I here asked Mrs. B. to leave the room which
she did.]
(Can you give the message again?)
[pause.] not for a [pause.] no until after another Sabbath
day, yes. [pause.]
(Are you willing to wait?)
[pause.] if you wish it, James. I will try to be patient, yes.
(I arranged for this lady’s friend, so I think I should keep my
engagement.)
not her friend, but her relative. (Yes.) yes, goodby James.
[The hand paused and I called Mrs. B. into the room. ' There
- was some evident change of influence, but there was no tendency
of the hand to drop the pencil.]
now you should leave her alones her husband would talk to
her, prays Leave us alone. he [pause.] would converse with
her privately.
[I immediately left the room at this point.]
(Are you here, dearest?)
. yes, we would be happy once more on * * anmversary day,
cloudy one that would mean much to us.
(Did you remember it, dearest?)
yes, [Mrs B. began to sob.] and do not weep, we d1d not
then dearest. do not, you must not weep. you have, but you
forget we are not separated, only a cloud between us. I would
not leave you.
(Please write that more clearly.)
not for anything. . I try to tell you before you make mxstakes,
but you, my dearest, do not always think. it is I that is h..
[erased] trying to help you. [pause.]
life for you is not a burden, as you think, my dear. I do not
want you to be sad. It troubles me here.
(Does it make you unhappy when I am unhappy?)
yes, my girly: not this morning.
(Are you alone, or are any of the others with you?)
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once addressed the communicator as Capt. Benton, and tho
once I heard her remark at the table in telling a story about
a dangerous situation in which she was placed, that a faith-
ful servant had addressed her as he usually did as Miss Cap’n.
I noted at the time that it might have been recognized, but
think it was not so observed in fact. But it is not necessary
to press this on either side when so many important facts
were wholly unknown.

Mrs. B. was exhausted after the sitting, as I was always
tired after sittings that I had. I felt no weariness this day.
I was, of course, not present. But I have noticed that the
weariness is apparently wholly out of proportion to the actual
labor involved, just as I noticed the fact in the experiments
with Mrs. Piper.

October 2oth, 1906.
10.42 a. m. Present J. H. H.

I had asked one of the ladies who has had many Piper
sittings to take the sitting to-day, and at the last moment she
was not able to be present. This preliminary remark will ex-
plain one reference in the record.

[10.46 hand began to tremble and at 10.49 to write.]

* * [scrawls.] y.... yes, [pause.] nearer. [pause.] we
[pause.] are coming nearer him [read first as ‘here’ and then
“him.’] yes, both. (Good.)

Mary [written slowly.]

(Good morning, Mary.) She is not here tis [erased.] this
morning. after the Sabbath [pause.] she comes to you again.
[pause.] (Good.) yesitisI...

[I here took away my wife’s watch which I had laid on the
table and placed my father’s articles on the table.]

take it away.

(Do you want your articles?)

near here [pause.] this will.. So my pencil has not been
sharpened for some time James. cannot you do it.

(I sharpened it this morning.) no, not my own.

[Just before the sitting I had sharpened the pencil that was
used yesterday and worn completely to the wood.]

you see to it my son, yes.
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fend it against suspicion, tho I do not grant that it is justly
attributable to doubtful practices.

October 22nd, 1906.
10.18 a. m. Present J. H. H. and Mr. M.

I had previously arranged to have Mr. G. L. M. present
for this sitting, but the anxiety of my wife to communicate
led me to begin the sitting fifteen minutes earlier to give her
a brief opportunity to say what she wished. The sitting,
therefore, began fifteen minutes before the regular hour.
Mr. M. came later and his admission will be marked in its
place.

Before the experiment began Mrs. Smead told me of an
experience this morning when she came into the room to
make my little boy’s bed. She felt a choking sensation. After-
ward she felt something back of her eyes and as if her head
was whirling. She had to stand still and shut her eyes until
it passed away. J. H. H.

[10.22 hand began to tremble and at 10.24 it began to write.]
* * * [scrawls.] H. * * * * [scrawls with letter ‘y’ legible.]
[pause.]

(Not clear yet.)

do you want Mary this time James.

(Yes, for a short time. I expect a man a little later.)

[pause.] good morning James.

(Good morning Mary. I am glad to meet you.)

I thought you did not want me this time.

(Yes, for a short time only and I will tell you when to stop.)
[pause.]

is father coming to me soon, yes, I told you.

(Yes, I think so.)

yes. I wanted to talk to him [‘ him’ first read ‘ when’ and
then quickly corrected.] yes [pause.]

(He is not able.)

I know now, but I wanted to talk to him. [pause.] I will
need to watch him carefully. (Yes) yes. [pause.] I
wish he could believe I come near to him.

(Have you been there?)

I go often.
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(Yes, father, I...)

as you know we have not controlled long [not read] long and
it is harder for us.

(Yes, I believe it.)

[pause.] * * * [h.., .] [scrawls.]

(I thought I would give him a sitting today and then some
later.)

could friend H. we p... be persuaded I could I think help
more, but alone * * * [erased.] his friend is not anxious to
[ anxious ’ not read.] anxious to try. (I understand.) [pause.]

(Would it help if I left the room?)

no, it would not make any difference.

(All right.)

as I should have to talk for her [pause.]

[Again I fixed the pencil and there was a pause of 15 minutes.
After a few minutes the hand stopped trembling and rested for a
few minutes. It then began to tremble again, and again stopped.
Again the hand began to tremble and in two minutes was writ-
ing.]

[Writing was slow and difficult.] He will not come today
and I cannot come alone.

(I understand. Do you mean that we shall stop?)

yes, it is better so.

(Good, very well.)

goodby....

(Goodby, father. We try tomorrow morning with another.)

After Mrs. Smead came out of the trance she said she
saw two ladies, one with dark hair and eyes, the other with
light hair, laughing as if playing a joke on some one. The
dark-haired one had a very white skin and her hair was
parted in the middle and wavy on the side. The hair of the
other was parted a little on one side and was fussed up.

At 1.35 p. m. Mrs. LeM. all at once felt as if she were be-
ing possessed and asked me to bring Mrs. Smead, with the
hope that Mrs. Smead might see something. I called Mrs.
Smead and as nothing could be seen I suggested a sitting to
clear away the influence. We at once went upstairs and
Mrs. Smead took the pencil. Mrs. LeM. sat down by the
table and I attended to the management of the séance, which
was conducted as the usual experiment. The following was
the result:
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simultaneously heard by Mr. Carrington. I have no proof that
there were any subliminal influences from Mr, M.’s voice, espe-
cially as we had talked in a very low tone of voice most of the
time, and as Mrs. Le M. is usually in quite an abstracted mood of
attention at her work she is not easily disturbed normally by
sounds, tho perhaps this might be associated with subliminal hy-
peraesthesia. But while this may have given rise to her experi-
ences, tho I have no proof of the fact, it hardly accounts for the
raps, as already remarked, and especially for Mr. Carrington’s
hearing them. Raps are not habitual features of the work in the
office, so that on any view of the incidents reported they seem to
have some coincidental relation to the situation.
JAMES H. HYSLOP,

October 24th, 1906.

10.35 a. m. Present Mrs. Quentin; J. H. H. present a few
moments at beginning, and came in as the sitting closed.

[10.37 hand trembled and at 10.39 wrote.]

* * [possibly ‘is H.)s f’ ?]

(Wait a moment.) [pencil running off top of sheet.]

yes, we are here [not read.] we are here [not read.] we are
here now. [pause.] Tell the lady to [read ‘ we.’] come nearer.
to come nearer, yes and we will try [not read.] try to speake
[speak] to her. [pause.] you had better leave us alone and we
will tell you when we want you, yes.

(All right. I shall go out and you may write straight on and
I can read it afterward.)

[J. H. H. leaves the room.]

* * [scrawls.] all right.

(Who is speaking to me?)

* * [scrawls.] who sits here asks you [apparently said to the
communicator by the control.] * * [scrawls.] * * [mamma?]
my dear

(Can you tell me who you are?)

I am speaking he says. [pause.] you want. I am Mr.
Hyslop’s father. I help [?] trr [?] [erased.]

(Do you want Dr. Hyslop?)

no, I have to talk for your friends and so your work will need
pass through to him. [apparently said to the communicator.]
your dear friend is here near you and I hope you will not loose
patience with me if I do not make it clear to you for him. [To
sitter.]
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you can ask him to come if you wish. we will try to talk to
him. [Mr. B. called in. Mr. B. went in at once.]

(Here is the other friend.)

do you tell him what we have told you, yes.

(They have told me that a lady is here who knew you. She
went out very quietly: said there was no trouble when she went.)

She said she was mother. called mother, yes. [pause.]

(Who called her mother?)

he did, yes, and [pause.] [Mrs. L. puts hand on Mrs. Smead’s
wrist.] [writing .quieter.] she would have him speak to her.
[pause.]

(Mr. B.: Did I call her mother?)

She [pause.] said something about it being so, yes.

(Can she make herself a little clearer?)

she does not think as he did about this, * * she * * [erased.]
he says you would be surprised to see her boy * * * * this work.

(To see the boy at the work?)

yes, why does he come to here when it is not not necessary.
[sheet changed.]

(Not necessary for what?)

y... for his belief in the future [apparently not read.] no,
future life. you do not need it thus [this] way of investigation.
I mean, yes, you know why I never believed it was right. (I
never blamed?) believed it was right. I never did I should
have said and not I do not wish you * * keep it up, for you to * *

(Was it not right?)

nos [no it is] it is not right to [erased.] not to trust it all to
the higher powers and not to work alone for light. that is what
she says now.

(Who is this speaking? Does she say she is this friend’s
mother?)

[pause.] now does she say it moth... [pencil ran off
sheet.] her if she is not friend. (Tell her.) [To Mr. B.]

(Mr. B.: My mother is with me in this life.)

but she says mother and is near to you.

(Anything more to say? It is about time to close the light.)

I guess she is not clear in her mind for she will not say but
that she is or was called mother. she is an elderly lady and per-
haps it will help you to know her... [sheet changed.] she wears
a black gown and quite a wide white necktie embroidered at the
points. she also has a black lace cap on and a brown and white
pin cameo they [sheet changed] they call it. she has it on the
tie * * yes,

(She used to wear it?)

on the tie and sometimes she had a white collar without the
tie, but alway [pencil ran off sheet and sheet changed.] always
she wore the pin, yes.
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‘“ Friday afternoon, after the sitting with the gentleman where
the lady with dark hair appeared, I felt several times as if I
had a mustard plaster across my shoulder, and once this after-
nlc:on I felt it. It seemed to be about the size of a small letter
sheet.”

October 27th, 1906.
10.40 a. m. Present Mrs. L. and J. H. H.

[10.45 hand trembled and at 10.48 wrote.]

I shall try and get the lady for this friend as we promised her
to to do.

(Very good.)

She asked me to, so I shall go to try, wait.

(Mrs. L.. I asked....) [Long pause.]

[Mrs. L. placed Dr. Hodgson’s MSS. book of verses under
Mrs. Smead’s wrist. Hand trembled more noticeably, for awhile
and then moved upward on the paper and began writing.]

she [read at time as either ‘ the’ or ‘she.’] [pause.] she * *
[erased] so we cannot talk like this.

(Mrs. L.: Who is the lady who seems to wish to speak to
me?) [pause.] she hath influence but it is not strong enough
for the Ight [light] this time. had it been taken from of her [read
‘of her’ doubtfully.] off person it would have been stronger.

(To what do you refer in taking it off her person?)

when she left the earth the book that she read does not hold
personal memories of friends (Good.) like the smaller objects
of her wearing apparel.

(Well it is another person that is wanted. Here is an article.)

[T here placed another article of Dr Hodgson’s on the table
near the hand—an article which I have used on various occasions
with Mrs. Smead and others.]

I will go in search and try and bring the person.

(Good. Look at the article carefully.)

[I pointed at the article and thought of Dr. Hodgson. Hand
quietted and a long pause of four minutes. Then it trembled for
two minutes before it began to write.]

Think [read as ‘then’ with waiting for the rest. As hand
was superposing I said: ‘ Wait a moment’ and moved the hand
and pencil down.] T... [I suddenly read ‘think.’”] you]J....
my son. [pause.] .

(Do you wish me to leave the room?)

[pencil made a line across the page and wrote an undecipher-
able word resembling ‘son.’] you think you can trifle with your
father. [written very rapidly.]
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young girl with blue eyes and the tall man. She thought of
her sister who so appeared early in the Piper sittings and
her husband who was tall. But details do not fit at all. The
sitting was an absolute failure in relation to her, and I do not
know any pertinence whatever in any of the incidents.

J. H. H.

October 29th, 1906.

10.45a. m. [Present Mrs. B,, J. H. H. only a few minutes
at the beginning.]

we R here [pause.]

(Let me move the book, please.) [Book or pad moved up a
little.] ’

we, yes, wish to be set right, yes.

(About what?)

our own point, this pencil.

(All right. Shall I change the pencil?) :

[T had begun with pencil used when Mrs. B.’s husband com-
municated. I changed to the one used by my father when in
control and placed it between first finger and the thumb.]

yes, now I have a word to you, James alone.

(All right.) [I asked Mrs. B. to leave a moment. She left.]

your lady friend of last week did not understand us. she hurt
us so as she moved us around we could not do for her what we
would. that is all now. you can leave us with your friend if
you wish.

(Yes, I shall do so.) [I called Mrs. B.]

tell her not to hurt us. [I left as this was writing.]

(Who is here?)

you want your same friend.

(Yes, I do.)

he said has she seen me yet.

(No, not yet.)

I will tell him to try.

[Change of handwriting.] Yes, I am here Bess and...

(Are you Captain?)

I am. [pause.] you are all right this time. your soul is at
rest more now.

(Yes, I am all right.)

yes, I do not like it so troubled as it was before I came to you
here.

(I don’t think I'll ever be so disturbed again.)
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Father so desires it. we will ask him, yes. you must let me tell
you another time about that. I will help you as you so desire
me for a guide. it is all right. you need, yes, not worry. I
must go. the time goes so rapidly. what did you say.

(You will surely come to me?)

yes, I will. I shall live near to you my love. I shall come to
you alone. you will not be frightened.

(No indeed I will not.)

then I will come as near as I can to you this night. will you
seat [apparent attempt to erase.] set in a an [a’ and ‘an’
erased,] an easy chair and do as your friend here is tonight. good,
no I must Ino.... I must leave you until I try to come alone to-
night. goodby my Bessie. be willing that we shall control you.

[Change of handwriting and control.]

Tell James we are agoing to leave now.

(Shall I call him?)

no, not time now. I was almost gone when you called to me.
now what did you ask of me.

(Won’t you be my friend?)

I am the friend of all Son James has for friends, but that is not
just what you wish me to say. what is most or nearest to your
heart, yes.

(Can’t you help me?)

I do when I can be of service to the work. I am not this time.

Mrs. Smead was not told of the failures last week with
Mrs. L. The allusion to the rough handling and failure is
pertinent therefore.

It is true that Mrs. B. feels less worried or troubled than
she was before she came here. Mrs. Smead knows nothing
of her previous history and of course nothing of the state of
mind which gives pertinence to the allusion here. The ref-
erence to “ Charles Horton " is the same as to Charles H. in
the second experiment, but the name is apparently com-
pleted here, tho not correctly. _

The remainder explains itself. It is not evidential, but
it has the right characteristics about it for being what it
purports to be.

One of the most interesting incidents in Mrs. B.’s sit-
tings is that connected with the statement coming from
Mr. B. “1 shall be glad of it if the father, Father so desires
it.” 'The reader will remark that it is imbedded in the con-
versation about her trying mediumistic work herself. She
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alone. why did you think it impossible [J. H. H. called, to turn
sheet. Then returned to his position.] for mother and I to ever
come back to you. we came as soon as we could and now my
head does not trouble [me], yet you do not speak one word to
us here. do you still care for us. it is so strange. it was al-
ways I that was quiet, but I never [J. H. H. called to turn sheet
and remained.] could believe you wuld [would] not speak to me.
Do you come to trouble me. my head is all right now. it is all
right.

(Now what relation are you to this lady?)

I shall not stay if she does not care to speak to me

(Yes, she cares.) alone. (Yes, I hope you could give some-
thing to prove your identity.)

she is mine.

(Good. Yes, she does not see you. We get the messages in
writing and it will take little incidents in your two lives to show
that you are present and when you are able you can give your
name in full or in such form as she will recognize it.)

I cannot tell her one thing (Wait a moment.) [superposing.]
she does not already know.

(Good, but you can tell something which the lady through
whom you are communicating cannot know.)

[Hand went on writing while I spoke this statement.]

Is she not satisfied to know she is mine still.

(Yes, but that does not prove whom you are clearly.)

you know that I came here of head trouble and I will tell you
that I worried * * until it made me sick, yes, and now I am
[written ‘an.] trying to set right myself again. yes we [hand
shook and ‘we’ erased.] I do not like to tell my troubles to
strangers.

(That’s right. Talk on some other subject.)

and she knows I never was much good at talking.

[Long pause during which Mrs. H. remarked: ‘ Won’t that
person tell his name?’ J. H. H. replied: ‘ Yes, but that must
take its own course.’]

[Hand began shaking and in a moment to write but paused
again for a few moments and wrote illegible scrawls.] * * * * *
* * * will come next week [all this not read at time.]

(Cannot read it.)

we will [read ‘would.’] come ...will... will... next week,
Hodgson.

(All right, Hodgson.)

you can help us, yes, goodby [‘by’ read ‘ boy,” and this fol-
lowed by attempt to erase, when I read it rightly.] Hodgson.

(All right. Goodbye. Come again.) [pause.]

[This interruption by Dr. Hodgson, assuming that it is he,
shows a very marked change in the handwriting. It decidedly
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resembles in general characteristics his writing in the Piper case.
The writing now changes to the preceding, deliberate style, Dr.
Hodgson's having been rapid and less clear.]

I told her to speak to me alone. []. H. H. whispers to Mrs. H.
to greet the communicator.]

(Mrs. H.: I am glad to see you.) (Yes, she will the next
time.)

not now no.

(Not next time, but now?)

you see not [probably intended for now] how hard we speak
to you [pause] now do you wear my rings always,

J. H. H.: Say Yes or No.) (Mrs. H.: Yes.)

[Hand slightly trembles.] yes keep it do not ever take them
from the place I put them.

It is a new way to talk (Yes. I understand.) and hard to
bring back memories, yves, but I an [am] trying. [Hand trembles
as it writes next few words.] let us never forget the time I put
the first one there.

(No. she would not forget that.)

it was when we were happiest, [read first * happy.’ then ‘ hap-
piest.’] ves. (\Vaita moment.) [Hand ran off paper.]

I know that she cares because she took it and said, ves, she
would love me always, ves. [excitement in hand.]

It is time for me to go. [pause.]

{Yes. the time is up.)

goodby Tames. \When irend H. said. yes. (Yes I shall)
Father. (Yes. I shall))

Wihen Mrs. Smead came out of the trance she complained
of a2 pain i her head which she said was not like a headache.
It passged awav i ten miume< She s=aid. however. that she
: 2 with a pencil by the side of her's all alone.  Also
me saw a lady with dark ha:ir parted in the middle and
v the sides and pushed over the ears in the old-fash-
ady was stout. Ao 22w a man with pleasant

e = Tlee

le grav, bhut not much so
Qctoder 30th. 1906.

Doust :.s',\'e". v Secretarty i she Xmew tte woman who

She at omce asked me. ** Which
one. Ntsie Mozt once said

n1oste Inlomal Rmow and rematied that she &id not even
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see one of them. The other, the lady’s companion, came
into the room to write a note while the sitting was going on,
but her name was not given to Mrs. LeM. Mrs. LeM. re-
mained in entire ignorance of the sitter, as I wish her to have
another sitting. I admitted them to the house and Mrs. H.
was heavily veiled. A few moments after saying that she
did not know either one of them Mrs. LeM. suddenly said:
“ Wait a minute! Was Mrs. H....... (giving full name)
here this morning?” I simply asked her in reply, “ What
makes you think that?” She replied, “ Now you tell me.”
I admitted it, and Mrs. LeM. remarked: “I just heard a
voice telling me the name.”

I am quite confident that Mrs. LeM. had not been able to
know or suspect in any usual way the identity or name of the
party who came for the sitting.

JAMES H. HYSLOP.

October 30th, 1906.

Mrs. Smead described the following vision as having oc-
curred last Sunday morning just after breakfast.

She had gone upstairs to Mrs. Brain’s room and was sit-
ting in a rocking-chair between the two beds when she saw
the head and shoulders of a lady near the foot of the bed on
her left. The lady had on a cap whose front was flat and a
band seemed to cross it. The sides were puffed up or ruf-
fled. The top was quite high as if it rested on a knot of hair
held up by combs. The face was thin and the cheek bones
high.

Mrs. Brain recognized this as a description of her grand-
mother. Mrs. Brain describes the cap which she wore as
follows. The grandmother wore a cap which was plain
across the front and the sides fuller, resembling ear laps.
The crown of the cap arose slightly above the head so that
it could be seen. Mrs. Brain says that she does not know a
lady to-day who wears one like it. The cap was of the style
of forty years ago.

Mrs. Smead, after the vision, came down stairs and asked
Mrs. Brain to describe her mother. Mrs. Brain wanted to
know why and Mrs. Smead said she thought she, Mrs.
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(Are you all together?) )

we are most of the time.

(Who is speaking?)

Robert Hyslop for ure [your] little girl.

(Is the little girl Alice?)

yes, and there is another too she says. She has only been
here over two Sabbaths.

(Can she tell her name?)

Hariet. she is not strong enough yet mamma. we get
stronger here in a little while to come back. you kn now [hand
began superposing and had to be moved down.] mamma that
this man has the same name as our Robie’s name

(Is there a little boy there?)

name as | said like Robie mamma. do you know we come to
you lots and put our arms around your neck and kiss you, yes,
and you jump sometimes and think it is a noise.

(But I mean another little boy, not Robbie.)

he is not right here, but he is home with auntie. she took him
home mamma [tendency to get the ‘ Mamma’ with one ‘m’ as
has always been the custom with Mrs. Smead.]

(Who took him home? Grandma?)

and Alice would not stay. she saw you go out mama and she
came with you and I am glad I come because I rather be near
you.
(Do you see your little sisters?)

I told you mama we had a nice time together and auntie and
gramma take us to see so many pretty places, but I like to stay
near you.

(You don’t miss me there?)

we do mama. sometimes we cry because you don’t come.
then they take us away till we feel better mama.

(Do you learn lessons there?)

we are learning all the time and I am this time having my first
lesson in talking to you mama this funny way, you see mama.

(Can you ask Grandma to speak to me?)

she is home mama with baby brother.

(Where is home?) [pause.] [Question repeated.] where
w... [pause.] where there are lots of pretty (Wait a moment.)
[pencil fixed.] trees m [‘m’ erased.] and hills that help to make
it look pretty and then the home is there with you. if you was
here it would be here. that is what Grandma tells us when we
cry.

(You must not cry. I think of you always. Be a good boy
and teach little brother.)

we play and grandma tell us lessons. Alice went back to tell
her to come to you quick. mama did you think baby brother
could play with that ball now.
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to hold her, Mrs. LeM.’s hand. Mrs. Smead placed her right
hand on Mrs. LeM.’s right, which soon began to write. The
following as far ds it is decipherable was the result.

[scrawls.] Remember the energy [?] carried [?] out of this
* * * * this morning ..... be a useful * * when [?] [sheet
changed.] now do you see how this is James. * * * * is and
[?] * * Becareful of this * * for withitis * * * * * * % x x *
tell her stop * * * * * * power controlled * * * * * * [pencil
quickly thrown from hand, and writing ceased.] '

Immediately after Mrs. LeM. began to recover clear con-
sciousness, as she was not perfectly normal and complained
apparently of something as was indicated by exclamations
as if pained, she said she saw light all through her head fly-
ing about like forked lightning. As soon as she was clear
she said that her impression of what they were trying to say
was that I should be careful of this lady, the sitter who had
just gone, as she would be useful in the work.

Mrs. Quentin makes the following notes with refer-
ence to this sitting. In a note to the first she says that she
did not utter the whole name of the persons whose initials
are given in the questions she asked of the communicator.
This will explain the significance of the name Harriet.

“ Mrs. Smead was in a trance when I came in and did not
see me at any time. Notice the name of my mother Harriet
is given at once correctly. It was always used in the form of
Hattie for my mother and Harriet for my grandmother.

I have no little girl on the other side, but my brother has
—a tiny baby. The Alice referred to—name mentioned by
Mrs. Q. in previous sitting (p. 643)—represents my sister
Alice who died at the age of six months years ago. You
notice she is referred to by my children as ““ auntie,” tho I
had given no clue of her relation to me. Robie (Robbie)
referred to is my grandfather’s only son, my mother’s
brother who died, aged twelve, years ago.

The child speaking is evidently my oldest son who was
still-born and had no name. He certainly was not in my
thoughts, and I was perfectly amazed to be forced to admit






Detailed Record. A 665

[pause.] will she wish to talk when alone James.

(Mrs. X.: Never mind.) (No, not necessarily. If you can
do it as well with my presence you can do so, but if you need me
to leave I shall do so.)

[pause.] the friend would like to talk alone.

(All right. I shall leave.) [J. H. H. leaves the room.|

you came to see me. .

(Yes, that is a right greeting.)

I am glad you did because It [new line begun] is so good of
you to come.

(I am glad.)

and it is so nice that we can talk.

(I am happy to come.)

although it 1s just a little different, yet we can do it here.

(Yes, we can do it here.)

you know how much I loved you and now I do still only more
but I would tell you all about it my dearest one. you know that
we loved each other very much and did not know how much we
were to each other until I had to come over here. when I came
away I could see you so clearly my dear and I wanted you to
know I was all right.

(That is true.)

I did not want you to weep but I was free from my pain.

(I was glad to have you free.)

and I wanted you to be happy, not said [Probably intended
for sad].

(Yes, I understand. But it was hard.)

yes I know my dearest one I could not help weeping for you
were so lonely and I could not help you as I used to when we
were together. yes, not like w... when I was I did put my
arms around you my dear, but it was so different than when you
would look up and smile when I did it before, you know what I
mean mean mean.

(But you helped me.)

but it was so hard to have that dreadful pain.

(Yes, it was terrible.)

you know I could not have suffered it had you not been so
good to me. :

(How do you mean? But you were very good to me.)

I should now have to be very much ashamed if I had not my
dear been good to you. you, I know were patient with me when
I had that dreadful pain. It was so hard sometimes.

(Anyone would have been patient with you.)

[pause.] we can have a talk about something else. It makes
me suffer so all over again.

(Yes, let us talk of something else.)

It pleases me to see you carry those flowers for me. yes, it
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looks more cheerful. we can know so many things here about
which you do that I did not reli... [erased.] realize when I was
there. It is so nice to have you where I can talk to you yes. |
must rest awhile. wait.

(Yes, I will wait.) [pause.]

How did you find me here.

(Did you not send me word?)

no, how did you find me here. yes, but I wanted you to come
and how did you know it.

(Did you not send me word?)

yes [pause.] then [?] you did get it. I did not know but
perhaps you did n’t. It is quite a while since, yes. (How did you
send me word?) through your friend, yes.

(Which friend?)

you know the one. I do not nee[d] tell it.

(That’s right.) ’

we can send the word to you because you have some light
yourself.

(How have I shown it?)

because you know sometimes I have come to you. you could
see me,

(You mean I could feel you.)

no, see me. I can make you know it is me.

(that is true.)

ves and it is so nice to be able to keep near each other.

(It helps me a great deal.)

it is what takes so much of the awful sting away, yes, and
helps us here so much when our friends, all of those we love. can
know we are near them, ves.

(Tell me something of yourself.)

If 1 do thnk [think] about it. it brings back that dreadful pain.

(Can’t vou tatk about happy days?)

ves, 1 will rest and try again.

(Yes, rest.) [Pause.] [pipe laid on table.]

vou know we do not use them here.  ves.

and I would like to again with vou, ves.

(No. I did not think you did, but you enjoyed it here.)

I had lots of comfort smoking, ves.

( Yes, that is right))

and that is why vou saved them because thev were mine,

¢ You remember those happy days?) ’

no one else even had them but myself and so you keep them
for me, ves.

( But we will be together again®)

when we were together, ves. 1 wish we could again sit and
talk while I could smoke. yes. we will but Itis so * * [hard ?]to
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see them and then and you together now, yes will yo[u] look up
so that I can see you full.

(Yes I will.)

I want to kiss you, yes, like I did. we will alway [s] remem-
ber it, and I will squeeze you untill [until] you so [probably in-
tended for ‘say.’] [circles then drawn.] h... [?] then until
you say O yes.

(Yes, sweetheart.)

we will allways [always] be so happy, even now because I
can come near you. It is so goo [d] to remember the times we
we.... (Waita moment. The pencil is wrong.) [pencil fixed.]

(Tell me some little fact.) ‘

I will have to go the friend says very soon.

(Will you come again tomorrow ?)

will I, oh yess [yes] I will come allways [always] near you

(Try to tell me some little fact.)

about my pipes. I will try to. I it [scrawl.] if it does not
hurt me.

(I understand.)

yes, goodby

[J. H. H. then came into the room and the hand seemed to
have ceased the writing. In a moment it began again in large
letters. ]

we are going. (Goodbye.) y...

After she came out of the trance Mrs. Smead said she saw
a gentleman with a dark mustache and a broad forehead and
the face was a little thin on the sides.

Mr. X. died of paresis and apparently there was no pain
associated with his death. It is apparently true that Mrs. X.
has “ some light” as she has tried automatic writing with
some success. Mrs. Smead knew nothing of the lady.
Mrs. X. was brought in after Mrs. Smead had started into
the trance and had her head and face buried in a pillow.
She could not even see that it was a lady present. Mrs. X.
left the room at the end of the sitting before Mrs. Smead
came out of the trance and was not seen by her at all. The
allusion to smoking and to the pipes might be regarded as
evidence of the supernormal if we did not have to assume the
possibility of subliminal perception by smell of the one that
had been put on the table.
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wait James. I will tell the other friends that help me.
(Good.) the one that helps most does not wish it.

(Yes, I understand.)

it is he that you have doubted much. [pause.] yes.

(Who is it that I have doubted?)

C yes Clarke, you know. H yes, we cannot stay [normal
writing.] [pause] when b Cll you he [the] secon... [not read
at time.] [inverted mirror writing.]

(When shall we meet again?)

day after the Sabbath [inverted mirror writing.]

(I shall do so.) [read and understood as referring to first day
after the Sabbath.]

second day after [inverted mirror writing.]

(All right. I shall do so. Shall it be for this lady?)

if she desires it so. [Inverted mirror writing.]

(Yes, she will come.)

[pause.] [Pencil ran off sheet and was replaced three times
and immediately pushed off again. I then placed it on the other
side of the sheet and there was a pause. In this interval I ex-
plained to the sitter why the sitting was postponed, giving a spe-
cific physical reason known to me. Immediately the following
was written.] no. [pause.]

(We had better cease.) [No reply.]

After Mrs. Smead came out of the trance she said she
saw numbers all over the field of vision, and especially the
number 73. Immediately after this Mrs. Smead went and
lay down, feeling only stiff, and had a nap of about half an
hour. When she awakened she reported to me that she had
seen the cross, two blue lights, and my father.

November 6th, 1906.
10.30 a. m. Present Mrs. X. and for a short time J. H. H.

[It was my intention that Mrs. H., who had the sitting of
October 3oth (p. 656), but she refused to come, being dis-
satisfied with the results of the first one. It is apparent that
the control thought she was to be present, not having been
apprised of the refusal. The same communicator purports to
be present, but on being told the situation, leaves the field to
friends of the new sitter.]
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do you remember my black hat. (Yes.) I used to wear
some times on [erased.] almost on the back of my head.

(And I didn’t like it.)

yes, I used to do it to plague you, dear, yes.

(Yes, I remember.)

I sometimes would sit with * * [erased.] one foot on the
other and lean back in my chair, yes.

(Yes, I remember.)

with my hat that way. can you see me now.

(No, I can't.)

your mind can, yes.

(Yes, my mind can.)

and I used to like to smoke.

(Yes you did.)

I told you I would come [‘ come’ not read.]

(I don’t make out that word.)

did I not come, yes, and I remember you * * [apparently
scrawl for ‘ would.’] and [erased.] I remember I would tell you
I loved you and that would help you [to] be my own sweet-
heart and (yes.) we would be * * then. I guess I liked to tease
[not read at time.] you, tease you. (Easily.) I wonder if I can.
you can wait. I will just rest.

(That’s right. Rest a little while.)

[pause.] did you bring my pipe.

(Yes, I did. Here it is.) [pipe placed on the table.]

yes I liked one y... [you ?] no, that pipe, yes.

(Is it your favorite pipe?) that was what I meant.

(Is your brother with you?)

he is not here this time dear, but I told him I was coming to
talk to you and he laughed at my I dea.

(He did not understand.)

yes, no he finds much to interest him, interest him, so he does
not want to come back near the earth.

(I understand. Does it hurt to come back?)

it does unless there are others to help that have learned the
way, yes.

(Did you ever use my hand?)

I have tried to but we are uncertain as to our result, so you
see we like to meet our friends at other placs [places] yes, to
tell them about our coming to them. I... you have my purse,
yes. [pocketbook was lying on the table. had not been seen by
Mrs. Smead in her normal state.] (Yes.) and you keep it
yourself. (Yes.) yes, I has [probably intended for ‘it has.’]
what I needed of it [pause.] yes, you found is all right that you
have there, yes, you did not find much in it did you dearest.

(You know I always spent it all.)

you had the right to it, yes.
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I have thought you got them. If you knew how hard it is you
would want to help us.

(I try. What must I do?)

listen for me to speak, yes, yes, and you can hear me, yes.

(How will you speak? Through my hand?)

I do, when you speak to me I have to talk with it, but I have
to use your mind sometimes.

(I understand. Sometimes I think you use my mind and not
my hand.)

yes, but I use both. it is very interesting to see the friends
believing that once did not, yes.

(Tell me, do you see William?)

William yours y... [?] she my wief [wife] wants you.
shall I, yes.

(That message is not clear.)

I only spoke to him. I said you wanted to ..... [sheet

changed.} but he will not try. he his [is] smiling as usual. he
says it is a joke. [pause.] his eyes flash and his face is all
smiles, yes. he says it is a joke, yes.

(What is a joke?) »

My trying to persuade him to talk to you. isn’t it like him,
(Like whom?) my brother. he will not.

(Is your father there?)

he is smiling... no alone... what did you say dearest, yes.

(Is your father there?) ‘

no, not here, ony [only.]

(Does he believe in this?) he helps me at home [pause.]
that is he helps by [not clear] by thinking, yes, you know know
I must [not read at time.] must go. the friend here say[s] it is
time. we do not count time like you do and it soon passes when
we come back, yes, goodby my dear.

(I understand. It passes quickly with me when with you.
Goodbye.) .

I will come to you again.

(I hope so soon.)

and now keep my change. [pause.] goodby, yes, keep it.

[Change of control.]

Tell James my son I would speak with him. [Mrs. X. came
to door and J. H. H. came in.]

yes, I know it was whom (Yes.) you wanted James. yes,
you know what I mean. (Yes.) I am going.

(Goodbye.)

goodby. [pencil then moved to edge of sheet and ran off. I
watched it a moment and it showed signs of wanting to write.
I placed the hand on a new sheet of paper, and the following in
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with Mrs. Piper, he would come. I occasionally have a feel-
ing of presence. My reply, “ You mean I could feel you ” to
the statement, “ You could see me,” brought to my mind an
incident of Saturday evening, October 27th, 1906, when
walking into my brother’s in Boston. I had for a few mo-
ments, perhaps. only seconds, a sensation of presence. A
fleeting physical buoyancy of spirit accompanied this con-
nection of presence.

The pipe was unwrapped behind Mrs. Smead and it had
not touched the table when the hand began to write, “ You
know we do not use them. here.” Mr. Mc. was devoted to
his pipe. Every evening after dinner when the coffee was
brought in he would have a cigarette or a cigar. I often
smoked a cigarette with him, but he almost invariably ended
the evening with his pipe.

The request, “ Will you look up so that I can see you
full,” is characteristic; for the eyes gave him the delight they
give all lovers.

In the first sitting more than in the second the answers
to my questions seemed to come almost before they were
given verbal form. It may have been mere nervousness, but
in my writing an answer of some sort is given to a mental
question before the formal completion is worded.

On November 6th Mrs. X. wrote me the following ex-
planatory notes which I append as throwing light on the sit-
tings.

“When Mr. X. wore his Derby (black) he would fre-
quently put it on his head rakishly to tease me. I have an
aversion to seeing a man’s hat tilted. My brother teases me
in the same way. Mr. X., when ready to go out, would
sometimes sit down with the Derby on and I would insist on
his taking it off. I always said that it was unbecoming. He
was a tease and delighted in a joke.

He had numerous pipes but the one in question was his
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It was wavy. His eyes had atropine in them, which made
them look much darker.”

Mrs. X. adds with reference to her husband’s hair. “ My
husband’s hair in health was the color of pure gold. It grew
darker before he died. The ‘light brown hair’ is interesting,
as I have never thought of Mr. X. as having anything but
very blond hair.”

In the letter sending me some additional notes, and dated
November 12th, Mrs. X. says: “My own hand has been
writing again. ‘ Last night I was told I must be patient, for
the message will not always be right.”” This apparently re-
fers to statements made to the communicator on “ the other
side ” assuming a knowledge of the normal mental states of
Mrs. X. regarding the errors in the communications.

November 7th, 1906.

10.30 a. m. Present Mrs. P., Mrs. B. and J. H. H,, the
latter for a short time.

Hyslop we would talk to you.

(Yes, alone?)

not m... [pause.] uch [scrawl] easier... no will be easier,

(Alone?) yes. (Good.) [Mrs. P. and Mrs. B. left the room.]

you can arrange it Hodgson’s way

(All right. Wait a moment.)

[pencil then put between first and second fingers, having at
first been placed between finger and thumb.]

yes we would tell you, yes, that we are over all right, yes and

(Good, glad to know it.)

ask you how long it will be that you * * [read ‘said’ at
time.] [hand paused and then began printing.] WILL want
our services here.

(Until the third day after the next Sabbath.)

we will come not all together by [‘ by’ erased.] but one with
R. H. at at [a] time, not the day before the Sabbath. our friends
do not like you to work expecting [read ‘ especially.’] no. [sud-
denly read ‘ expecting.’] yes, him to work then. [pause.]

(Shall I have meetings as late as Friday or the fifth day after
the Sabbath, after the last Sabbath?)

we will try for you, but our friends will not come then. we
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(Yes, he is too far away. He can’t come.)

he will come. right, yes.

(Could I have done any more than I have done?)

we do it, yes, and tell him I am trying to help him, yes. Will
you bring him to me, yes. [pause.] I will tell him to come to
you, yes., I would bring him here to tell him. you must help him.
be kind an [d] lovig [loving] patient [patience] will help him.
give him coffee and lots of it.

(I did gorge him with it.)

it will help his bad habit and you keep him with you. go out
with him and he will feel your love for him more. I will be able
to help him more if he is with you, with you.

(Is my father with you?)

we were reading in the room, no [‘no’ erased.] at table, yes.
we had the books and paper.

(Are you there all the time?)

yes, no, at this place.

(Is my husband with you?)

no, he says [he] stays near you. we are not at the same home.
we have our own little one and he is near you .

(Is my child here?)

he is with her much of the time. we canot [cannot] use this
now. first fix fix it.

[pencil turned in fingers.] no fix it R. Hyslop’s way my
way, no f... put it my way, the pencil.

[pencil then placed between first finger and thumb.] yes and
I would say the little one is near her now, yes. it is a pretty little
child and there is also a gentleman with a h... [erased.] silk hat,

(Is that the husband?)

yes, he looks near the child, yes, and I would say it was the
baby’s father, yes.

(Can’t you talk to them and ask them to come and speak to
this lady?)

they are not near so that I can talk for them and I would have
[pause and sheet changed.] not this time. she is concerned much
for the boy and will talk for to him. It is better for him near the
lady and we shall ask this lady to come again, yes, we .... can
she bring her husband’s box with his small articles with her, yes.

(You wish her to bring her box and little belongings with
her?)

yes, will try. goodby. [J. H. H. came in.]

After she came out of the trance Mrs. Smead said she
saw a little child about two years of age and the letters B and
W, the letter W was first and B afterward.

In the afternoon Mrs. Smead called me up stairs and said
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to whom the silk hat was referred. This was not recalled as
a feature of identity, and the reader will remark that the
second note contradicts the first one.

In reply to the inquiry whether the “little heart” had
any reference to the grandmother I received the following:

“1 am positive ‘ the little heart’ referred to had nothing
to do with her. When I was a child not more than five or
seven years old, a young man, a cousin, visited Niagara and
brought home two small bead pin-cushions made by Indians.
He gave me one in the shape of a star and my sister a heart
shaped one. I showed such a decided preference for the
heart that my sister gave it to me for many years. This was
laughed about in the family.

“'The cousin subsequently married the ‘ Mary’ referred
to in the record, who passed away about two years ago.”

As the incident of the “little heart " is associated in the
record with this “ Mary,” and is a good one in evidence of
identity, it is interesting to see how it was recalled at the
later date.

November 8th, 1906.

10.30a. m. Present Mrs. Z. and J. H. H,, the latter only
a short time with an interruption of only a few moments by
his entrance in response to a request.

The present sittings were arranged for Mrs. P., the lady
who had the previous sitting. She was unable to come and a
friend came in her place. This fact will explain the allusions
at the beginning of the sitting. I must remark, however,
that Mrs. Smead met Mrs. Z. last Sunday at dinner in my
house and Mrs. Smead thus knew her name. It is quite pos-
sible that Mrs. Z.’s friend, who was with her at this dinner
(not the friend who had the sitting yesterday), may have
mentioned her Christian name as it came out in the sitting.
We have at least to assume that she did. But this is abso-
lutely all that Mrs. Smead could have known in so far as the
record of the sitting is concerned, a circumstance which is
especially true in that I myself, tho knowing Mrs. Z. quite
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seance room until after Mrs. Smead had gone into the trance
again and she left it before Mrs. Smead came out. Mrs.
Smead had been told by myself on Tuesday that I was to
have the sitting Friday and I carefully refrained from hinting
that any change of program had been adopted. When she
came out of the trance to-day I intimated that I had had a
stranger present and Mrs. Smead spoke up and said she
thought I was to have the sitting. I then explained that I
had changed the plan. Toward the close it will be observed
that there was a distinct memory of the fact that I had
wanted to talk about the future management of the “light.”
I was therefore called in to have this say while we had an im-
portant sitting in other respects as well.]

we [pause.] are here we will get the friend imediately [imme-
diately.] wait

(Yes, I shall.) here. (Shall I remain to take notes?) no.

(All right, I shall leave.) [J. H. H. left the room.]

did you bring his glasses.

(No, his glove, I brought.) [glove placed on table.]

yes, yes, we will tell him. yes I see h * *. [possibly intended
for ‘ his.’] daughter and I greet you.

yes, You rember [remember] my wearing them in when in the
senate, but I need my cl... [‘cl’ erased.] glasses too. I can see
better now only to come herre [here] to talk it troubles about see-
ing and we wait so often to keep from getting dizzy, yes, dou [do
you] want me to let C. talk to you.

(Who is C.?)

he says you ought to know him. ‘

(I don’t remember him. Who is C.?)

not C. but... [pause.] you wait. he has become mixed up.
the friend was very sick before he came here and it was a long
illness he says, and now the [erased.] he is tempted to cough
much when he comes near you. yes, so we told him to wait a
little and he can try it agam the friend that used the glove would
speak more, yes, his. .

(Well speak.)

[Change of communicator.]

I used to have a seat with lots of others, yes, and I used to
write a great deal, yes, you hear me do you. do you remember
how much I used to write and I read much to [too] yes, I can
now without my using my eyes [apparently not read at time.]
my using my eyes. yes you know I used to use my glasses. now
I don’t and I... you know there wasn’t much grass around our
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(Yes, let me explain.)

do so. your we... [last two words written while I was
beginning my statement.]

(Now the light expects to remain with me until the third day
after the Sabbath and then will return home. I would be pleased
to have you look after her until I can arrange for further meet-
ings. It may be that you can have meetings with her husband
once or twice a week, as you desire.)

we have told them and will for you continue, only James
you must not keep me k... [erased.] working all the days. 1
must go away soon myself (Yes.) andrest. I have worked for
the friends. many of them are afraid at first and it is [scrawl.]

(Yes, father: I appreciate all you have done and wish you to
rest. I only asked you to look after the light if you desired. 1
will not press the matter. You do as you think best: I shall
write to the husband of the light and explain so that the light will
not be injured. Would you advise it to rest?)

I will keep on with my part of it, ves, and I will see that no
on [e] ['on’ erased.] unnecessary work is done from our side. I
mean I will not let ann [erased.] any one from here try without
the consent of the greater light.

(Good: that is just what I want.)

yes I will do so for it is best. We will watch it carefully
now. you can [hesitation in writing ‘can.’] c.... [suddenly read

(Good ; T will let it take its own course and you can direct,
as ‘can.’] have me for your work as you think best.
with the greater light, the action of the husband. Waill that do?)

I do not mean that. I can fix it all right with the lights there,
but I mean here. '

(While the light remains?) yes,

(Good; all right.)

I will help here first then rest [not clear] rest.

(Good: that's right.)

It was always my way, yes. [pause.] going (Goodbye.)
now J.

Mrs. Z.’s husband died of bronchial tuberculosis and suf-
fered torments with his throat before his death. The letter
C. probably refers to the name Cullie which she called him.
“ Harris ” is possibly a confusion for Henry Allison, a de-
ceased uncle of Mrs. Z.

Mrs. Z.’s father was a senator in the Canadian Parliament
from New Brunswick and was Speaker of the Senate. He
had a portrait, life size, which hung with a number of others
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we have tried to help her, your lady friend, yes, she is better,
but we asked her to wait and do you want her to try alone. (Yes,
please.) I came to you and was very sick. I could do nothing.
you know I had a little bird with me. it sang so sweetly that I did
not think there could be any trouble for us as I listened to him,
no, [scrawl.] wait. she will come back.

there are two little children here friend, a little boy with
golden hair, that are near you, yes, and the dark lady. [ mean
the one with dark hair. she will try to speak again now. you
brought the ring I told you about, yes, do you remember it, it,
and how sick I was when I came here. do you not rember [re-
member.]

(Who is talking?)

you do not want me to tell all about ourselves do you.

(Who is talking to me?)

I will not tell my name. I am only know [n] as the lady with
dark hair. I do not want to talk of my name. I had one alright,
yes, but I do not like to tell it to everyone. I had a very pleasant
time on earth and the end came, then I suffered more than very
many. do you know how I suffered. you know too how much
you cared for me. now I was sorry to leave you and you know
that too. I cannot talk to you as clearly as I could were I in the
body again, but you can forgive me for all I did not right. will you
forgive me so that earthly troubles will not keep me back. I
want to go higher and have tried, but must be forgiven for It is
the only way to do for me and I ask you to forgive me. I will
come to you when I get away from the earth awhile. then we
can talk better, but now I must not. everything comes to trouble
me so easily. If you will just tell me you will forgive me I will
go away.

(I certainly forgive you whoever you are.) you know me,
yes. (Are you Henrietta?)

I told you I would not give my name, but was known as the
dark lady. we knew each other well as my ring will tell, yes. so
of course you must know it is me. you will know I must. I am
sorry for all I did wrong and * * * * [words superposed on pre-
vious writing.] much, could you but know to [erased.] how
[scrawlly] how I have hoped and longed to ask you to forgive me
you would know that I am more sorry than any one can tell and
now I will try to go and live nearer [J. H. H. came in.] the
greater light that I may come again to you better for having told
you about it. I h... (Do you forgive me also?) I have found
that I was alive. I forgave all without a thought for anything
but that I must * * [erased.] be forgiven. now I will keep my
promise to come when I have learned how better so to tell you
what you would. I mean my name.

[Mr. C. remarked to me in an undertone that he had not got-






Detailed Record. 691

a glimpse of him as he rang the bell. When I admitted him
I did not see his face or the front of his body until I opened
the door which has a glass in it, making persons outside vis-
ible from within. It is probable that Mrs. LeM. saw the
chrysanthemum subliminally at least. She went on after
further inquiry to describe his hair and beard as iron grey
which is correct and that he was a large sized man, also cor-
'rect.

In regard to the communicator it may be worth mention-
ing that I had written the man to whom this communicator
was related last Saturday and he probably received my letter
this morning near the time that the sitting took place. I
mention this as a matter of record and not that I can attach
any more value to it than that of a coincidence.

November 13th, 1906.
10.25 a. m. Present Mr. C. and J. H. H. J. H. H. ab-
sent from the room soon after beginning until near the close.

we are here, yes, and would talk to you first.

(Good, I will listen.)

we will come to ...mary [w]ants to come to you [difficulty in
reading and Mr. C. asked to sit down at a little distance.] wants
to come to you yes. she will on the morrow, James. (Good.) do
you want a friend brought [not read.] brought now then leave
us.

(Father, two things. First I intended a friend to come to-
morrow at least a part of the time. Will that be right?)

but Mary was promised to come '

(I will let Mary come.)

two Sabbaths past to come after the first one.

(Good, I accept that correction.)

and the other one what is it.

(Father, the person who came yesterday was not the right
person for the one present. Can you get one of his friends to-
day? The communications yesterday were relevant to the first
gentleman who came here, but not relevant to the person here
yesterday. Can you get a friend today?)

- T did not get her. she had been promised to come back and
tell what she could.

(Yes, and I intend that she shall have a chance in the future
sometime.)
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(Do you watch over me?)

yes I am [written ‘ ma.’] going home with you when you go.
I do Stay with you and now you will know I have tried to im-
press you with my presence so much that I did begin to feel that

[pencil ran off paper.] you did not think I was near you. It
[superposmg] is different here that I had suppos... [superpos-
ing.] supposed it was. I did not think I would come and ask
you about the things I had left and [superposed on ‘ about.”] and
now I find that they keep [‘h’ made first instead of ‘k’ and con-
verted into ‘k’ by turning the ‘n shaped part into an ‘r.’] the
earth his [?] [possibly intended for ‘ here.’] together likke [like]
a chain chain.

If T had to be here alone I would not want to stay. It is be-
cause I have other[s] with me you know who who I mean. 1
have two little ones here to care for, yes. the largest is a boy with
golden hair and blue eyes: the girl is [J. H. H. came in as time
was up and past.] now [or how.]

(Yes, father. The time is up. Let me ask a question. Can

no, not yet. the lady said Good[b]y to her friend that is near
you. she is his wife. now James.

(Can we give the other light down stairs a meeting tonight?)

no, not then. (When?) Mary will give up if you so desire.
we...

(No, I would be glad if we could divide the time because I
promised the lady tomorrow. You decide it with Mary.)

and tell you then (Yes.) Mary will be all right

(Yes, I know she will.) goodby. (Goodbye.) [pause.]

we would have you tell us more about coming.

(All right.)

Shall I keep my place as guiding light to her

(Yes, father, but only as you see fit to direct it after the light
gets home. 1 will tell the hasband only to sit as you direct with
the aid of the greater light.)

it would be better so.

(The light goes home tomorrow.)

I know. what I wa[n]ted is, if you desired me, to continue
to guide others to her to her as I did friend H., yes.

(That’s right.)

I wanted it clear what I should do,

(Yes, that’s right.) goodby. (Goodbye.)

After Mrs. Smead became conscious she said she saw a
spirit that was dressed in white and a blue cross in front and
in connection with it the letter H.
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you must get it back with them [circles made to indicate
rings] (Rings?) yes. (Good.) she was worried because she
could (Wait a moment.) [hand superposing.] not find them.

(What was she looking for?)

the rings.

(I know them now. I shall get them.)

yes, I told her so now. I must leave as father said another
was to come. ,

(Just a moment. How is your father?)

did I not tell you.

(Not this time.) we would go and help him. mother has
had to be coaxed continually to keep her from staying to [too]
long.

(All right, I understand.)

she care [s] so much for him that she can hardly leave him to
go to rest.

(You...)

I mean my mother.

(I understand. Now when this light goes home you can re-
port anything of importance when meetings are held.)

and when they are, no, if necessary. []J. H. H. stamped foot
on floor to call Mrs. B.] goodby, James. (Goodbye, Mary.) [].
H. H. left the room.] [Mrs. B. enters.]

Good morning little girlie [apparently not read rightly.] no
Little.

(What will I tell Lillie?)

no, I said little Girlie.

(Oh, you said Girlie.)

yes, and dou [do you] know Bess why I was captain Captain.

(No I don’t know,)

I wanted my brave little wife to feel she could be supported
in strong arms.

(Won't you try to give the name I called you by.)

you know it was an ordinary one, yes, common folks have it.
I will have our friend here write it the wrong way, then you can
find it out [then followed the name George written in mirror
writing backward and so spelled egroeG] yes, you can see it B
[letter ‘B’ in mirror writing.] [possibly attempt at initial of
surname.] '

(I mean when I spoke to you very tenderly.) what on dou
[do you} mean. it was one of my pet names you ar... are
thinking of you must no [last three words in mirror writing.]

(Well, never mind. I won't press, you.)

that is the way I will tell you not to be living way back there
but now. we are living....

(I will not have an opportunity to talk to you in so long. Am
I wise to continue in this course?)
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the message you, I begun to tell you all about that day, but
you asked me about something and now I must wait.

(I will not interrupt again.)

we had a colored man to drive us to the cars and he was
sorry to have you go away and the cook to [too] yes was afraid
and was worried for fear she would not see you again, yes. when
I go [?] home she says she is waiting for her missus to return,
yes.

(Has Maum Mollie gone over to you?)

you know they were hapier [happier] then than they are now.
so many of them do not enjoy that freedom they wanted b...
Bessie and they were happier in [a] home like yours, yes. you
were good to them and so was mother and father and they loved
them.

(Have you seen my little brother?)

yes, we have often been together. I am going to tell you that
she does not want her Bessie to leave her again. I told her what
you asked me about and she said tell her I do not approve.

(Does she think I would be unhappy?)

what you asked me if she knew. She said what I have told
you and I will tell her you asked me about her, yes, and now
when I come to you again I will tell you that what you asked me
to tell you today, yes. Papa is agoing, yes. Goodby.

When Mrs. Smead came out of the trance she said that
she saw an old-fashioned candlestick with a candle in it, and
“also the face of a little boy. Mrs. B. asked if it was a beau-
tiful child. Mrs. Smead replied that it was a pretty child
and had light hair. Mrs. B. remarked that he had golden
hair and blue eyes.

The reference to the rings by my wife might have been an
evidential incident but for a most interesting circumstance
which would be a ground for very grave suspicion if we did
not have other and independent evidence of supernormal
power on the part of Mrs. Smead. On the night of the 11th
as the above record shows Mrs. Smead saw an apparition as
described. When she told it to me in the morning I said I
thought I knew who it was, and thought of my wife’s mother
some of whose jewelry I knew was in the trunk to which the
apparition had gone, but I said nothing more and never
whispered about it. When the communicator referred to the
rings I at once thought of the two rings of my wife’s mother
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signing his lettens, and would not be the most natural way
for a subliminal to speak of a person whom it assumes to be
the sitter’s husband.

The next series of sittings was unconnected with those
which precede and will not appear to some readers to have
the same value evidentially. But as they are associated with
the death of my father-in-law they should be included in this
volume. Personally, and under the circumstances, I regard
them as containing quite as genuine phenomena as any of
them, but will not urge this view against those who wish to
consider the opportunity for previous information by Mrs.
Smead. She did not have such knowledge I am quite cer-
tain, but if she had been so inclined there was the opportunity
to have employed detective methods for obtaining informa-
tion.

The sittings which I first notice were held by Mr. and
Mrs. Smead in the regular work which they are doing in my
absence. I was, of course, not present and the record was
reported to me. I had not intimated to them that my father-
in-law had died, and Mrs. Smead had not even learned of his
illness when she was in the city for the experiments.

My father-in-law died on the 14th of December, 1906.
On the second of January, 1907, my wife purported to com-
municate at a sitting of the Smeads and spontaneously asked
when I was coming. On the 5th of January I had a sitting
with another medium, the Mrs. Smith of the articles pub-
lished in the Journal (Vol. 1., p. 133), at which my father-in-
law purported to communicate and gave much evidence of
his identity. That record cannot be published here, but is
mentioned as connected with the phenomena. On January
7th, as reported below, my father-in-law purported to com-
municate through Mrs. Smead when I was not present, as
the record indicates. Mr. and Mrs. Smead did not know of
his death and did not learn the fact until a later sitting, at
which he gave enough for Mr. Smead to infer who it was.
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well, James will know. (All right.)

tell him that mother H. is with th.. George much of the time.
(I will.) he will know.

(All right. Free your mind.)

we will come back. wait. (Today? Here?) yes. [Mrs.
S. became conscious, but writing continued by control.] it will
be best w... wait before the friends come again. (Yes.) and
we would like these meetings at this time as you are in the habit
of ddong [doing], yes. we may wish to bring friends and let
them try, but not always at present.

(I would like my friend Dr. Upton to come.)

we may let the friend come later. now we will send for him.
Good morning.

(I understand that we shall sit tomorrow.)

that is it.

(I shall return from S—— Thursday. Shall we sit then?)

not so, we will come on the morrow and then wait.

(Till next week any more sittings?) yes. (Is this Robert
Hyslop writing?)

H. with friend [sheet changed.] with friend Myers.

(I am glad to have you come. You are always welcome.)

yes, thanks. .

(What was the trouble with Mrs. Smead Friday and part of
Saturday?)

we will tell you on the morrow.

(All right. God be with you and with us.)

Friend, we would have friend H. know concerning the other
time we came to examine the light, R.

There are apparently points of some interest in this sitting.
As I have remarked above, my father-in-law died in Decem-
ber, and my wife purporting to communicate on January 2nd
asked when I was coming. Apparently his name was at-
tempted at this sitting. It was Geore W. Hall. It is pos-
sible that it would have been gotten rightly but for Mr.
Smead’s way of making the inquiry. I wrote to Mr. Smead,
after he sent me the original record, to know what the mean-
ing of the sitting was, pretending, as it were, that I did not
understand it. He replied it had no meaning to him: said
in fact, that “ it was all Dutch ” to him and Mrs. Smead. All
that he could do was to conjecture that it had some possible
reference to me from the presence of my name as the person
who would know. This was his only clue.

I inquired of my father-in-law’s second wife to know if
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finding that he could not communicate:—* Tell Mr. Hyslop
that the father he was wishing to hear from is all safe and
that his wife cares for him and his needs.” On February
11th apparently my father-in-law tried controlling, and had
to give it up before the sitting ended. I quote that part of it
which pertains to him.

February 11th, 1907.
10.30 a. m.

[Present Mr. and Mrs. Smead.] :

[Prayer. Dr. Hodgson’s, and Robert Hyslop’s articles on the
table. Mrs. Hyslop’s and others not used.]

(All is ready.)

Hyslop, Hodgson. Father * * is all right here. Tell James
he is with me here [?] yes. sorry he did not believe when there.
had no farther time [?] in this. you tell him James friend.

(Yes.)

Father saw considerable of your life then, James, and doubted
much, your life there.

(All right.)

we came with him to you before, yes, and there were so many
that he was weary after the journey that he said he would wait.
journey over to our side of life, james, you know.

(Yes, that is good.)

could he have believed more he would have given more to
your good work.

(Yes, I get that.)

I will go to him now. you tell him friend.

(Yes, I will. Please tell me who you are.)

mary Hyslop. [written in a scrawlly manner.] he knows it.

[Mrs. Hyslop’s article opened.] (Do you see it?)

it helps me, yes, and the little tray to [too] I know has held
me before.

(What is it that I have opened?) [pause.]

m.... [Then rectangular or square figure drawn with circles
in it.] .
[Change of Control.]

Let me try once. I can tell my son that my business was a
good one. I could furnish him with a good Suit at any time, yes.

(You are doing well.)

I could too tell a fairly go... [good] story for entertainment
of others. I used to think my mary was gone forever from me.

(Good.)

yes, but I have found her. (Yes.) my only daughter, yes.

(Please to tell me who is talking.)
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It was this sitting that led Mr. and Mrs. Smead to con-
jecture that my father-in-law had died. When I went for
later sittings I admitted it.

10.30 2. m. March 25th, 1907.

[Present Mr. and Mrs. Smead. J. H. H. absent.]

(All ready.)

it is confusing. you must know and record it so. we do it as
we are tolld [told]. Greetings Friends.

(Cordial greetings.)

you are waiting. [pause and then excitement and twitching
of hand.] we will only wait for the reply. you can of your own-
self believe what so Ever pleases thee.

(Is it the Cardinal?)

the what.

(Is it the Cardinal?) no. (All right.) [pause and excite-
ment.]

they will not believe that Either. [pause.]

The jolly little man says he is surprised to find so many that
he used to find think were dead. he is waiting to have his Fr....
[pause.] he is in an easy chair and says tell them that Geo.
[period inserted.] is all right. it is not a rocking chair, but just
an easy one soft cushion like paded [padded] you would call it.
he has a dressing gown with a cord around it, yes.

(Go ahead. ’lghat is good.) [pause and excitement.]

he seems to thing [all indistinctly written.] it says he was
once in a very small state in EUROPE and the place town
was near a beautiful lake. the house was on the side of a
mountain. it had many eaves, yes. [pause and great ex-
citement. Mrs. S. coughed violently.] you wi.... wait. [pause.]

¢All right now.)

you see my throat sometimes will make me stop. I must go
back now to ask George about it.

(Please to write your name.)

when we went to this mountain house it was a foreign coun-
try. he did not know the language and he [pause.] we had better
wait a little. [pause.]

(All right now friend. Will this friend try to tell me things
so that I shall know who it is. It is important he should do so.)

When son James comes he can do it. (All right.) yes he
will from time to time tell some facts about himself here.

(Shall I fix the pencil.) no. (All right.)

When son James comes he * * [possibly ¢ will."] know him.

(It would be valuable if the name was given here to me.)

he has partly so aranged [arranged.] it at other times. (Ex-
plain please.) it is all right.
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I am here now James. I am G. H.

(Yes, I know. Free your mind. How are you?)

They have [pause.] my things now to do as they please with
[not read at time. ] with. It was very different when my Mary
was with me and * * mother, yes, Mary and you knew all about
it. [pause and scrawls.] yes way back in those early times [not
read correctly at time.] no you do not hear. [pause.]

could I have believed then what I know now it would have
been different, yes

(Yes, I believe that. )

yes, yes, I could have materially helped you [materially read
‘made up.’] and will materially materially, yes. [ I read the
word materially, but signified that one instance was not read by
saying ‘ morally ’] no materially. [read.] yes, will not they do
it for me now.

(I do not know. You will have to influence them.)

itis my * * James that part of it * * money. [pencil ﬁxed.{
It should be given to your work, a part of my money. I wish
could have it now to do it over again, yes.

(Well it can’t be done now, so don’t worry.)

tell them I want it done. (Very good.) I mean the mother
and son. (Yes.) well I [read ‘will it’] well I will tell them.
(Very good.) [pause.]

It was a better change for me, James. Ican [read ‘came.’] no
can now be with my own, yes. you remember when we went
[undulating lines representing mountains were drawn.] (Yes.)
yes, and the pleasure we had. fix this. [Pencil fixed. Had
slipped up in fingers.] over on that other land where some of the
people we did not understand. the houses on the [mentally read
‘hours,’” then audibly ‘ houses.’] no, no, no. we did not under-
stand their way of speaking [not read correctly at time.] no,
their way of speaking. (Good.) [pause.]

you remember the funny little hous. .. [pencil ran off paper ]
houses yes, [pause.] on the mountams, yes. (Tell all about
them.) Mary was there too. you know about them. we could
not talk as they did (That’s right.) and I tried to [pause.]
yes, wait. (Yes, I'll wait.)

[Hand relaxed and turned over to one side, and in a moment
began to tremble again.]

yes and we had to give them so.... [erased.] souvenirs of our
money to [‘souvenirs’ read some with accent indicating it was
not all.] no souvenirs of our money for keeps, yes you know, you.
[sheet changed.] you know what I mean. (Yes, I do.) yes,
they do not do that here where we come fr... [ where’ first read
correctly, then read ‘ when,’ then again “ where. '] [Hand moved

asif to erase.] yes, from. (That’s right.) [pause and scrawls.]

It cost a great deal to travel in those places, James. [Pause.
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you a person near you th... [pencil ran off sheet.] that could tell
you some things. I [?] yes, I will [‘I will’ read ‘divine’ at
time, and paper changed.]

I will tell you we have and instructed him as to what to do
asay [and say] to you, that is, things that you could, no would
help to know him,

(Good, tell them.) yes, and he will come again. (Good.)
yes, he is a pleasant person to talk and does it well. I can better
now do it. [pause.] yes. It is getting time for us to go and we
must soon [pause.]

(Yes, I shall return tomorrow.)

yes, we said it so for you.

(Good, thank you.)

yes, Hyslop, [pencil broke from heavy pressure, and I put
another in the hand.] Hall George W. yes and he has a small
George. well we must go. we could talk for ever.

(Yes, I know.)

yes, but now we have to stop [pause, and I held the hand in
mine for a few moments.] going James, yes.”

After she became conscious Mrs. Smead complained of
pain in the left eye and inability to see with either of them.
She said in response to my question whether she could re-
member anything, that at first when she sat down she saw
some mountains.

She also told me that last night she “ saw ” Winifred sit-
ting in a stately position all alone in her room writing.

George W. Hall is the name of my father-in-law who died
last December, and an apparition of him was seen three and
a half hours later in my house by my Secretary, just after I
had received the telegram announcing his death (p. 547).
He left a widow and son, a fact possibly known by Mrs
Smead. But she knew absolutely nothing about the perti-
nence of the reference to his money affairs. He always dis-
couraged me in my work and would do nothing for it tho
quite able to do so.

He took a trip with his family in Europe in 1883 before I
knew his daughter Mary, who subsequently became my wife,
but I know nothing of the incidents which are here told ap-
parently of this trip. Mrs. Smead knew that my wife studied
music in Germany, but I do not think she knew anything of
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(Do you remember who were present at the time?) many
were. (You mean on your side?)

no, [pause.] over there.

(When you can do so mention some one.)

it was my head snapped and I came soon after that [hand
trembled.] [pause.] you no [know] know [pause.]. (Wait a
moment.)

[It was apparent that the writing was very difficult and that
the pressure on the pencil was great. So I resolved to change
the sheet and tried to move the arm, but found it almost impos-
sible to lift it. Evidences of marked catalepsy were present. I
moved it upon the paper.]

what it was, yes.

(Don’t press so hard on the hand.) [pause.] [writing more
rapid and easy apparently.] well I wanted to tell you some one
took me home [?] [pause.] to the house in a carriage, yes.

(You mean your own house?) [pause.] wait [Long pause.]
[Hand moved toward my side of the paper and I held it a few
moments.] there James it is hard to do it over. I was near a
large high building. (Yes.) did they tell you about it. ,

(I know the high building.) [I thought of the tall building
in which his office was situated.] [hand trembled.] yes, did you
know. [pause.] what time I went to the place to [too] near it to
go up stairs [pause.] but my business was not the same as it was
once. I told you all about it before.

(Yes, I remember.)

I said clothes [written ‘ cloths’ and so read when the hand
went back and wrote ‘ es’ over the ‘s.’] yes were a part of it. it
was a large establishment in my own city, yes.

(That’s good.)

I had woln [erased] woolen cloth lots of it James (Yes,
Good.) and ladies came some to buy.

[Pencil moved partly across the page making scrawlly
marks.] on the cars, yes, I went that day James, I remember.
[pause.] I no [know] you will remember about that store
[pause.] (Yes.) [pause.] It was some yearsago * * [some?] I
liked to be there when mary came to it. yes. (Wait a moment.)
[hand was going to superpose the writing.] it was (wait a mo-
ment.) [superposing again.] a Hall [pause.] O [pause.] A K
CLOTHING. [read aloud to see if I got it rightly.] did not I
tell you rightly yet. I... it did not seem that I heard you.

(I got the words: ‘ A Hall Oak Clothing.")

[hand trembled considerably.] * * * * oak Hall Clothing
Company. (Good.) [scrawls.] yes that is right * * * * and
you that time. [pause.] and [pause.] said I could [not read at
time.] [pause.] I said I could that time. [‘could’read ‘ would.’]
could that, yes. [pause.]
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(Yes, I believe it) and the children are all right [pencil
moved down the paper and then returned to the line.] one was
more like me, yes, yes. I [erased.] she had her mother’s ways,
much like her. [pause.]

which children did you say, James. I have ween [been]
wondering [wandering] away as if dreaming.

(I referred to your children that passed out long ago.)

I remembered Mary best. one was small (Yes.) so could
not entere [erased.] enter much into my life.

(Yes, that’s right.) but is all right.

(Yes, don’t worry about that. I was only trying to help in
your recollections.)

we will come again.

(Yes, the hour is up.) you know it is a tiresome way to try
and live over our earth existence from here.

(Yes, I know it, but it is a great work.)

yes I know it now. Going to go and come again. George
Washington Hall.

(That’s right.)

Robert Hyslop.

(All right, father.)

we will come again to you.

* (Yes, tomorrow.)

wait and we will see about it. [pause.] all right, we will

come. (Good.)

So far as human observation is concerned there was no
other resemblance between my wife’s death and her father’s
than their suddenness at last. The physical difficulties were
not the same. Mr. Hall was suddenly attacked by something
resembling apoplexy, tho it was not this specifically, as his
whole system was diseased, and had to be taken home in a
carriage. He recovered from this, but was down again in
a few days, not to gain his strength again, tho he went out
in a carriage to some business twice afterward. His office
was in a large building. The question whether they told me
of this incident is pertinent, as it occurred just before his last
illness and I lived in New York, he in Philadelphia.

It is true that his business at the time of his death was not
the same as it had been earlier. He retired many years ago
from the clothing and dry goods business, and simply man-
aged his investments, which he had been doing almost ever
since I knew him. He once told me what his business had
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cept his son Clarence, and him but once. His children by
his first wife died in infancy, and most of those by his second
wife also in infancy. Mary, my wife, was the one that en-
tered so deeply into his life. His name was George Wash-
ington Hall. Only his name “ Hall” was known to Mrs.
Smead. She may have guessed that George was a part of it,
but she had no ordinary means for ascertaining the other,
except casual or intentional inquiry at my house when she
stayed there. She once met Mr. Hall at my house, in 1900,
and had a short conversation with him. He referred to his
trip to Germany then and some cheese which he had when
there, and to the fact that his daughter studied music there.
That, Mrs. Smead says, is the limit of her knowledge of him.
Her statements, barring lapses of memory, I think can be ac-
cepted, tho I shall not urge this view upon the sceptic. She
says he never told her anything about his business, and I can
readily believe this, as he was quite reticent even with me
about this early period, tho he was very confidential and
talkative about his later business matters. No allusion is
made to these in the communications.

April 11, 1907.
10.20 a. m. Present Mr. S. and J. H. H.
[Writing began at 10.28.]

“we are here” [written so finely that I could read it only by
;vatching the pencil at the time.] [pause.] Hall is coming. wait
or us -

(Yes, I'll wait.)

[pause.] wait. (Yes.) [hand trembling.] [Long pause.]

you know I cannot hurry much. I need to move slowly. my
heart would not alow [allow] it so they said you would wait.

(Yes, that’s right.)

yes, James do you know why I married the [‘ married ' read
marred.] no, married the second time for.

(No, I never heard it. I would be glad to hear it.)

[hesitation.] then it would not help you.

(Word after ‘the’) [‘then it’ not read correctly.] then it
would not help you.
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I know, I know that, but would they not be willing. I mean
the mother and son. [pause.] no I suppose not. I do wish it
though.

(Well. ..)

it was a pretty home and perhaps strangers will care for it.

(Yes, I....)

I like my lawns an [read ‘on’ and erased.] around it. I wish
they would keep it and all things I had collected inside from
visits, yes, the souvenirs I mean. I had som... [some] that my
wife’s that is here with me and we alway [always] liked to go and
look at them together. we do now.

(Yes, I have some at my house of hers and yours.)

yes I know and they are given all an [erased.] around to
friends. yes, I hope you... [pencil fixed and the hand came to
my side of the paper where I held it for a few moments.] will
keep then [them] from every earth influence for a while.

(Yes, I have packed them away.)

I like to go to them and fee... [feel] that they were what we
had. yes, it helps to remember easier, James.

(Can you tell me what some of them were?)

not here now.

(All right.)

I would need to go to them first (All right.) [pause.] 1
understand now the change I have seen taking place. (Good.)
[pause.] who has the pictures from the parlor.

(Son and mother.)

did not they give you one.

(No, and I would not ask.)

no, no, I know, but I wish I had told them to give you one.

(It is all right.)

you would have liked best (Wait a moment.) [pencil writ-
ing heavy and was changed.] [pause.] one that I called [written
‘cal’ and started to write ‘e’ when the hand turned back and
made the second ‘1’ superposing it on the ‘e.’] mary’s, but
[pause.] they will soon loose [lose] their charm for me now.

(Which one. Which picture was that?) [Thinking of two
large paintings which I knew.]

If you had one I could have go... [either ‘ have’ should have
been erased or ‘ne’ has been omitted from ‘ go.’] back to much
* * [“is?’] it and recalled memories of the room it was in.
[pause.] it was a painting, James, oil one. "

(Describe it if you can.)

of the lady a [When I read ‘the lady’ the hand went back
and inserted ‘a’ above the line before ‘lady.’] yes, very dear to
me

(Good so far.)

and I wish you had it.












Explanation of the Automatic Writing. 721

the separation of words entirely. They may be made dis-
continuous or intentionally so by drawing lines before be-
ginning a new word. This sometimes occurs in this form of
automatic writing. But it is impossible to eliminate the con-
necting line in such work, and so it appears to confuse the
interpretation in many instances.

Some years ago Mrs. Smead gave up the planchette and
used the pencil instead, but for a long time the writing re-
mained continuous precisely as if done by the planchette,
and it often takes this form still, especially with certain com-
municators. The tendency to separate the words seems to
have grown with the reproduction of the methods of the
work’ connected with Mrs. Piper and the apparent presence
of persons associated with it. In this instance the reader
will remark that the automatic writing began with the plan-
chette type, namely, with the continuous writing and only
gradually developed into the discontinuous. This discon-
tinuous writing was especially easy and conspicuous after I
had placed the pencil in Mrs. Smead’s hands as my father
had held it in life. The writing at once became perfectly
calm and deliberate. There was no apparent nervousness
or difficulty in connection with it, and the only difference
between it and normally controlled writing was the slow
and deliberate movement of the hand. It was more delib-
erate and self-controlled than in the Piper case.

One thing I should remark, and it is that the obliquity of
the lines across the page is exactly as it occurs in the auto-
matic writing of Mrs. Piper. This was not so often apparent
in the older days of Mrs. Smead’s work, and especially when
she used the planchette. But as soon as the mechanical
methods of the Piper writing were reproduced, this obliquity
in the lines made their appearance, and Mrs. Smead today
knows nothing about this fact. She has never seen any of the
original manuscripts of the Piper writing. There are occa-
sionally resemblances in the spelling of words and more
especially in the use of certain phrases in the two cases.
But perhaps more often the habits and idiosyncracies of the
automatic writer prevail. This will limit the resemblances
and possibly make them less conspicuous and significant.
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